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STATE OF ILLINOIS } _ Affirm and adopt.(no changes} D I ﬁrﬁd W_arkefs’ Benefit Fund (§4d)
} 58, D Affirm with changey D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))
COUNTY OF MCLEAN ) D Reverse D Second Infury Fund (§8{e)18)
[:I PTIVFatai denied
EI Modify None-of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Martin Melanie,

Petitioner,
Vs, NO: 15 W(C 20083

16IWCC0609

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Petitioner herein and notice given to
all parties; the Commission, aftér considering the issues of accident; temporary total disability,
causal connection, medical and being advised of the facts and law, affirms and adcptq the
Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached herefo and made 4 part hereof.

ITIS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSIO’\E that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed February 25, 2016, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

~IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to
Petitioner interest under §19(n) of the Act; if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED.BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have
credit for all amounts pa:d if any, to or on behaif of the Petitioner on account of said accidental

injary.

The party commencing the proceedings for revie @? the Circuit Court shdl file with the

Commission a Notice of Intent ta File for Rcwew n Ci ¢ oul‘ty f 5
paTED: OEP 2.2 2016

022516 David L. Gore
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O the date of accident, 1/6/15, Respondent was operating under and subjsct to the provisions of the Act,

FINDINGS

Onthis date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent,

Outhis date, Petitionér did not sustain an accident that arosé out of and in ihe course of employment,,
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respoodent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being & causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $59,836.24; the average weekly wage was $1 ,150.70.
On the date of accident, Petitioner'was 81 years of age, single with 0 dependent children.

Respondent &as paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $00.00 for TTD, $00.00 for TPD, $00.00 for maintenance, and $00.00
for other benefits, for a total credit of $00.00. Respondent shall be given credit for STD benefits paid from
7/24/15 through 11/12/135,

Respondent is entitled fo & credit of §7,864,27 under Section 8{j) of the Aet.

‘ORDER
Having found the petitioner did not sustain an dccidental injury that-arose out of and in the course of her
employment by respondent on 1/6/15, the Arbitrator {inds the petitioner's clain for compensation is denied,

In na instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent besring and determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary ot permanent disability, it any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless aparty files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review insccordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission,

STATEMENT OF INTERESTRATE If the Comrmission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice

of Decision of Arbirator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal résults in either ho change or a decredse in this award, interest shail not acerue,

Signaiure of Arbltr:lmr _ Dute

ICARDE15D)

ceg 25 2018
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Petitioner testified that the nonslip strip on the step was 1/8 inch. The part where she claims she
tripped had chipped away, Petitioner claims that her foot caight on the part of the strip were it was
chipped away.

Appmximately 2 days after the incident petitioner went to the area of the stairwell where she fell and
took pictures of the step she fell on, as well as pictures of other stairs in the stairwell Wwhere the sirip was
raised, Petitioner then took additional pictures of the same staifwell 2 months ape. She noted that thess
photos showed that the non-stip strip had been remioved from the step she tripped on.

On 1/15/15, Haynes called Worker's Compensation and filed a claim with respect to petitioner's

injury.

Petitioner tried self treatment until July 012015, When she had not tealized any real improvement by
then, she made an appointmert with Dr. Brins, a chiropractor, Petitioner presented to Dr. Bruns on or
abouf 7/1/15. Between 7/1/15 and 9/22/15 petitioner saw Dr. Bruns at least 40 times, with petitioner's
last 20 or s appointments showing no discernible improvement. During this period, petitioner's
discomfort was noticeable 60% of the time, and her discomfort was 1o better than 6 out of 10,-and on a
cauple visits was 7 out of 10.

O 8/8/15 petitioner presented to Dr: Bruns. He authorized her off work from 7/24/15 through
11/12/15, Dr. Bruss referred petitioner to Dr. Sureka at Midwest Orthopedics. Dr. Sureka ordered

physical therapy. No physical therapy records were offered.

Two right sided L4-L5 transforaminal epidural steroid irjections were performed by Dr. Sureka on

8/1 815 and 9/9/15. Pefitioner's complaints were related to her right low back that af times goes into her

thigh. Petitioner reported that she-had epidural injections in the past with good benefit. Dr. Bell
performed a third injection on 16/8/15. On 10/23/15 petitioner followed-up with Dr. Bell, She reported
that the injection helped her pain by about 75%, but she was starfing to get some recurrence of her pain,
Petitioner complained of pain in her right tow back with some oceasional radiation down her right leg,

but not usually past the right knee. She reported no pairt on the lefi.

On 11/11/15 petitioner underwent an MRI of the lumbar spine. The L5-81 disc showed severe loss of
height and desiceation. No significant dorsal anmudar bulging was noted. Mild bilateral foraminal
stenosis greater on'the LEFT related to spondylitic spurring, mild bilateral facet arthyitis, and patent
central canal was also noted: The paraspinal sofi tissues were within normal limits, The visualized

sacrum was within normal limits. The nerve roots were free within the confines of the thecal sac, Mild
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On 112315 petitioner underwent a Section 12 examination performed by Dr. Edward Goldberg, at

the request of the respondent. She provided-a consistent history of the aceident. Petitioner reported some
Jumibar problems 4 years ago for which she underwent 2 epidurals. She stated that she was asymptomatic
after these epidurals until 1/6/15. Dr. Goldberg reviewed the records of Dr. Bruns, which included
reporis from Dr. Sureka and Dr. Bell, and performed a physical examination. Dr. Goldberg diagnosed an
aggravation of asymptomatic {umbar stenosis at L2-L3 and L3-L4 from the work related accident. He
WdS of the opinion that he could fot comment upon whether it was permanently aggravitted if she wag not
done treating. Dr. Goldberg opined that the therapy and chiropractic care had been appropriate.
However, he recommended no additional chiropractic care. He opined that she could be maintained ona
home exercise program. He recommended a right 1.3-L.4 transforaminal e’pidura;l injection for her
radicular pain that was in the L3 distribution stopping at the knee. 17 this did not provide relief he said she
might benefit from a right L2-L3 and L.3-14 decompression, He opined that she could continue working

her normal job, He opined that she had not yet reached MML

Following the Section 12 examination by Dr. Goldberg, respondent would not authorize a visit to Dr,
O'Leary. As a result, petitioner continued to treated with Dr. Bruns through 1/22/16, and underwent over
40additional chiropractic treatmeénts. No treatment reports from Dr. Bruns after 9/23/16 are included in
Dr. Bruns records, despite the fact that these treatments are identified in his medical bill.

Dr, Bruns drafted a letter dated 1727/16 to Damaon Young, petitioner's-altorney. He noted that he was
currently treating petitioner 2 times a week. This treatment includes chiropractic adjustments along with
myofascial release, as well as lower cross exercises. Dr. Bruns noted that he had referred petitioner to
Midwest Orthopedics, and due to the lack of muthorization {o schedule a surgical evaluation, her
orthopedic treatment was placed on hold. He opined that her current care ‘was reasonable and necessary
and still related to the injury on 1/6/15, He furthér opined that her treatment had been prolonged due to
the inability of the petitioner to receive the orthopedic ireatment and evaluation that were recomumended.

Petifioner testified that she is currenily working her regular duty job.

Dawn Haynes, petitioner's supervisor on 1/6/15, was called as a witness on behalf of respondent.
Haynes testified that she is responsible for investigating accidents. She testified that she has known
petitioner for 12-13 years, and did receive an email regarding the incident on 1/7/15. Haynes admiited.
that she did not actually talk to petitiotier about the incident. She stated that this was because Richard

Stoneburner stepped in and she talked to him. Haynés {estified that 2-3 days after the aceident she and
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on the 4th, 5th, or 6th step, she clatms her foot got caught where a small piece of the 1/8" non-slip strip
was and she feil forward. She testified that she grabbed the railing as she was falling and pulled her back.
She did not completely fall. Petitioner then continued walking up the stairs to the secand floor and
retrieved her phone. She then took the clevator down to the first floor. Petitioner always had the option
of taking eithet the stairs or the elevator when going frow the first to the second floor. Petitioner never
testified that these stairs were only for employees use. She also testified that she only went up and down
them once a day.

Based on the above, as well as the credible evidence, the arbitrator finds the petitioner did not
suslain an accidental injury that arose out of and in the course of her employment by respondent on
1/6/15. The arbitrator finds it significant that the petitioner had already signed otit of work, had already
walked down the final stairway and was just abouiout the door when she renlized she had forgatten her
personal cell phone, Petitioner was not carrying anything other than her purse. The arbitrater finds the
petitioner's decision to walk back up the stairs was solely for her own personal benefit. The arbitrator
also finds it significant that petitioner never testified thatthe stairwell was not accessible to the general
public. She also clearly testified that she had other access to and from the ground floor and the second
ﬂoe: where she worked, that being dan elevator. Petitioner was not ins‘trutmd'by her employer to use the
elevator or the stairwell. The choice was hers.

Additionally, the arbitrator notes that the step oa which petitioner alleged she fell did have a small
section of the nonslip strip missing. However, the piclure shows that {liz strip was not raised or buckled,
and in fact even where the piece was missing, the height of the sirip was exacily the same as that around
the perimeter of the strip, namely 1/8".

Based onthe ahove, as well as the eredible evidence, the arbitrator finds the petitioner has failed to
prove by a preporiderance of the credible evidence that she sustained an accidental injury that arose out-of
and in the course of her employment by respondent on 1/6713,

4. W ERE. THE MEDICAL SERVICES THAT WERE ?RUV!I)FB TO PETITIONER REASONABLE AND NECESSARY? HAS
RESPONDENT PAID ALL APPROPRIATE CHARGES FOR ALL REASONABLE AND NECESSARY MEDICAL SERVICES?
K. ISPETTTIONER EN’HTLEIJ TOANY PRQSPE‘LTE‘ EMEDICAL CARE?

L. WHAT TEMPORARY BENEF{TS ARFE IN DISPUTE?

Having found the petitioner did not sustain an accidental injury that arose out of and in the course of her

employment by respondent on 1/6/15, the arbilrator finds these remaining issues moot,
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 'Afﬁnn-ané adopt {no changes} E:] injured W@rkgrs"Baneﬁt Fund (§4¢d0
_ ) $S. [:] Affirm. with changes D Rate Adfusiment Fund ($8(g))
COUNTY. OF COOK ) Reverse- D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
) E} PTD!F atal denigd
D Modify None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Andrcw_ﬁuﬁlagh

Petitioner,

VS, NG, 14 WC 15052

lViliageanisip! 1 61 w C C 0 63 3

Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the: Petitioner herein and notice given to
all parties; the Comtiission, after considering the issues of accident, medical expenses, causal
connection,’ penaltxes and fees, permanent disability, and temporary disability and being advised
of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto

and made a part hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator fifed February 8, 20106 is hereby affitmed and adopted.

IT 18 FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have
credit for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental

injury.
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No bond is required for removal of this cause to the Circuit Court. The party
commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with the Commission a

‘Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.
A
A j’ ' :
yolr T AL
: &% ], Mathis

id L. Gore |

Mario Basurto

DATED: SEP 30 2016
SIM/si

a-9/22/2016

414
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4{d))
) S8 _ Affirm with changes D Rate Adjusiment Fund {§8(g))
COUNTY-OF ) D Reverse D Second Tnjury Fund (§8(e)18)
SANGAMON [ Pro/Fatal denied
[ ] Modisy up DX None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION

JASON B. GARRETT,

Peitioner, 16IWCCO058%7

Vs, NO: 14 WC 3167 & 15 WC 18366

LIBERTY MUTUAL GROUP, INC.,

Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) of the Act having been filed by the: Pefitioner
herein and notice given to alf parties; the Commission, after considering the issues of accident,
causation, temporary total disability, permanent partial disability, medical expenses both current
and -prospective, and the Arbitrator’s denial of Petitioner’s Motion to Consolidate Petitioner’s

claims 14 WC 3167 and 15 WC 18366, and being advised of the facts-and law, supplemeénts the
Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the
Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof,

Initially, the Commission notes that the Arbitrator provided a very detailed summary of
the issues presented. As noted above, her decision is-attached to and made part of this decision.
In addition, the Commission is not changmg the-ultirhate outcome of her decision. T herefore an
extremely detailed account of the issues of Petitioner’s current condition of ﬂI~bemg is not
required in this decision. Finally, in this decision, the Commission. only addresses the 1ssues: of
accident/causation and the denial of the consolidation of claims. Acmrdmgly, the Comxmssmn
will analyze Petitioner's medical ireatment only as it relates to the issues of accident and
causation.
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Findings of fact and Conclusions of Law

1. Petitioner called Lisa Raydant who testified she worked for Respondent for 20 years and
that she “quit” on July 31, 2012, From 1998 to 2006.she was Service Manager in the
Springfield area, from’ 2006 to 2008 she was Assistant Regﬁ.mnal Service Managet, and
she was Branch Manager from 2008 to 2012, Ergonomic assessments were made for
new employees, transferred employees, and were performed periodically thereafier. As
manager she performed these assessmenits. She was given a form to follow but otherwise

had “pretty much” no training!

Ms. Raydant knows Pétitioner, eventually became his immediate sales manager, and
supervised him. Petitioner told her that he was having issues with his back. She did not
remember exactly when he first mentioned it, but she-visited him in his home office in
2009; “his knees were up around his ears.” “He is a. very tall guy and it didn’t fock like
he was set up correctly as far as that goes. His monitor was too low for himm so [she] did
get monitor risers for him.” The form she used indicated the monitor should be at eye
fevel and Petitioner’s was not.  He was “twisted” and leaning forward when she was.
there. The desk was not adjustable. Petitioner was the only sales representative working.
from home because Respondent closed its Springfield office.

e

3. “Ledd days™ are days a sales representative is assigned to follow:up on Jeads from the
internet on an as soon as possible basis. Not responding to leads on a timely basis caused
problems, Each representative would get one lead day per week on a rotating basis.. The:
representative wouid start at 8 am and was pretty much tied 1o their desks to get the leads
anid respond to them. If a representative did not respond qmckly he/she would eventually
be removed from the program and it génerated a lot of commissions:

4, On cross examination, Ms. Raydant testified she never worked for Respondent as‘a sales
rt:,prﬁsem:an:we1 however, she did often accompany theri on. appointments and watch them
work int the office. She did not have free access to Petitioner’s home, She talked to
Petitioner about his knees being around his cars and the way his head was looking at the
fow monitor, but did not recall talking. to him about’ being twisted, On lead days,
Petitioner would have been able to stand or sit as desired. She was only at Petitioner’s
home twice, once in 2009 and once in 2011,

5. On redirect examination, Ms. Raydant testified the 2 times she was at Petitioner’s home
she: was there about three hours each. She never did an ergonomic assessment on
Petifioner: She assumed he had been so assesséd when he moved into.the home office.

6. Petitioner called Alysha Davis-Barth. Ms. Davis-Barth testified she is a physical
therapist. She has an M.A. and Ph.ID. in physical therapy. She has performed about 25 to
30 ergonomic assessments. To the best of her knowlédge no particular licensinig’ is
needed to be able to perform an ergononu¢ assessment.
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7. Ms. Davis-Barth was provided a packet including photoy of Petitioner’s: work space, an
ergonomic assessment performied by an occupational thérapist, and depositions of that
therapist as well as those of Dr. Payne and Dr, VanFleet. She noted that the photos
showed that Petitioner had to rotate to the left in order to use the keéyboard and see the
monitor; there was no leg space {o the left to allow his chair to tum, there was not
sufficient clearance for his legs to go underneath the desk so he had to push his chair
back requiring him to lean forward to réach the keyboard, and Petitioner’s shoulders were
angled left and his hips and knees were pointed straight forward restilting in torsion or
twisting of the frunk while working at the station.

8. Ms. Davis-Barth explained that “forward flexion and torsion causes an increased pressure:
on the discs'and a breakdown of the static protective tissues around the spine and discs.”
? If the protection of the spinal structures fails the disc can hemiate. Numerous studies
have found that flexion and totating both increase inter discal pressure and “the
combination of those compounds the increase in pressure,” It also opens the facet joints
reducing their protection.and leaving discs more vulnerable to herniation. Sitting'cause's
significantly greater pressure on the disc than standing. She characterized the ergenomic
of the work station as’ pﬂor” on a scale-commonly used in occupational therapy that
includes rating of poor minug, poor, and poor plus. Repeated exposure to a. poor
ergonomic work place accumulates over time.

9. On Cross exammation Ms Daws Baﬁh testlfied she did not perfonn an ergonmmc
did naet obsarve other chairs that were there. Petmoner appmac:hed her and hired her 10
perform an ergonomic evaluation. She talked with Petitioner about his job. activities for
about 20 minutes. She knew that Petitioner was diagnosed with a hemiated disc and that
what she observed of his work station could have Jed to a disc herniation. It appears from .
the photos that Petitioner could have moved his computer to the right on his desk. Ms.
Davis-Barth was not aware of any studies that have evaluated body habitus and the onset
of disc herniation. Greater height and wei ight would probably put more pressure on discs;
however, skinny people may be susceptible because of lack of musele. structm‘e :
Strengthening the muscles can help prevent disc injuries.

10, On redirect, Ms. Davis-Barth testified she understood that the onset of the herniation
occurred when he started to get up from his chair after working in that chair for seven
years. She would not trust an ergonomic assessment performed over the telephone. -She
opined that “proionged sitting, in the flexed and ‘rotated position” caused the disc
herniation. SGme{)d}! in such an awkward position for extended. periods of time for a
number of yvears “is muc_,h_ more likely to herniate a disc than somebody who has not been:
in-poor posiuring and just stood up from a chair.”

L1, Petitioner testified he worked for Respondent since September 27, 1997. He started as
personal sales represeniative and was promioted to resident sales representative in 2005.
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12, In late 2006 he was asked whether he wanted to continue to work for Respondent from a
home office. He dedicated a room in his home as an office and had to send pictures of
the set up to Respondent. He bought the house in 2006 and the desk was already there.
‘The docking station and chairs were sent to- him by Respondent. Nobody from
Respondent helped him set up the office.

13, Petitioner also testified his job was “quile diverse.” He went out to solicit clients;
p’etitien' existing clients, and service existing clients. Mainly he was responsible to
acquire new business for . Respondent.  Lead days were important for all sales
represemames After they closed the Sprmgﬁeid office Respandem instituted lead days
in which all leads generated in a certain day were sent to a single agent. He started
working eads exceptionally early because leads could be generated the night before.
Angust 29", the date of the aﬂeg&d accident, was his lead day.

14. On that day he started probably between 7:30 and 8 am. He worked until he was injured
between 3:30 p.m, and 4:30p.m. It was a busy day and he was at his desk the entire day
prior to his injury. He got up to use the restroom once.. His wife brought him lunch
because he was on-ihe phone. Whilé lie was on the phone he would be imputing data at
the same time. He had to twist his body to the left to access the compufer and lean
forward to talk 1o the client. He was“always twisted™ the entire day. He could not move
the monitor because there -was po room due.to the extensive paperwork. He was not
aware of the risk he was in, Petitioner began to have back pain éarly in'the day, but it
‘progressively got worse, Atone point he needed to get'some paper and could not get up
because of interise pain in his back and left leg. His wife had to help him get up.

15. The ‘accident was on a Thursday. He stayed in bed all day Friday. On Saturday he was
traveling with his wife to Marion, He was lying flat in the passenger seat. When they
arrived, Petitioner went to bed but could not get any sleep or rest because of the pain. He
drove to an ER at about 1 am. It was only about three miles. ‘They administered
injections:and Petitioner’s wife had to-come and pick him-up. ' )

16. Petitioner followed up with Dr. Payne, who performed surgery. The surgery helped him
stand stralghter and walk better. After he was weaned off pain medication, he noticed a
lot of pain down the left leg; it was weak and would give out nearly daily. He still has
that issue.. He was going up stairs and his left Jeg gave out. He fwisted to grab the.
handrail and-injured his back again. He had a second surgery.

17. Petitioner further testified he began to have problems with his back related to the chair
shortly afler he started working from home. He had no such problems whén he was
workmg in tht: Gfﬁce Hc mformed Respondent thdl the c:hazr was. hurtmg hxs back by CH

chair, Ihat repaJr did not allewate his pam
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18. By e-mail dated November 14, 2006, he had asked to have the chair he used in the office
sent to his Home. That chair had been specifically ordered for him after an ergonomic
assessment. Respondent performed two ergonomic assessments; one at the Springfield
office and one at his home after the injury. He asked Lisa Raydant for an in-person
assessment in late 2010 because his back was hurting and that he thought it was related to

his desk and chair.

19. Petitioner believed he began 1o treat for his back in 2011, he thought with his principle
care physician. He later treated with Dr. Western, who admmistered ESIs at L3-S1. He
felt better after-the injections, but he “took it easy™ nevf:rthaless He was later diagnosed
with-a herniated disc at L2-3 for which he had a discectomy.

20. The Sunday before his injury, Petitioner gave a eulogy in Marion, which was probably a
2 hour 45 minute drive each way, The drive and standing to give the eulogy did not
cause problems with his back,

21. Petitioner last worked on September 27, 2013, which was the date of the first surgery.
He had scheduled it for that day so he could finish up his work for the quarter, He cannot
‘perform his previous job because sitting, standing, and walking are all painful,

‘22, On cross examination, Petitioner agreed that hie began to have back problenis in 2007 and
‘saw a chiropractor prior to seeing Dr. Payné. He did not remember whether he
‘previously discussed with doctors the: cause of his back complaints. He agreed that on
‘November 2, 2011, he reported to Dr. Payne that on June 1, 2011 he injured his. back
golfing. There was an MRI taken shortly after that visit. Dr, Payne was the doctor who
‘teferred him to Dr. Western.

23, Petitioner denied that when he moved to his home office hé was either offered a desk or
had the opportunity to request a desk from Respondent. He set up his home office, He
agreed that he sent an e-mail to a representative of Respondent indicating that he had a
desk he could use. He was responding to a query -whether he had a desk. He did not
recall sending an e=mail asking for a new desk. He'also did not send any e-mails abowut
his chair after 2007,

24, Petitioner testificd he himself performed two ergonomic assessments while office
operations manager in 2003, but he is “not even close™ to being familiar with the process
of those assessments. He reques%ed an ergonomic.assessment from Ms. Raydant, but did
not get one. He rcqucstcd the assessment by phone and not e-imail, He had a telephone - -
conversation with Rachel Weygandt regarding an ergonomic assessment,

25, On redirect, Petitioner testified he complained about his chairg on dates other than those
memorializes by e-mails. He had no training in performmg ergonomic assessments and
he would simply fill in mformatmn on a form.

et e e ot 1
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26. After he attended the doctors’ depositions he referred to the treatment notes and found
them “incomplete or there was an assumption made by the doctor and that's what he

reported as fact.”

27, On re-cross examination, Petitioner testified that although he attended the deposition: of
Dr. Payne he did not attempt to correct the medical records bécause he “wouldn’t know
‘the first thing about doing that.”

28,.0n re-redirect examination, Petitioner testified that Dr. VanFleet was incorrect when he
reported that Petitioner said he was injured while Workmg at his desk in 2011; at that time
‘he was 1n3u:cd swinging a golf elub. He told Dr. VanFleet that he was working in his
office since 2011. Dr. Payne was incorrect in stating he hurt his back getting up; it hurt
throughout the day.

29. Monica Garrett, Petitioner’s wife of 24 years, festified Petitioner did not have problems
with his back before they moved into their current residence in 2006, Petitioner looked
iincomfortable at the desk; he could not get his legs underneath the desk so he had to
reach across the desk and to go back and forth to his computer continuously. Petitioner
had back problems prior to “the 29% bist “he was fine. He had some kind of a back shot

and it seemed fo help alot.”

30. *“On the- 29’*’” she was workirig-and Petitioner told her he was very busy and to try not to
disturb him, She-went up there to ask if he wanted lunch; she made him grilled cheese.
She delivered it and returned downstairs to continue working, Later, “he hollered down
for her. He was sitting at his desk and said he could not get up. She helped him get into
bed and he stayed there through the next day. When they returned to Marion; she did not
want Petitioner to stay alone due to-his medications. He sat flat on the passenger side.
When they arrived at Marion helaid down on her mother’s bed.

31. Rachel Weygandt was subpoenaed by Respondent for which she worked from October
2012 to April 2015; she currently worked for another insurance company. She was
administrative assistant for Brittany Brickmann, who was Petitionér’s supervisor, and
who trained the witness how 1o perform safety assesstnents, Ms. Weygandt also took
some tele-courses with Respondent’s. ergonomics expert. She was “deemed a safety
apecmhst for the office.” She'conducted safety assessments per Respondent’s policy.

32. Ms. Weygandt conducted a work station assessment regarding Petitioner on April 25,
2013. In such an assessment she was to go over the proper procedures to. maintain the
desk and the way things should be situated to have a safe environment. On the form,
employees are informed that if they notice anything unsafe they should report it to their
managers or the witness, Her assessment of Petitioner’s station was unique because it
was done over the phone. She cleated that procedure with her boss..
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33, Ms. Weygand believed Petitioner was provided a form to follow. She filled out the form
‘completely based on Petitioner’s responscs. to the questions in the form. It is similar to
the procedure when she is with an employee in person. She sent Petitioner a copy of the

form as completed.

34. Ms. Weygandt remembered this particular assessment because: of the uniqieness of the
circumstances. She Spaczﬁuaﬂy femembered reiterating the last element noted in the
form that if there was anything noteworthy concerning his-work station he should bring it
to theit attention. She did this to be stre he fully understood because she did not have
much interaction with Petitioner. He did not mention any such thing then or at any time
‘before she left Rx:spondem s employment. During the process Petitioner did not mention.
any back/leg pain; or problems with his chair/desk/monitor. She did not believe any.
more formal evaluation was necessary because Petitioner “was always very forthcoming
with anything that he needed” and if he needed something he would have mentioned it.
If he had expressed any problems she would have worked to corrget them.

35. On cross examination, Ms, Weygandt testified she did not ask Petitioner any questions
that were not on the form because she did not believe they were necessary based on his
responses. She did not see the workstation or take any measurements of it.

36. Brittany Brickmann was called by Respc;ndent for which she works as sénior territory
manager. Before May 2015, she was' senior branch manager managing the: Geneva and
‘Peoria offices. She was Petitioner’s supervisor when she managed those offices from
July 2012 to May 25, 2015. The Springfield office was closed by then. She took over
that position from L:sa Raydant,

37. Besides her training, Ms. Brickmann had numerous ergonomic assessments because she
moved to-many. different locations. She also assigned her agsistant, Ms. Weygandt, to
perform erg,anomw assessments.  DPetitioner reported  that he was receiving back
treatments in 2013, but he did not report any work injury, indicate his condition was
related:to his office equipment, or ask for an ergonomic assessment at that time. Later he
1old her he thought it was related to his work station but he did not want to file a claim;
he simply wanted to get his condition taken care of. She referred him to human
recourses. Ms. Brickmann also- testified that Petitioner could “absolutely” have come to
her with any ergonomm prob}em There were discussions via ¢onference calls about the
means of reporting ergonomic problems.

38. Petitioner never asked for.a new chair or desk. He did-ask for an ergonomic assessment
to. see if he needed a new chair after the alleged date of accident. Part of Ms.
Brickmann's work duties included providing office equipment. If there 'were a request B
for new furniture, it would be something she could help. with. Ms. Brickmann identified E
an e-mail she sent on August 31%. In it she mentioned that Petitioner reperted his back
was uncomfortable, but there was no indication that he reported 4 work injury.
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39, On cross examination, Ms. Brickmann agreed that.in her training by Respondent she was
taughf that ergonemic assessments wefe lmportant A reason they are Important is to set
p an ergonomic environment to prevent injuries. When Petitioner reported his back hurt

on August 30" he indicated he thought it was because of the setup-ofhis workstation.

40, Petitioner testified in rebuttal that the telephone ergonomic assessment performed by Ms.

‘Weygandt took no more than two-three minutes and he clearly told her that he bad to
twist his body to the left to access the computer. His home workstation had always been
set up that way. He did not sign or even sce the assessment performed by Ms, Weygandt.
The enly one he saw and signed was the one done when he worked in the Springfield
office. In her assessmernt she indicated that the requirement that the keyboard and
‘monitor be centered with the employee’s body so that the employee did not have to move
from side to side, were met. :

41. On cross examination, Petitioner testified that he was not aware that his monitor was
badly positioned. because he knew nothing about ergonomies; his job was to sell
insurance and service customers. He sent pictures to Respcmdent and heard nothing back.
He becanie aware the monitor should be moved only aftera 3 party assessment,

42, Ms. Weygandt testified in sarrebuttal that her telephone ergonomic assessment took
about 15 minutes; “you can’t go through that dny less than that” During that assessment,
Petitioner never told Hier he had to bend and twist in the chair. On cross exarnination, Ms.
Weygandt testified that she sent Petitioner a copy of the completed form.. However, none
of ihe workplace assessments have to be signed either by her o the employee.

43, The medical records reveal that on November 4, 2011, Petitioner presented to Dr. Payne,
who knew Petitioner for a Jong time trap shooting across: Sonthern Ilinois. Petitioner
was 6'6” and 365 Ibs. He reported left sciatica for about four months. He remembereda . .
golf swing in which he fell immediate pain and he gradually felt the onset of the sciatica.
He was able to take Ibuprofen-and referee high school varsity soccer games. He had been
'to a chiropractor which was somewhat helpful,

44, Dr. Payne noted positive SLR and ordered an MR! and ESI. X-rays showed moderate to
severe diffuse degenerative changes most prominent at L4-5 and L5-81. The MRI" | |
showed multilevel degenerative disc disease, superimposed on multilevel congenitally
short pedicles, resuliing in severe left neuroforaminal stenosis at L4-3 secondary to disc
extrusion. In December 2011, Dr. Western administered an ESI at L5-S1. after
evaliation.

45. Petitioner returned to Dr. Western on May 6, 2013. He had done quite well after the
injection in Decembier 2011. He reported the refurn of pam which Dr. Western thought
‘was similar to what hé had in 2011. He reported a high pain level. SLR was positive of
the left and negatwe on the right. Dr. Western ordered another EST at L5-81, which was
performed on May 9™,
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46, Petitioner returned to Dr. Western on May 13" and reported no benefit from the latest
injection. Petitioner reported no new issues. or injuries. Dr. Western prescribed
‘Gabapentin, prednisone, Flexeril, and a new MRL

47. The new MRI showed mild endplate osteophyte-and small left lateral disc protrusion
causing moderate neural foraminal stenosis at L4-5. However, the principle pathology
noted was a large left post-lateral disc extrusion at 1.2<3 compressing the L3 nerve root

48, Petitioner’s condition continued to worsen. ‘On September 3, 2013, Petitioner reported a
sudden worsening of his pain over the weekend. “He was just sitting at his desk on
Friday deing a lotof wotk on the compute'r when he stood up, sudden pain worsening,
feft lower ex’tremity radicular pain.”  He could not stand straight or find a position that
relieves the pain. He was on the verge of being admitted for pain control. Dr. Payne
ordered a “STAT MRI” and would schedule surgery ASAP. The MRI showed interval
worsening of L3 nerve ¢ompression and additional chronic degenerative changes. Dr.
Western administered another ESI at L3-4.

49. On September 12, - 2013; Dr. Payne noted that Petitioner’s L2-3 hermiation was much
farger with mfcnor migration of his fragment, which means he would have to take off a
fair amount of L3. Petitioner’s symptoms were still severe, Dr. Payne performed L2-3
laminectomy/microdiscectomy for herniated disc and spinal stenosis on September 30,
2013.

50. On October 17, 2013 ~ Petitioner was doing “really good” two. weeks postop. Petitioner
“was concerned about going to work because he has to sit for long periods of time and
that seéms to be what aggravated it before: so he would like to be off work until the next
visit.”" This notation-appears to be the first mention in the medical records of Petitioner
gomplaining that sitting at work aggravated his condition. )

51. About a month later, Petitioner reported confinued dull thigh pain and a lot of axial back
pain, worse while sitting. He “can only sit in the chair for five minutes.” Dr. Payne
ordered physical therapy and a new MRI to check for residual/recurrent dis¢. The MRI
showed only postop changes and thoracolumbar degenerative changes,

52;011 December 26, 2013, Petitioner still had axial and left radicular pain, Petitioner talked

“more about his radicular pain, how it started after at the end of the day he had béen at his

desk for seven or eight hours leaning forward, working at'2 computer, efc. When he got

up to leave he could not stanid straight.” Dr. Payne noted that leaning forward in a chair

is a position that puts some of the greatest pressure on discs: He then opined * ‘obviously

he has had herniation there before and problems with his back, but those have resolved

without surgacai intervention. Clearly, before we did surgery, he had a very significant

change in disc herniation in the lumibar spine, so The thought] there is a link there
between the seating position at work and his back problems.”
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53, On January 16, 2014, Petitioner presentéd to Dr. Payne because he had to go.into work
for a while to sét up his office. *“They were gelting him a new chair and a new desk. He.
was sitting there for a coupie of hours, and all of the pain came rushing back. He has
pain in the left. Jeg again.™ Petitioner thought his symptoms were bad enough fo warrant a
new MRI, which Dr, Payne ordered.

534. On February 6, 2014, Petitioner reported that when he got out-of his car the previous
week he felt'a severe/shaip pain that “almost knocked him to the ground. “He went in to
his job to set up his new chair and desk and had severe back pam after-one hour work.”
Dr. Payne diagnosed worsening left leg radicular pain and again noted they needed a new
MRI. The MRI appeared to show no change at 1.2-3, stable foraminal protrusion at L4-5,
and mild degenerative stenosis secondary to bulging protrusion at T12-L 1.

55. Petitioner continued fo treat with Dr. Payne but showed little improvement. On =~ '
-'Scptembcr 11, 2014, Petitioner returned to Dr. Payne reporting a new problem. He was.
going up stairs two days ago when his left leg gave out. He- tmsted to grab the railing
and “kind of fell down the stairs.” He had very bad axzal back pain which was worse
than he ever had before, His leg was “a litlle worse,” Dr, Payne ordered a new MRI,
The MRI showed multilevel degenerative changes most notably at L2-3 with. a large
central disc. protrusion with subarticular extension causing severe central canal stenosis:
There was also multilevel moderate to severe rieural foraminal encmachment and mild

central canal stencsis at T12-1.1.

56. Petitioner did not improve with conservative treatment for the recurrent herniated disc.
On December 22, 2014, Dr. Payne performed laminectomy at L2, +transforaminal
intérbody fusion L2-3, posterior fusion L2:3, with instrumentality and bone graft for -
recurrent disc herniation at L2-3 and spinal stenosis.

5§7. Dr. VanFleet testified by deposition on June 25, 2014. He examined Petitioner on March
12, 2014, reviewed medical records, and issued a report. Subsequently; he was pmvlded
additional MRI films and issued ‘an addendum report. Dr. VanFleet recited the histary
Petitioner reported. He had low back pain in 2011 aftet sitting for a long time. He was
treated with injections and Ibuprofen and it resolved. He had a recurrence in- August
2013, He was szttmg inhis chair by his desk for a.long period of time and as he stood up
he had significant pain across the back and down into his left leg Petitioner eventually
had surgery at L2-3 and had minimal improvement of back pain, but still had pain down
the left leg. He required Gabapentin and Flexeril and was still not able to'work.

58. On examination Petitioner was 6°6” and 380 Ibs, and with 2 BMI of 46.3; he would be
considered morbidly obese. He had dlfﬁculty with boih flexion and extension. Reflexes;
strength, and sensation were normal; he had no neurological deficit, He viewed an MRI
from February 18, 2014 which noted postsurglcal changes, degencrative disc dlseasc at
1.2-3, and no focal neurological compression at L4-5 or L3-St
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59, Subsequently he viewed MRI films from May 21, 2013 and November 27, 2013, The
May MRI showed the very large left-sided extrusion at 1.2-3, but the previously noted
disc extrusion at L4-5 was not evident. The diagnostic studies showed that Petitioner had
long-standing lumbar degenerative disc -disease prior to the instant imjury. Morbid
obesity is.a contributing factor in degenerative disc disease. It has a significant impact in
terms ‘of degeneration and rate of degeneration as gravity puts greater pressure on' the
discs because of the additional mass. There could also be a genetic factor.

60. Dr. VanFleet epmed that the incident of August 29, 2013 as Petitioner described did not
contribute in any way to Petitioner’s preexisting degenerative disc disease. “The fact that
somebody is sitting or standing during the course of the day, it doesn’t matter where they
are, if'you hdppcn to have it at work.™ The preexisting condition was “the most important
déterminant in developing this condition.” The simple act of sitting in a chair without

motion would not cause a disc prolapse.

61. 1 was Dr. VanFleet's understanding that the onset of back pain occurred as Petitioner got
out of a chair. That “cﬁrtamly could” change the pressure on the spme The movement
would cause a change in intradiscal pressures, and ‘which dise is involved could be
dependent on how the person ‘bends. The mechanism of gettmg out of that chair should
be no different from that of getting out 6f a dinner table chair. Dr, VanFleet did not recall .
Petitioner indicating there was any defect in the chair.

62. On cross examination, Dr. VanFleet testified he did not remember. whether he reviewed
an ergonomic assessment. In all likelihood if he reviewed one he would have mentioned
such in- his report, He¢ did not see any photographs of the workstation, He had no
information about any complamts of his sitting position or workstation. Dr. VanFleet did
not denote any dishonesty on Petitioner’s part, and if he had ke would have mentioned it.

63. Dr. VanFleet conceded that if Petitioner were leaning forward while seated such a
position could lead increased intradiscal pressure because of gravity and body mass,
Petitionér's obesity would also be detrimental in that respect. Workstatioris would: have
more detrimental effects on the cervical spine as opposed to-the lumbar spine. ‘Manual
workers tend to have more lumbar rather than cervical conditions.

64, Dr. VanFleet was aware of the study of Alf Nachemson, who did a classical study on
intrathecal disc space pressures. If he remembered correctly there were four positions
which ranged from least to greatest disc pressure: (1) supirie; (2) standing upright; (3)
sitting: and (4) sitting and leaned forward holding weights.

65. Erin Steinacher testified by deposition on September 16, 2014. She had been an
occupational therapist for three years and has an M.A. in occupational therapy and an
M.A. in body ergonomics. She was asked to perform an ergonomic assessment at
Petitioner’s home. '
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66. Ms. Steinacher noted that she thought the desk was foo low for Petitioner to fully fit
underneath the desk because he was 6’6", In addition, there was “a cabinet built into the
desk where it went all the way in. He could not put his feet properly all the way
underneath the desk without havisg to be out 4 little bit so his legs fit under there,™

67. Petitioner’s knees were above 90 degrees which puts more pressure on the hips, and he
did not have a keyboard area so he had to put his arms up and over the desk and have his
wrist extended. Because of the position of the computer, he had forward flexion of his
neck, low back, and upper back.

68. The positions she observed are not recommended ergonomically; they ¢an cause strain on
the neck, back, and spine if experienced for pmlanged periods, His shoulders should be
over his hips.. There was a small lumbar support in the chair, but she did not believe it
was sufficient to have him sit straight with the proper lumbar curvature,

69, Ms. Steinacher recommended risers to 1ift the height of the desk or a new desk, a highar
chair because his hips would still be too low, and another lumbar support.” On
questioning about twisting and furning, Ms. Sfeinacher indicated the fwisting/turning was.
not a problem: it was the body position itself ‘which causes problems.

70. When Petitioner sat at the station he *looked cruriched,” and “definitely more flexed in
every direetion.” 12 of the 14 positions she checked were not optimal. She rated the
workstation as “fair minus.” She thought the most egregious aspect was the inability of
Petitioner to get his legs completely underneath the desk to be able to move closer to the

desk.

71. On cross examination, Ms. Steinacher testified that she was under the impression that
Petitioner “had a back ‘surgery that was due to stress over time,” She did not need any
medical background to perform an ergonomic assessment. She did not review medical
records. She had ne idea who set up the ‘work station or who was respons1b]e for its
malnténance.

72, The desk was standard and did .not appear to be in any state of disrepair. She did not
‘believe the chair was defective. Petitioner could get, up and stretch, but he may have had
difficulty when he was on the phone because of the cord. He made it sound like he was
‘'on the phione 2/3 of the time. Thete is no rating below poor, such as a poor minus,

73..Dr. Payne festified by deposition 'on February 19, 2015. He had known Petitioner
socially for a long time trap shooting together and as a patient for about five years for
treatment of his back. Petitioner sold insurance and spent long hours working on a
computer and had been working at home for seven years.
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74. Dr. Payne saw pictures of the home office and they discussed his sitting posmon and how
he spent *a lot of time at his desk turned to the side in a flexed position.” That can exert
detrimental “pressures in the low back and stuff.” Twisting causes some fibers in the
annulus to become tense and others to become lax, “and it’s thought that that predisposes
to herniation.” There. are anatomical studies about orientation of fibers and where they
are stressed; the greatest pre%sure was caused sitting flexed forward at the waist.
However, Dr. Payne did not “know of any study that describes a certain position where

people have more disc herniations.”

75. When he saw Petitioner in June 2013, Petitioner was being treated for a L2-3 herniation,
with anti-inflammatories and ESls were considered. He did not want to have surgery at
that time. ‘When he saw Petitioner on September 3, 2013, “he was significantly worse;”
so much worse that he was “basically teetering on the edge of needing to be admiited to
the hospital for pain control.* The aggravation of symptoms began while sitting at his
desk. His pain progressively worsened during the long day working at his'desk.

76. It looking. at 4 pew MRI, Dr. Payne “thought his disc was a lot bigger,” and was the
cause of Petitioner’s increased pain.  Dr. Payne  performed laminectomy/discectorny
surgery in September 2013 because of “the bigger disc.” Affer that surgery, Pétitioner
continued to have leg pain. A new MRI showed a recurrent dise herniation at L2-3, so he
performed a second surgery, a fusion, in 2014,

77. Dr. Payne indicated that the initial herniation caused a weak point in the anriulus which
made the new herniation more likely. Dr. Payne agreed that it was fair {o say that “the
injury he-sustained sitting at his desk was a factor in the fusion,” Dr, Payne opu*xcd that
the way Petitioner was sitting in his chair was a “bad ergonomic position.” L2-3 is in the
-upper Jumbar spine-and upper spine surgeries comprise less than 5% of the discectornies
he performs. However, he did not think that Petitioner’s sitting: posnmn ‘had anything to
do with the fact that the herniation was in the upper rather than lower spine.

78.0n cross examination, Dr. Payne testified there are various causes of herniations
including simply normal degeneratwe processes. He thought that when he saw him in
2011, Petitioner related his back pain to golf. Such activity can cause a disc hemiation,
He ordered an MRI at that time. It showed a mild diffuse disc bulge with mild central
canal ‘stenosis but no significant neuroforaminal stenosis at 12:3. “A disc bulge is kind
of a normal middle-age finding.” He: really did not consider that finding abnormal er
40 year old. Dr. Payne agreed that it did show that there was “something going on there.”

79. Dr. Payne also lestified he reviewed previous medical records. He agreed that on May 1,
2013 Petitioner complained of radiating radiating into the left leg to his principle care
provider, who referred Petitioner to Dr. Western. Dr. Western’s May 6, 2013 note did
not indicate a mechanism of injury. He ordered an MRI whith showed the large disc
herniation at L2-3. Dr. Payne thought that condition caused Petitioner's radiculopaihy.
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80, The disc had worsened from 2011 to 2013 from a disc lookmg middle-aged to one with a
large herniation. Dr. Payne had no documentation that Petitioner reported a mechanism
of injury when he saw him on June 4, 2013, but he reported he gave up his referecing of
soccer, an activity which could cause of aggravaté a herniation.

81. When Dr. Payne saw Petitioner on September 3, 2013 he reported a sudden worsening of
his symptoms after moving from a.sitting fo standing position. Such an action may or
may not place preater stress on discs. The act of getting up from a chair could be the
same as getting up from a toilet or diming room chair. The act of rising from a seated
position would be the same. He and Petitioner talked about Petitioner’s work station on
several occasions but Dr. Payne could not remember the exact dates.

82. On redirect examination, Dr. Payne testified he- thought Petitioner® s work station was
terrible; the forward flex with a twist is the worst position for the back. He thought
Peétitioner herniated his disc while sitting and it got more painful when he put {raction on
the nerves.

83. On re-cross examination, Dr. Payne testified that people who sit in a terrible position
sitting at a desk leaning forward do not automatica'ily develop a herniated disc. One can
herniate a disc while standing up. According to his ‘notes Petitfoner noticed the
agpravated pain when he stood up.

84, Petitioner also submitted into evidence published articles. The article Low Back Pain
Development Response fo Sustained Trunk Axial Twisting in the 2013 European Spipe,
investigated the issue whether sustained axial truck twisting has an effect on the
dévelopment of low back pain. The results appear to support such anassociation,

85. The finding in this 2013 study appeared to be mostly muscular in nature, However, it
was also written: “It is not clear which of the viscoelastic tissues were active. zmd_
underwent creep in their investigation. The facet capsule may be one of the major
tissues, since facet joint is thought to be served as a critical component to resist the
torsion during axial truck twisting, Each of the other tissues, such as dorsolumbar fascia,
posterior i;gamentsg supraspinatus and intraspinatus ligaments, is probably .one of the
active tissues.in the FRP (flexion relaxation phenomenon) response and probably is
subjected to creep as well. Another important issue is the IVD (intervetebral dise). The
sheer stresses and movement created by spinal twisting within discs” might elicit a
shrinkage on spine by making the nucleus pulposus loose (sic) some fluid like twisting a
cloth full of water. Moreover, spinal shnnkage itself conld indeed elicit change in FRP
respﬂnse according to our recent _,m'_se_’esngatmn

86. Petitioner also submitted the Article Low Back Pain Development Response ta Sustained
Trunk Axial Twisting ina 1980 Journal of the Amcrican Physical Therapy Association,
which appears t0 be a primer for physical therapists to identify low. back conditions and
provide appropriate physical therapy.
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87. The most relevant portion of this 1980 article refers to intradiscal pressure. On the issue
of bending and torsion, the authors indicate that the combination of movernents such as
twisting, bending, and: bendin & with rotation incréages strésses and strains on discs which
alone can account for a disc injury. The stresses are magnified in a degenerated disc.
The. authors cite a study that indicates sitting causes 173 greater -disc pressure than
standing and leaning forward 20 degrees increases the pressure by 30%. The article also
includes the' Alf Nachemson chart cited by Dr. VanFleet and elsewhere in the record;
with the most relevant aspect being that sitting upright exerts a force of “140™ and sitting
leaning forward exerts a force of “185." .

88, In analyzing work activities, the -authors concentrated on lifting and pushinig/pulling.
However, they also note that expasure to truck rotation is an important consideration.
Rotation of three degrees can disrupt annulus fibers at their weakest point and at 15
degrees a total bréakdown of the annulus, Discs and facets each receive 50% of the
torsion. Flexion, opening the facet joints, followed by rotation is dangerous because the
discs are not protected by the facets. The authors also discuss the importance of proper
lumbar support in chairs and the height of the chair should allow adequate thigh support
as well as comfortable placement of the feet. Frequent change of position is important to
vary the compressive load on a degenerated disc,

The Arbitrator found that Petitioner failed to prove accident basically because he did not
provide any evidence of his preczse work -activities that could lead to his alleged tepetitive
trauma injury of his lumbar spine. Rather, he concentrated on the set up of his workstation and
the theory that sitting in his chair resulted in the breakdown of the protective structure of his
back resultmg in the disc hemniation. The: Arbitrator also noted that Petitioner had similar
symptoms in 2011 from golfing and found that the condition never completely resolved. She
also noted that Petitioner did not initially relate his condition to his work activities. Finally, she
seemed to discount the testimony of both doctors because they did not have a sufficient
understanding of Petiﬁomﬁ:r‘s job activities Petiiioner argues' 1he 'evi&ence that - iherc was

p_rofessmnais opimans suppo_rteci catisation.

The Commission agrees with the determination of the Arbitrator and affirms her decision,
The Arbitrator was correct that Petitioner did not present evidence regardmg, his specific work
activities that could have caused or aggravated: his lumbar spine position. However, Petitioner’s
claim for compensability is' based on his theory that warking at an ergonomically ‘i improper
workstation all day, every day, for seven years caused his disc herniation; Assuming that theory - .
of compensability his specifying his work activities, such as how much of the time he was on the. *
telephone or imputing data, may not have been entirely dispositive of ‘the issués .of
accident/causation. Therefore, the Commission will address the argument that Petitioner’s.
evidence sustained his burden of proving that the ergonomic condition of his werkstatwn itself
caused or aggravated his condition of ill-being.
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Petitioner presented evidence that his work station may not have been optimal. He also
presented evidence that a poor ergonomic work station may be a contributing factor in
aggravating a preexisting degenerative disc condition. Nevertheless, the Commission finds that
Petitioner did not sustain his burden of proving that his allegedly ergonomically improper work
station actually aggravated his preexisting degenerative disc disease thereby causing his

herniation.

The Commission does not consider proof of a bad ergonomic condition and a particular
condition of ill-being is sufficient prove a4 compensable accident. Because there was no evidence
directly relating Petitioner’s work station to his hemiation, a finding that Petitioner’s work
station was the cause af his herniation necessarily would be based on conjecture or speculation,
in: which the Commission is not permitted to engage. Therefore, the Commission affirms the
Degision of the Arbitrator that Petitioner failed to sustain his burden of proving a repetitive
trauma accident resulting in a condition of ill-being of his lumbar spine.

Petitioner filed :two Appiic’nions for Adjustment of Claim. 14 WC 6167 was filedon . .
January 14, 2014 and alleged injuries to the lumbar spine from repetitive trauma with a: '
manifestation date of August 29,72013.. 15 WC 18366 was filed on June 4; 2015 and alleged
injuries to the lumbar spine from a discrete traumatic event also with an accident date of August
29,2013, The mainframé indicates that Petitioner filed a motion to consolidate the claims on
June 30, 2015 and that that motion was denied on July 24, 2015, Petitioner filed a Petition for
Review on both claims; therefore the Commission currently has jurisdiction gver both. The . |
Commission notes-that the claims involve the same claimant, the same employer and the same.
allegedly  injured body part. The only difference between the claims is the theory of
compensability, with 14 WC 6167 alleging repetitive trauma and 14 WC 18366 alleging discrete
frauma: The Commission agrees that these claims should be consolidated,

The re¢ord clearly delineates Petitioner’s alleged discrete traumatic event; his arising, or
attempting to arise, from his chair on August 29, 2013, Pefitioner testified that he needed to get
some paper and could not get up becausé of intense pain in his back and left leg. Dr. VanFleet
testified Petitioner indicated that he was sitting in- his chair by his desk for a long period of time
and as he'stood up he had significant pain across the back and down into his left leg. Dr. Payne.
testified that when he saw Petitioner on September 3, 2013 he reported a sudden worsening of
his symptoms after moving from a sitting to standing position. Getting up from a-seated position.
is clearly an activity members-of the general public engage in numerous times on a daily basis,

Dr. Payne and Dr, VanFleet both testified the mechanism of getting out-of that work chair should
be no differént from that of getting out of any other chair. |

Petitioner has not sustained his burden of proving that his work agtivities placed him at
any greater risk of injuring himself’ by arising from a seated position than that of any member of
the public in general. The act of arising out of a chair itsell is not an “accident”” compensable
under the Act. Therefore, Petitioner has not met his burden of proving he: suffered a
compensable work-related discrete traumatic accident on August 29, 2013 causing injury to his
lumbar spine.
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In conclusion, Petitioner has not sustained his burden of proving either a discrete
traumatic accident on August 29, 2013 or a repetitive traumatic accident causing a condition of
ill-being of his lumbar spine manifesting itself on August 29, 2013, Therefore, compensation is
denied o both claims.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Petitioner’s claims, 14
WC 6168 and 15 WC 18366, are consolidated on review.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Petitioner has not susiained
his burden of proving a repetitive traumatic accident causing a condition of ill-being of his
lumbar spine manifesting itself on August 29, 2013 and compensation in 14 WC 6168 is denied.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Petitioner not sustained his burden
of proving either a discrete traumatic aceident on August 29, 2013 causing a condition of ill-
being of his lumbdr spine and compensation.in 15 WC 18366 is denied.

The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with the
Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Cireuit Court.

DATED:  SEP 13 2016

Ru_- W

el ) L till)
Charles J, DeVriendt
RWW/dw e
0-8/16/16 ( -
46 Jofhua D. Luskin
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- . - ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
R NOTICE OF 19({b)/8(a) ARBITRATOR DECISION
GARRETT, JASON B Case#  14WCO003167 | -
Employee/Pstitioner

LIBERTY MUTUAL INSLUURANCE
Employer/Respondant

On 9/8/2015, an arbiteation decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.27% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the
date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change ora decrease in this award, interest shall
not accrue,

A capy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

1909 - ACKERMAN LAW. QFFICES
JAMES ACKERMAN

1201 8 6¥H ST

'SPRINGFIELD, (L 82703

0560 . WIEDNER & MeAULIFFE LTD
MATTHEW J ROIKUSEK

ONE N FRANKLIN 8T SUITE 1900
GHICAGO, IL 50806
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. D [njured Workers' Benefit Fund (§'4(f_d}}
35 D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF SANGAMON ) T Second Ty Fund (S%(319)
2. None of the above

_Al

ILLINOGIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b, 8(a)

JASON B. GARRETT, ;
Tmployes/Petitioner

V. Consolidated cases:
LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE,

Bmployer/Respondent

u}"

%14 WC 3167

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed 1o each
party, The matier vas heard by the Honorable Maureen Pulia, Arl hitrator of the Commissien, in the city of
Springfield, on 7/24/15. After reviewing all of the evidence presentéd, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings

on the disputed issues checked helow, and attaches those findings to this document,

THSPUTED TI85UES

A. D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Hlinois Workers' Compensation or. Occupational

Discases Act?
B. [ ] Was there an employee-employer relationiship?

. 4] Did an accident aceur that afose out of and i the course of Petitlaner's employment by Respondent?

D. E What was the date of the accident?
E. D Was timely notice of the accident given to'Respondent?
. X} s Petitioner's current condition of ill-being-causally related to-the injury?
G, [:| What were Petitioner's earnings?
H. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the ae_mdmt‘?

D What was Petitioner's marital status ot the time of the accident?

J. Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent

paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable-and necessary medical services?
K. [ 11s Petitioner entitled to any. prospective medical care?
L. What temporary benefits are in dispute?

[ 1TPD [} Maintenance TTD

M, D Should penalties or fees be imposed upott Respandent?
N. [ ] 1s Respondent due any credi(?
o. [ lother

AR el Grhy 200 HO0F, Rami{}ipa’z Sireer E5-200 Uhicage, 1, -’ﬁéﬂ?’ 382 éIHJ?rEIJ Fudl-frop §86:332.3033 Wehsie:
Devmatate effoes Collingville 613/346-32430 Pepria 3096313019 Roctford BISGE 2202 Springfleld 2177 RIS FHR,
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On the date of agcident, 8/28/13, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.
On this date, an employee-cmployer relationship did-exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did not susiainan accident thal arose out of and in the Tourse of employment.

Timely notice of this accident seas given to Respondent.

[u the year preceding the injury, Pelitioner eamed $80,471.04 ; the average weekly wage was $1,547.52.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 42 vears of age, married with 0 dependent children,

Respondent has paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services..

Respondent shall be given a eredit of 500.00 for TTD, $00.00 for TPD, $00.00 for maintenance, and
$33,126.92 for other benefits, for a fotal credit of $33,126.92;

Respondentis entitled to a credit under Section 8(j) of the Act for any-bills paid.

GRDER

Petitioner has failed to prove by g preponderance of the credible evidence that he sustained an accidental imjury
to his lumbar spirie due to repetitive work activities that arose out of and in the course of his employment by
respondent and manifested itself on 8/29/13, Petitioner's claim for compensation is denied,

Inno instance shall this award be a bar 1o subsequent hearing and deteriination ofan additional amount of
medical benefits or compeasation for a temperary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30-days after receipt of this
decision, and 'pa.;rilcia d review inaccordance with the Act and Ruies, then this décision shall-be entered as the
decision of the Commission,

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall acenie from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue,

U/Mé(,fim

Stamatre oFArbivator

kA _LZ{M 828115

Dute

TCABDe D)

SEP 8 - 2010
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THE ARBITRATOR HERERY MAKES THE FOLLOWING FINDINGS OF FACT

Petitioner, & 42 year insurance agent, alleges he suslained an aceidental injury to his low back due Lo
repetitive work activities, that arose out of and in the course of his employment and manifested itself on
8/29/1 3.

Petitiner begon working for respondent'on 9/28/07. He started s a personal sales representative,
In 2603 petitioner became a resident sales representative, His duties included helping niew hires, trainees,
and overseeing office bperations, He was responsible for monthly-safety checks, monthly meetings, and
fire extinguishers. In October 0f 2006, petitioner moved his office to his home. ¢ dedicated one of the
rooms in his home o his office. Petilioner ook pictures of his home office in December of 2006 at the
request of Administrative Assistant, and emailed them to the Administrative Assistant. Petitioner also
took pictures of his desk on or about his alleged Injury date (PX38-42). Pelitioner testified that the desk

he used was in his house when le purchased the house in 2006, He testified that respondent sent him the

docking station and all the, chairs. He stated that no one helped him-set up the office.

Petitioner described his job description as a salesman as being quite diverse. He testified that he
would go out and solicit clients and service existing clients. He was also responsible for new customiers.
He would gather business through marketing groups. Petitioner testified that if a person was closing on a
housé he would sit on the phone for hours reviewing stuff' in the house and value of the home and

evaluating risk.

On 12/9/07 petitioner signed and completed an ergonomtic assessment. The gvaluator

recommended a slight movement of the monitor to stay center of the body.

Lisa Raydant worked for respendent for 20 years. On 7/13/12 Raydant resigned her einploynient
with respondent: Trom 1988-2006 Raydant was a service manager, From 2006-2008 she was assistant
regional service manager in Springiield. From 2008-2012 she was'a branch manager. Raydant was the
manager of ergonomic studies. She was not trained to do ergonomie studies. She just followed the form.
Raydarit performed ergonomic assessments on new employees, fransfer employees, and random studies,
Raydant wds {mmediate sales maager over petitioner, ‘She was aware of petitiorer’s low back issues:

[ Noveniber 2006 petitioner mioved from respondent’s sale office to his home office. In anemail
dated 11/14/06 to-Cheryl Popielarz, petitioner reported that he had measured his home office and had
roughly 266 . of space, which he indicated was very large for his needs, With respect to his-desk, he

reported that he had one that he could use. e indicated that he did noi have a chale similar to the one
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from the office, He wrote that about two vears age respondent had special ordered him an office chair
that was more suited to his height and weight. He questioned whether he could take that one to the
house. Petitioner claims he had troubie with the chair only at his home office, and conveyed that via
email 1o respondent. Respondént sent a fechnician out who fixed the chair, No further emails reparding
this issue were offered into evidence as part of RX4.

Petitioneér festified that he started having problems with his back in mid 2007,

In April.of 2009 Raydant visited petitioner's home. Petitioner told her that he was uncomforiable
and his desk was Iow. She:noted that petitioner is very tall. She stated that the form she followed

indicated that the monitor had to be at oye level and it was not, She also stated that petitioner was twisted

and leaning forward, and the desk was unadjustable. As a result, she got petitioner risers for his-desk and
corrected his monitor level, Raydant testified that she was in petitioner's home another time in 2011 but
did not do an ergonormiic assessment of petitioner:

Raydant'deséribed-._l.ead Days. She testified that representatives are assigned a day of the week to.
wark leads and call the contacts within approximately 15-30 minutes. She testiﬁéd that when réps are
working Lead Days they are essentially-tied to the office, but not their desk, so they could -re;spo‘nd
quickly. She testified that they can go to lunch and have appointments as long as they handled the leads

in a timely manner, Ifa rep did niot respond timely to thrs leads they might be removed from the program.

injury fo his Back ‘whilé playing golf on 5/1/11. Dr. Payne noted that he has known peiitioner for a long
time, dnd-that they used 16 travel fo trap shoots together all over southermn llinojs.. Petitioner complained
of significant pain for the past four months, He reported thaf his pain started gradually and he underwent
chiropractic care that did not result in any-lastihg.improvammna He also complained of pain inlis left
leg. Anx-ray of the lumbar sp'ine that day revealed moderate to severe diffuse degenerafive changes most

prominent at the L4 ~ L5 and 1.5 - 81 levels. Petitioner told Dr. Payne that he' gets sharp pain, nmbness,

and tingling that starts in the buttocks on the feft side, and shoots down the back of the leg over the
hamstrings down 1o the gastrocnerius: He stated that it has radiated to his foot a couple times,
Petitioner gave a history of swinging the golf club and experiencing immediate pain in his back, that has
persisted. He also reporled thdt over the past 48 hours he starfed gelting radiating pain into his left lower

extremity. Dr. Payne asséssed lower back pain and humber radiculopathy. He ordefed an MRIof the

Iumbar spine and an epidural steroid injection for petitioner. An MRIof the lumbar spine performed

11/15/11 reveated multifevel degenerative changes superimposed on multilevel congenitally short
Page:d
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particles. Also noted was resulting severe feft newroforaminial stenosis at L4 — L5, secondary to a left

neural foramina disc extriasion.

G 11/21/12 petitioner presented to Dr. Western c’mmpiaining of painin the left leg following an
injury on 5/1/11 when he twisted his back playing golf, He reported that simply walking hurts his back.
He stated that he was working “somewhat®, On 12/8/11 petitioner underwent an L5 — 81 transforaminal

epidural steroid injection on the feft.

Rachae] Weygant, 4 marketing assistant for respondent, was called as a witness on behalf of
pelitioner, Weygant was Administrative Assistant for Brinkman from October of 2012 through April of
2015, Weygant was trained. in safety assessments. She also did telecourses with Ergonomics Tearn.

Upon completion.of her tratning she became a Safety Specialist, and didwork station assessments per

company policy,. Weygant did a workstation assessment over the phone with petitioner on 4/25/13 that
lasted 15 minutes. She read over each question with petitioner and she noted liis regponses.on the form.
She relied sofely on petitioner's responses to complete the form. She tesiified that had petitioner reported

some prablems with his workstation setup she could have made adjustments because she had tools and

aids at her disposal. Weygant testified that all conditions of the workstation assessment were met based
on petitioner’s responses. She testified that petitioner brought no problems to her attention. Weygant
testified that the completed-forin was sent to petitioner, and his signature is not required on the form, She
testified that petitioner reported no back orleg pain and no problems with his chair, desk or monitor. She
stated that petitioner was always forthcoming with what he needed and stated that be did not need
anything, andif he had sl could have corrected it, Petitioner festified that Weygant's t-:'rgf'anqﬁiic
Jssehsmem iggéd_onl.y 23 mumm&and he mhﬂ her huhaﬂtomxbt foi{h& leftto acwsaﬂw 'é';}iqiputEr, He
testified that he was not in pain.on the day of the ergonomic assessment. Petitioner denied he pot a copy

of the ergonomic assessment. Petitioner testified that he did not know his monitor wés in a bad position.

Petitioner next followed up with Dr. Western on 5/6/13 for evaluation of his back and left leg pain,
Dr. Western noted that petitioner had 1.4 — L5 lateral recess stenosis and L4 ~ L5 foraminal stenosis
secondary to dise bulging, some congenitally shortened pedacles, and degenerative arthritis; Petitioner
reported no new idjuries or issues. He repotted pain in the lateral leg to his knees, that was achy, and
oceasionally sharp. He also complained of buttocks pain and oceasionally getting some numbness all‘the
way dotwn into his foot: He stated that bending, walking, and sitling aggravate him. Petitioner reported
that he has a mostly sit down job, Dr. Western examined petitioner and assessed a high'level of paln. He
took petitionet off work for at least three days before arepeat injection, He prescribed Vicodin. On
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5/9/13 petitioner underwent-4 1.5 — ST transforaminal epidural steroid injection on the left. On SA3N3
petitioner stated that he got no felief from the epidural injection, He complained of pain in the left lower
extremily in the L5 distribution from his knee to his ankle, and burning on.the bottom of his foot. On
physical examination petitioner was more comfortable ina slig’ht%y forward flexed posture. Petitioner had
some decreased sensation in hig lateral lower leg, LS ~ S1, more 51 tiis_ia.’ii:»‘tttim possibly, His straight leg
rajse was positive. A repeat MRI was ordered. Dr. Western started himm on gabapentin, prednisone, and
Flexeril.

On 5/21/13 petitioner underwent a repeat MRI of his lumbar spine. The impression was largely left
posterolateral dise extrusion with inferior migration at 1.2 ~ 1.3, compressing the left L3 nerve root. On.
5/22/13 petitioner returned to Dr. Western whonoted that he had a targe 1.2 ~ 1.3 left paracentral dise
herniation causing lateral recess stenosis. He further noted that the dise material migrates behind the L3
vertebrat bady, Petitioner reported that when he is more active the leg does feel weaker, and he has a
hard time with bowel movements and increased pain with Valsalva maneuvers, Petitioner stated that he

was taking 2 hydrocodone every 6 to 8 hours'and it was only helping minimally. He reported that he fook

himself off the preduisone because it €levated his biood sugars, and was not sure if the flexeril was
working, Followitig an-cxamination Dr. Western's impression was that petitioner had a large L2--L3
disc hernjation on the left side cavising the lateral récess stenosis and that his I3 symptoms appeared to be
affecting some of the lower nerve roots as well, Dr. Western falked about surgery versus a second
epidural injection. Petitioner decided 1o go ahead and -undergol‘a repeat injection. Dr. Western noted: that
if it was unsuccessful in relieving a significant amount of petitioner's. pain, that he would send petitioner
10 a spine sargeon for a surgical evalpation, On 5/23/13 petitioner underwent the left L3 — L4
transforaminal epidural steroid injection, Dr. Weston's postoperative diagnosis was left lower extremity

radiculopathy secondary {o left L2 — L3 disc hérniation with 16ft Tateral recess stenosis.

On 6/4/13 petitioner retirned to Dr. Payne regarding his left side disc herniation at 12~ L3, He
complained of weakness in his quadriceps, a 1ot of pain down the left leg, and numbness and fingling
below the knee. He also complained of veal sharp pain that shioots up in the groin, info the trochanter and
buttocks on the feft side only. Petitioner stated that he had been using Aleve 660 mg, and 2 hydrocodone
in the morning, and another 2 at night. Petitioner stated that he gave up referring soccer, and fook himself
Gf’f‘the_ call schedule forthe fall. Dr, Payne reviewed the MRLihat showed a large dise herniation of the
lefi side at L2~ L3, Pelitioner stated that he wanted to try anti-inflammatories zﬁnd pain medications for

another month, and wanied 10 avoid back surgery, Dr: Payne talked to petitioner about a discectomy at
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1.2 —1.3. Since he was prediabetic, and the oral steroids had been raising his blood sugars, Dr. Payne.

decided to contimite conservative treatment.

Prior to 8/29/13, despite all his treatment for his lunbarspine fo this date. including the discussion
of surgery, petitioner never reported to any healtheare provider that he had any problems with his back

while working,

On 8/29/13 petitioner was assigned Lead Day. He stated that some leads might come in overnight
and the faster he contacted them the better chance of getting the business. Petitioner testified that he
staried between 7:30-8:00 am.that day. He testified that he worked all day at his desk and may have.
potlen up.once ta go to the bathroom. [He claims he was twisted at his desk all day long. He claimed that
he did not have room o1t his desk to move his computer. Petitioner stated he started having pain in his
back early that day, and that it got progressively worsethroughout the day: ‘He testified that he could not

stand up by 3:00 pm when he went fo fetch some paper, He stated that his'l#ft leg and low back were so

‘sore he could not get.up on his ownand had to call his wife'to help him up.

Petitioner did not report his alleged injury to respondent on 8/29/1 3. Petitioner did pot mention it

unti} his daily call to Brittaney, 4t the end of his workdayon 8/30/13. At:the end of the call he stated that
he teld ber that be ot his back at lﬁs desk the day. before. She asked if he wanted to report the injury and
he said yes. Petitioner testified that he staycc:f'iﬁ bed all day Friday and went to the:emergency room on
Saturday-in ‘Marion, Il, where he was because he went _wit}i-h‘is Wi fe to go through her grandma's:
belongings. He stated that shie drove him there while he iai& in the passenger seat. When he could not

sleep that night he testified that he drove himself three miles to the emergency-room.

At the emergency room at Heartland Regional Medical Center in Marion, THinois 9/2/13, petitioner
had complainis of lower back pain, and a history of the same: He reported his onset of symptoms as two
days ago, and stated that the symptoms came on gradually. He reported that his symptoms had increased
fram their onset, and Were focated in his feft lower back. He described his symptoms as dull a aching,
and moderate infensity. Petitioner was given medication and discharged from care in a stable,
satisfactory, and improved condition, He made no mention that these complaints were related to his work
activilies,

On 9/3/13 petitioner returned to Dr. Payne with respect to his back pain. He also hiad complaints of

feft feg weakness. Petitioner reporied a sudden, severe worsening of his pain over the weckend. He

stated that his left anterior thigh was worse than it hdd ever been before. He staled that bie was just sitting;
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at his desk on Friday doing a ot of work on the camputer and when he stood up, he experienced sudden
severe worsening in the left lower extremity radicular pain. Dr. Payne noted that petitioner's pain was in
the same dermatomes that it had been in the past when he had his disc herniafion at L2 ~ L3, Petitioner
stated that this pain was actually worse'and he was having constipation. He stated that he could not stand
up straight, and could not {ind any position that relieved his pain. He reported that he had a couple shots
af Dilaudid and then sw.i_tchad over to some oxycodotie tablets, and his previous hiydrocodons. Dr. Payne
gave him a prescription for Percocet, Flexeril and Colace, He also told petitioner fo continne his Medrol
Dosepak, that he had, Dr. Payne ordered a repeat MRI.

On 9/10/13 petitioner wniderwent a repeat MR of the lumbar spine. The impression ws inferval
worsening of L3 nerve root compression from a Jarge left lateral 1.2 — L3 disc extrusion. Additional
chronic degenerative changes were noted. That'same day petitioner underwent a left L3 ~ L4
transforaminal epidural steroid injection, Di, Western's posioperative diagnosis was large left 1.2 - 13
disc-hernigtion with fusion done on the L3 verfebral body causin o a left lateral récess stenosis and.a ledt
lower extremity radiculopathy.

‘On 9/12/13 petitioner wrote an email to Britney Brinkman stating that "[.delayed my trip down
south in order to aftend to the some issues here athome. If'you have time later this morming we can do
ihe measurements for ergonomic assessment. [ am moving my operation around a little bit because fust
to sit and type this note only serves to aggravate my condition; I will-discuss that with you and we talk

later. Ifyou have time between 930 and one that would be great.™

On 9/12/13-petitioner returned to Dr, Payne. Dr. Payne noted that petitioner’s disc herniation at E2
— L3 was much larger than it had been in the past, and his symptoms weré still severe. Dr. Payne
scheduled petitionér for an L2 - L3 microdiscectomy; Dr. Payne noted that petitioner was diabetic.and
heavyset so there would be 2 3 to- 10% chance of an inifection.

On 9/26/13 Erin Steinacher, an oceupational therapist, completed an ergonomic assessment of the
petitioner’s work place at the request of the-respondent. She found several issues with the peiitioner’s
workplace and opined that it was "fair mitiug", and noted that these issues could lead fo back problems
and increased spinal pressure. Steinbach did not review any of petitioner's medical records. She testified
that anyont can adjust a computer monitor. She did not notice any deftets in the operation of the desk or
chair, ‘She also testified that there was nathing in petitioner's workplace to preclude him from gefting up

or strétehing as needed.
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On /30713 petitioner underwent a laminectomy at L2 = L3 and microdiscectomy at L2 — 1.3
performed by Dy, Payne, Peiitimner‘sprmpemﬁve diagriosis was herniated nucleus pulposus at L2 - 13,
and spinal stenosis at 1.2 ~ L3, Petitioner followed up postopératively with Dr. Payne, This reatment
included physical therapy. On 11/14/13 Dr. Payne noted that petitioner was still getting anterior thigh
symptoms that was a kind of dull pain. He also reported a lot of axial back pain, worse with sitting. He

stated that he.coald oiily sit in a chair for about five minutes. Dr, Payne ordered physieal therapy.
On 12/26/13 petitioner returned to Dr. Payne. He stated that he was still getting axial back pain as
well as his left lower extremity radicular pain. He reported that he was going 1o physical therapy three

times a week., D Payne talked to petitioner about trying to get back to work part-time, Fowever

petitioner stated that his jobis a sales job, and if he-does not make his quotas, he really does not get paid.
So _[;etétécmer stated that he was really not able to go back part-time. Petitioncr reported to Dr. Payne how
his radicular pain started at the end of the day, He reported that he had been at his desk for seven ar eight
hours leaning forward, working af a computer, ete. When he'gol up to leave, be stated that heé was unable
to stand straight and experienced severe pain down the left leg. Petitioner reported that afier that he had a
work space expert come in and help:him with positioning at his desk. Dr. Payne noted that sitting in a

chair, and Ieani'i';g. forward in'a-chair puts some of the highest pressure on dises as far as positions go. He

was of the gpinion that prolonged sitting could be a link to petitioner's dise herniation of the lumbar

spine. ‘He noted however that petitioner had herniations there before-and problems: with his back, but

‘believed that'those had résolved without surgical intervention,

On 1/16/14 petitioner went info work for a while afler receiving 4 new chair and-a new desk, He
stated that after sitting for.a couple hours, all the pain just came rushing back,

On 1/31/14 petitioner filed his Application For Adjustment Of Clain with respectto an alleged date
of accident of 8/23/13, ¢laiming a repetitive trawma injury to his back. Petitioner signed the application
for adjustment of claim on 1/10/14.

On 2/6/14 petitioner remrned to Dr. Payne complaining of worsening pain down the left lower
extremity. He reported that it was down the anterior thi gh into the medial calf. He stated that it does not
always go to the fogt, but sometimes does. He stated that when he got out of his.car last week he had

stch severe sharp pain as he exiled his vehicle that it almost knocked him Lo the ground..
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Dr. Payne had petitioner undergo a repeat MRI of the fumbar spine. He was of the opinion that

petitioner had epidural fibrosis with no evidence of recurrent disc herniation. He referred petitioner to.
Dr. Natla for pain management. Dr. Payne continued petitioner off work.

On 3/7/14 petitioner presented to Dr. Narla for pain management. Petitioner pave 2 history of
fumibat back pain for two years, He stated that he ended up with a severe pain radiating into the left leg in
Algust 2013 and underwent surgery in September 2013, He reported a 50% improvement
postoperatively: Dr, Narla noted that an MR fiom May 2013 showed a left-sided significant dise
herniation at L2 — L3, and a disc bulge at T12~ L1, Dr. Narla noted that petitioner's pain wags mostly the

same as prior fo the operation. Dr. Narla began petitioner on gabapentin.

On 3/12/14 petitioner undersent a Section 12 examination performed by Dr. Timothy Van Fleet, at

the request of respondent, Petitionier provided a history, and Di. Van Fleet performed.a physical

exantination and reviewed notes from Dr. Payne, Dr. Western, and from Memorial Physician Services
Office. He also reviewed an MRI filim dated 2/18/14, and other MRI reports. Petitioner gave a history of

being au insurance producer for respondent. He stated that his pain began in 2011, Petitioner

complained of pain, which he reported was due to sitting for a long period of time in his chair at work. in
2011 petitivner was seen by Dr. Western and underwent some injections. He stated that he was also
treated with ibuprofen and his symptoms improved.  Petitioner reported & recurrence of his back painin

August 2013, He reported that on 8/29/13 he was sitting in his chair at his desk for a long period of time

and when he went fo stand up, he had significant pain across the back and down inlo his left lower
extremity. He nated that the pain was quite substantial. Petitioner wis ultimately seen and treated by Dr.
Payng, who perfarmied a left L2 13 discectomy on9/30/13. Petitionet reported minimal improvepent
in hispain following surgery. He also continued o report difficulties-with pain radiating down into the
left lower extremity. Petitioner stated that he currently takes gabapentin and Flexeril for relief of his

symptoms. He stated that he was unable to. work because he did not feel as though he could sit.

‘Dr. Van Fleet noted that petitioner was morbidly obese. He also noted that petitioner's surgieal
history was consistent with a previous meniscectomy and a lumbar microdiscectomy, Henoted that
petitionier 183 diabetic, but does not smaoke or drink. Dr. Van Fleet noted that petitioner is 64" and
weighs 380 potnds, and his BMI was 46,3, On examination he noted some difficuity with both flexion
and exfension. All other tests were normal. Dr. Van Fleet reviewed the: MRI of petitioner's lumbar spine

dated 2/18/14 which showed no evidence of any focal neurclogic compression, and degenerative disc

signal intensity at the 1.2 - L3 level, Dr, Van Fleet'y diegnosis was that petitioner was morbidly obese -
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and was post [umbar discectomy. Dr. Van Fleet was of the opinion that petitioner's refereeing of high
school soccer games did not have any impaet on his back condition. He was of the apinion that
petitioner's weight hiad every bit fodo with his under]ying condition, and had led fo his difficuliies both-at
worl, as well as away from the workplace, He was of the opinion that petitioner’s weipht ereates a
significant hazard for his lumbar disc spaces, especially with sitting, as this loads his dise spaces more

c¢onsiderably than either standing or Iying-down. He was of the opinion that if petitioner was closer'to dn

ideal body that e would fikely not have the diffieuities that he currently reports. Dr, Van Fleet saw no
changes befween the 11715/11, 5/21/13, and 11727/13 MRJs, Dr. Van Fleet noted that the petitioner had
postsurgical changes which he estimated (o be related to the 829/13 incidens. He believed that
petitioner's need for surgery was related to his morbid obesity and gignificant foading of his disc spaces,
He could nol determine if the petitfoner sustained a fumbar disc prolapse as 4 resultof sitting in his chair
at work. De Van Fleet was of the opinion that his current diapnosis and petitioner's reparted pain for the
lumbar sping was-a résult of the 8/29/13 mneident. However, he was of the opiaion that pefitionsr had
long-standing difficulties with his back, that are not entirely related to his warkplace, but related more
towards his home environment and his morbid obesity. Dr. Van Fleet opined.that petitioner is at 4 greater
likelihood of sustaining an injury to the dise space while attempling (o refgree a soccer game than sitting
at work, Dr, Van Fleet was of the dpinion that since petitioner-is a very large individual, that geiting out
of any chaircertainly can create a situation that is hazardous to. his dise space, buf ot necessarily
mutually exclusive to his workplace.. He was of the opiiion that petitioner is at nisk in a car, out of the

car, sitting around the dianér table, as well as sitfing down at night and relaxing. Dr. Vaa Fleet was of the

opinien that petitioner had reached maximum medical improvement with respect fo his Jow back, and

could retiim to full duty'work with no réstrictions.

On 4/1714 Dr, Van Fleet dratted an addendum report; spécifically addressing the differences
hetween the MRIs on LI715/11, 3/21/13, and 11/27/13. Dr, Van Fleet was of the opinion that the
11715/1 1 MRI showed evidence of dise degeneration at the L4 ~ L5 level with evidence of lateral recess:
sienosisat the L3 ~ L4 fevel, Ue further noted that the L4 — 1,5 lével showed a far lateral dise extrusion
involving the neural foramina en the lefthand side. Dr. Van Ieet was of thie opinion that the MRI flm
dated 3/21/13 of thie lumbar spine showed evidence of dise degeneration at the L4 — 1.5 level, and the far
lateral disc was no longer evident, He was further of the opinion that pétitioner's MRI of 11727413

showed a very farge feft-sided 1.2 — L3 dise extrusion that was not evident on his previous films. The L2

~ 1.3 dise-was protruded posterior to the body of L3 on the 11/27/13 MRI study. Dr. Van Fleet was

[urther of the opinion that the study demonstrated postsurgical changes on: the left side at the £.2 ~ 1.3
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fevel without evidence of any kind of {ocal ‘Ilé'hil‘t}logic'COn}pr&SSién. He was of the opinion that the
inferval surgery was successful in decompressing the lateral recess in the central canal of the L2 ~L3
disc.

- On 4/24/14 petitioner nnderwent a Functional Capacity Evaluation. Petitioner demonsirated the
ability 1o work in the mid range of the medium physical derand level for all Tifis and carries. The
{herapist noted that the position of a Sales Representative at Liberty Mutual is a sedentary position. [t
was noted that while petitioner met the standing and walking requirements required for the position,
deficits in his sitting ability may limit his ability to return to work in this capacily. I was recommended
that petitioner may henefit from a modified stetion, including ability to stand as needed, a higher desk
chair, and/or standing workstation. Prognosis for petitioner's returning to work was guarded, unless
modifications could be made,

On 4/29/14 Dr. Payne gave petitioner permanent restrictions and released him on an as needed
basis. He increased petitioner's gabapentin and continned petitioner-on hydrocodone and Flexeril. He
suggested a stationary bicycle exercise program. Dr. Payne was of the opinion that petitioner i"s' inthe
mid range of medivm physical demand level for all 1ifts-and carries, 21 to 50 pounds. He also was of the.
opinion that petitioner meets the light physical demand level with material handling tasks, limited
seating, Kneelinig, overhead work, and walking. Tle was of the opinion that petitioner may benefit from
modified:work. Dr. Payne released petitioner on an as needed basis. Petitioner continued fo treat with

Dr, Narla.

On 6/19/14 petitioner returned to Dr. Payne stating that his back had been bothering him more
lately. He stated that he was able to sit for around 30 to45 minutes and then has to get up and change
positions and stretch out his back. He reported persistent radicular pain. Following an examination Dr.
Payne was of the opinion that petitioner was as good as he was going to get. Dr. Payne talked with
petitioner about working part-time, maybe four hours a day. Dr. Payne believed that petitioner had
reached maximum medical improvement, and that they should see'if petitioner could get his job back

with some restrictions,

On 6/25/14 the evidence deposition of Dr. Van Fleet, an orthopedic spine surgeon, was taken on
behalf of respondent. Dr. Van Fleet reported that petitiorier told him that he had some back pain
beginning as far back as 2011, He further testified that petitioner told him that he was habitually sitting
for long periods of time in his chair atwork. Dr. Van Fleet noted that petitioner gave him a history that

on 8/29/13 he was sitting in his chair at his desk for a long period of time, and when he went to stand up
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fe had significant pain across the back and dawn the left lower extremity. Dr.. Van Fleel nofed that
petitioner had done extensive rehab of physical therapy and core strengthening, but continued to have
quite a bit of pain on a fairly regular basis. Dr, Van Fleet testified that petitioner gave him a history that
he had prior back prohlems dating back to 2011, and that these complaints were due (o sitting for long
periods of time. Dr, Van Fleef noted that after reviewing petitioner's MRIs that petitioner had evidence off
restiicted range of motion about the lumbar spine which one may anticipate with a nultilevel

degenerative process that pay be symptomatic. Dr. Van Fleet found no signifivant refiex changes or any

nenrofogic deficits.

Dr. Van Fleet opined that the (reatment petitioner had was reasonzble and necessary, He further
Gpined that morbid obesity and a predisposing genetic condition are contributing. factors to lumbar
depenerative dise disease. Dr. Van Fleet opined that the alleged scetdent on 8/29/13 did not contribute in
any fashion to the petitioner's underlying degenerative disc disease. He was of the opinion that that was
an entitely pre-existing condition, Hé was of'the opinion that everyhody sits or stands during the course
of the day, o matter who they are, and if you happen fo have it at work, that is not a contributing factor
because you have to be standing or sitting at.some location. Dr. Van Fleet was of the opinfon that

peiitioner’s getting ow of his chair at wark was the same g8 anybody getiing up from aiy seated position

to d standing position. Dr. Van Fleet opined that petitioner's act of getiing oit of his work chair is
substantially similar 10 an activity that a member of the general public would do. Dr. Van Fleet opined
that petitioner does not have any real structural issue, but rather only subjective pain. Dr. Van Fleet

opined that for anybody with multilevel degenerative disc disease; altering positions between sitting and

standing is fine. Dr. Van Fleet opined that the simple act of sitting in a ehair dees not cause a lumbar. disc
prolapse. He opined that anything can cause a lumbar dise prolapise, and that sitting in a chair would not

cause o lumbar dise prolapse unless there was an inipending dise prolapse already in evolution,

On ctoss-examination Dr, Van Fleet testified that be performs 95% of his Secticn 12 examinations.
for respondent, Dr. Van Fleet opined that he had no issues with any of the opinions of Dr. Payne in the
reports that he read. Dr. Van Fleettestified that he didnot base his opinion ofi ti ergonomic assessment.
e also testified that he had no knowledge regarding petitioner's workstation or his seated position, and.
did not see any functional capacity evaluation. Dr. Van Fleet was of the opinion that if petitioner was in a
sented position leaning forward that could potentially lead to ingreased intradiscal pressure that is seen
with people 1 the upper right or in the seated position, becavse of gravity and body masg. Dr. Van Fleet

was of the opinion that workstations tend 16 be more difficult onindividuals necks than on their lumbar
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spines, He opined that people that have more sedentary type work gre maore prone to cervical disorders,

and people who have more laborious type of jobs iend to have more lumbar related conditions, Dr. Van
Fleet noted that Alf Nachemson's classic study on intrathecal disc space pressures states that [aying down
has the teast intradiscal pressure, standing up has an intermediate intradiscal pressure, and sitting and
lemiing forward with or without weights in'the hands pravides the most atrisk position for the disc spave.
Dr, Van Fleet was of the opinion that prior t0.8/29/13 petitioner did not seek out any surgical opinion
regarding L2 — L3.

On 6/27/14 Dr, Narla was of the opinion that a stimulator would not be of any use in petiticner. He
wag of the op.i;nion that petitioner might be at maXimurn medigai improvement as far os medications are
concerned, Dr, Narla gave petitioner a home exercise program.

On 7/16/14 petitioner filed an amended Application For Adjustment Of Claim with respect fo this
case. Petitioner amended the date of accident from 8/23/13 10 8/29/13, Petitioner signed this Application
on 6/24/14.

On 5/8/14 patitioner fell while going up the stalrs. On 9/11/14 he retumned to Dr. Payne. He
reported that while he was going up the stairs his left leg gave out, he twisted and tried 1o grab the stair
worse than previously,

A MRI.performed 10/3/14 showed multilevel deganemﬁve changes, most severg at 12— L3 with o
large central disc protrusion with subarticular extension causing severe central canal stenosis. Also noted
was muitifeve] moderate to severe neural foraming esicroachment, and mild central canal steriosis at T12
—L1. On 10/7/14 Dy, Payne ordered snother course of physical therapy, On [0/21/14 Dr, Narla
performed a 1.3 = 1.4 foraminal epidural injection with contrast. Petitioner did not receive any relief. On
11/18/14 Dr. Payne discussed operative treatment aliernatives as well as continued observation and
treatment with pain medications. Petitioner stated that he wanted to proceed with surgical intervention,
D, Payne recommended a transforaminal lumbar and her body fusion at L2 = L3,

On 12/22/1 4 petitioner underwent 4 laminectomy at L2, transforaminal lambar interbody fusion
with cage at L2 — L3, posterior fusion at 1.2 - L3, segmental instrimentation at L2 ~ L3, allograft bone,
local autograftbone, and iliac crest aspirate on the left. This procedure was performed by Dr. Payne,
Petitioner's postoperative diagnoses were spinal stenosis at L2 — 1.3, and recurrent herniated nicleus

pulposus at L2 —L.3. Petitioner followed up postoperatively with Dr. Payne. On 1/6/15 Dr: Payne noted
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that-petitioner was back to his baseline level of radioular pain. On 2/3/13 petitioner noted that he had
incrensed his activity and was walking up lo 2 miles o day. He stated that it takes him about 40 minutes
to.walk 2 mriles. Petitioner stated that he could sit for about 30 minutes before he has to get up and
stretch his back and walk dround, On 3/30/13 Dr. Payne wrote a Health Status Form indicating that.
petitioner needed to change positions (rom sitling to standing every 15 minutes, He stated that petitioner

could only work two hours per day.

{On $/12/15 Sarak Boyle, Senior Disability Case Manager II with respondent, drafled g letter to

petitioner's attorney Matthew Rokusek, informing him that petitionerhad been patd a total of $33,126.92

it short-term disabifity payments; from 10/7/13 through 3/30/14,

On 7/15/15 petitiener underwent a second functional capactty evaluation at the request of Dr,
Payne. It was determined that petitioner met the light phiysical demand level for above shoulder lifts and
carries, and the sedentary physical demand level for below the waist 1ifts. It was noted that petitioner's
true Hmitations in sitiing and standing work, and walking abilities may lindit his ability to fully ineet these

physical demand levels fully, Petitioner's prognosis for improving his current abilisies; postural deficits,

refurning to-work full duty, and prior level of functioning were identified as guarded.

Petitioner offered into evidence. two photos of his desk and office at home (P17 and PX18). He
testified that these pictures were taken in 2006, but his desk, chair and office were the same in 2013, The
pietures indicate {hat petitiorier’s chair is in the middle of the desk, with his monitor and keyboard to the

left of his chair on the desk.

Alysha Davis Barth, a 13 year physical therapist, was called as a witness on behalf of petitioner,
Barth works for Advanced Physical Therapy as a physical therapist and hias done 25-30 ergonomic
assessmonts, none for petitioner. She testified that one does.not need to be certified to pérfbr’m.
ergonanmic assessments: She testified thatio be a certified ergonomic assessment specialist she had to be
a medical professional and take conrses. Barth testified that she reviewed photos of pelitigner's
warkstation (PX17, PX1 %i) She assessed that based on these photos that petitioner’s cemptiter
workstation was set 'up on an angle and he would have fo rotate Telt to-use the keyboard and terminal.
She noted that there appeared to be rio feg roont underthe desk to turn the chiall to the left. Shie believed
petitioner w_ouid need to rotate at his trunk. She also testified tha petitioner's chair was away from the
desk because he cotld not get his khées under the desk, andasa resulthe leaned forward to reach the
keyboard. Barth was of the opinien that by sitting in this position when petitioner turned it cansed siress
ins his discs, breaking dowrl the protective siructures of the dises. She was of the opinion that if one sits
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in an awkward position and the protectivé structures of the discs break down the discs can hernigte. She
was of the opinion that this could happen with as little as 20-30 degrees of flexion.
Barth testified that she did not do an ergonomic assessment of petitioner's workstation, and only

met petitioner when he came in her workplace and hired herto do an evaluation. She stated that her

talked to petitioner for about 20 minutes about his job duties. Buarth testified that petitioner told her that
Te sustained a disk herniation @ yvear ago while playing gotf, Barth agreed that many things can cause a
disk herniation including genetics, repetitive trauma, and age. She also testified that any sitting can cause
the breakdown of protectivé structuces in flexed and rotated positions. Barth testified that petitioner

could have moved his computer so that he was not rotated and in.a better position.

Currently, petitioner testified that he has difficulty sitting in any position, standing for mare than a
few minutes, and any walking. Petitioner festified that he does everything with difficulty. He testiffed
that sitting, standing, and walking is painful, and he cannot do his job. Petitioner testified that prior fo his
alleged accident date lie treated with a chiropractor .

Petitioner testified that he never requested a new desk from respondent. He testified that
respondent does not contrel his house or have access to i without _p_f.—':rmissien. Petitioner testified that he.
set up his own Home office and was in charge of ergonomic assessements, and hgd done some himseif.
He testified that he only filled out the form and recorded information. He made ne recommendations,

Petitioner claimed he asked Lisa to have an ergonomic assessment done, but it ngver was;

Petitioner's wife, Mo&i@a‘(}iarrett,; was called as d witness on behalf.of petitioner. She denied that
petitioner had any back problems before 2006, She testified that petitioner looked uncomfbriable at his
heme workstation and could not get his legs under the desk. She testified that he reached over to the desk

and rotated. She admitted that petitioner had back problems before the alleged injury.

Brittany Brinkmann, Senior Territory. Manager, was called as a withess on behall of respondent.
Before 5/25/15 petitioner was Brinkmann's direct report from July of 2012-5725/15 while she was d
Senior Branch Manager, Brinkmann testified that'she was the one who ﬁirec—'te_d Weygant to perform
petitioner's ergonomic assessmeitt, Brinkmany testified (hat from July of 2012 to 8/29/13 petitioner told
her he was getting injections for his béck and his would have 10 get off work for surgery. She lestified
that during this period petitionet never reported any work ijury. She testified that the first she learned of

petitioner's alleged injury was when she came {o trial. She ia&éiiﬁed that petitioner never asked her fora
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fnew désk. She stated that he did not ask for an ergonomic assessiment until after the alleged date of
injury. She testified that at that point Human Resources hand an external vendor, Cascade, take care of it
She testified that if petitioner had requested a new Uesk she could have helped him with that request.

€, DID AN ACCIDENT OCCUR THAT-AROSE OUT UF AND IN THE COURSE OF PETITIONER'S EMPLOYMENT BY
RESPONDENT?

Petitioner is alleging injuries to his lumbar spine due to repetitive work activities that arose sut of
and in the course of her employment by respondent and meanifested itself on §/29713.
As a general r{iiegepeﬂtive traumd cases aré compensable as aceidental injuries dnder the Tllinois
Worker’s Compensation Act; In Peoria County Beiwoed Nursing Home v, Industrial Commission (1987) 113
111.2d 524, 106 11l Dec 235, 505 N.E.2d 1026, the Supreme Court held that “the purpose behind the Workers’

Compensation Act is best servieed by allowing compensation in a cuse ... where dn injury has been shown to be
caused by the performance of the claimant’s job and has developed gradually over a period of time, without
requiring complete dysfunction..” However, it is imperative that the claimant place info evidence specific and
detailed information conceming the petitioner’s work activities, including the frequericy, duration, manner of
performing, ete, It isalso equally imperiant that the medical experts Have a detailed and acetwate understanding:

of the petitioner’s work activities.

Since petitioner is claiming injuries to his lurbde spine, in Ilinois, recovery under the Workers’
Compensation Act is allowed, even though the injury is not {raceable to a spec ific traumatic event, where the
performance of the employee’s work involyes constant or repetitive activity that gradially causes deterioration
of or injury to a body part, assuming it can be medically established that the origin of the injury was the
repetitive stressful activity. Inany particular ease, thére could be more than ene date'on which the injury
“manifested itsel . These dates could be based on oneor more of the following, depending on the facts of the
cage:

1. The date the petitioner first seeks medical attention for the conditiony

2, The dale the petitioner is first informed by a physician that the condition is work related;
3. The date the petitioner is first unable to work as a result of the comdition;
4, The date when the symptoms became more acute:al work;

5. The date that the petitioner first noticed the symptoms ol the condition.
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Petitioner claims 8/29/13 was the daie on which his symptoms became more. acute 4 work when he
could not get up out of his chair at 3:00 pm when he wenl to [efch some paper. Petitioner testified that he
sat at his desk all day, except when he went to use the bathrootn.

The Supreme Court held that compensation can be found in a case where an injury has been shown to be
caused by the performance of the claimant’s job and has developed gradually overa period of time, without
requiring complete dysfunetion. However, it is imperalive that the ¢laimant place into evidence specific and
detailed information concerning the pétitioner’s work activities, including the frequency, duration, manner of
performing, ete. [t is also equally tmportant that the medical experis have a detalled and accurate understanding
of fhe petitioner’s work activities,

in the case at barthe arbitrator finds the pefitioner has failed to place into evidence any specific and
detailed information: copeerning his work activities, including the frequency, dutration, manner of
performing, ete. Most of petitioner's testimony and evidence focused on whether or not sitting ina chair
and twisting could cause the bfe’&kdmm of the protective structures of the spine over time, thus tesulting
in a disc herniation. Petifioner also sperit a fot of time talking about his workstation setup, but did not
spend much time providing evidence concerning his work activities, such as the fréquency, duration and

" manner in which he performed his job.

Petitioner, weighing 380 pounds, 64" talf, and having a BMI index 0f46.3, was a found to be
morbidly obese. Petitioner worked for respondent since 1997, In October of 2006 he moved his office to
his home, At that time respondent indicated that he wanted the chair he had in the office, but declined a
new desk, stating that there was one that carme Wwith the house that he was going to use. Atone point .

petitioner reported that he was having trouble with his chair and a techiician came out and fixed it,

A lot of evidence was offered with respect to the ergonomie assessment of petitioner's home office.
InApril of 2009 petitioner reported that he was uncoszartabie and his éésk was Jow, Asa resull,
Raydait went to petitioner's home, completed an ergonomic assessment, and got rajsers for petitioner's
desk, and corrected his monitor level. ‘Qn 4/25/13 Weygant performed an ergonomic-assessment of
petitioner's warkstation set up with him over the phone. She testified that 1t took-about 15 minuies, and
she read petitioner each question, and noted his responses on the form. Having had petitioner respond
thiat each condition was met, she took no further setion with respect to his workstation, She indicated that
had petitioner indicated that any condition was not met she had the tools to correct-any issues that existed,

All further ergonomic assessments did not occur until after the alleged injury,
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‘Petitioner testified that his work duties were diverse, but spent no time detailing his specific work

duties. As far as his daily work duties were concerned, the only duties he discussed were Lead Days. On
lead days, one agent is assigned to handie all the leads that come in that day. The agentis expected fo
follow-up on the leads within 15-30 minutes. [ the agent did not follow-up in timely manner they risked
being removed from the rotation of Lead Days. Raydant festified that there was no requirement that the
agent handling Lead Day remain at their desk all day, or even remain in their 6ffice, as loug as they
respond 1o the leads ima timely manner.

Petitioner testified that 8/29/13 was his Lead Day. He stated that he sat down at his desk between

7:30-8:00 am, and did not get up.until 3:00 pny, other than to go to the bathroom. Petitiener testified that

when he tried to get up at'3:00 pm to fetch some paper, he could-not get up and his wife had to help him

up. Petitioner provided no details as to how many leads he had 1 follow-up on that day or any other day.
He also provided no details as to what he actually was doing that day while he was at his desk: The
aciual amount of work he processed that day is unknown. T is aiso unknown how often he was working
on his computer of just sitting at his desk, or was talking on the phone. Petitioner also did not testify as
to the time he went to'the bathroom, but offered no credible evidence to sustain a finding that he had any

trouble gelting up out of his chair 1o go to the bathroony that day. Assuch, it is unknown how long

petitioner was actually sitting at desk before he was unable to get up,

In addition to'the failing fo provide any credible evidence as to his diverse duties on 8/29/13,
petitioner failed to offer into evidence any credible evidence as to his diverse duties onany given day.
The petltzcner fatled to offur into evidence with respect to how often he worked af home; how often he
was in the field visiting existing or potential clients; how mam clients he had; how often he was on the
computer cach day; how often he-did papéerwork each eiay, how long he was on the phone each day; bow
fong:he sat at his desk each day; etc. Bottom line is petitioner provided no specific and detailed
information concerning his work activities, including the frequency, duration, or manrier in which he
performed them. Instead petitioner spent most of the time focusing on the fact that he could not get out
of hiis chair on 8/29/13 after working Lead Day, without any specific and detailed information of what he
did on that day er any other day.

The Supreme Court has also held thatit is also equally important that the-medical experis have a

detailed and aceurate undersianding of the petitioner’s work activities, In the case at bar, when petitioner

first sought treatment for his injuries at the emergency room of Heartland Reglonal Medical Center in

Marion, IL on 9/2/13, he teported complaints of lower back pain, and a histary of the same, He reported
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the onset of his symptoms as two days ago, with a gradual onset. e made no mention of an alleged
injury at work on 8/29/13.

Petitioner told Dr. Payne on 9/3/13 that he was just sitting at his desk on Friday doing a lot of work
on the computer, and when he stood up he experienced sudden severe worsening in his preexisting left
Jower exiremity radicular pain. Dr. Payne was of the opinion that petitioner's pain was in the same

dermatones that it had béen in the past when he had his dise herniation of T2-L3.

The arbifrator finds the credible record shows that neither Dr, Payne, Dr. Western, or Dr. Vaan Fleet
had 4 detailed and accurate understanding of petitioner's work activities. At mos, the arbitrator finds the
pétitioner gave a history of sitting at his desk for many hours on.8/29/13 and then had difficulty getting

up from his chair, Petitioner provided no specifics regarding his work duties on a daily basis.

Based onthe above, as well as the credible evidence, the arbitrator finds the petitioner has failed to
prove by a preponderarnice of the credible evidence that he susfained an accidental injury to his Jumbar
spine due to repetitive work activities that arose out of and in the course of his eniployment by reé_po_udcm
and manifested itself on 8/29/13. The arbitrator also finds if significant that pelitioner had sustained a
disc herniation while playing golf on 5/1/11 that never resolved prior to the alleged injury on 8/27/13. In
fact, the credible medical records show that within just 2-3 months of the alleged injury the petitioner had
diagnostic evidence of a. large left posterolateral disc extrusion with inferior migration at L2-1.3,
compressing the lefi L3 nerve root; weakness in his quadriceps; a lot'of pain dowi his left leg; numbness
and tingling below the Knee; real sharp pain shooting up in the groin into the irochanter and buttocks on
the left side; difficulty with bowel movements; increased pain with Valsalva maneuvers; a pattern of
1aking 2 hydrocodone every 6-8 hours that only worked minimally; inability to referce soccer games; as
well as failed conservative treatment and 2 recommendations for possible strgery, that were only being
-delayed because of complications that might arise due to his preexisting diabetes. The arbifrator also
finds it significant that when petitioner got up to go the bathroom at some time during the day on 8/29/13
he had no problems getting up and doing se. Therefore, the arbitrator finds that the petitioner, contrary-to
what he ‘elaimed, was not sitting at his desk for 7 1/2 to 8 hours.on 8/29/13 before being unable to get up

out of his chair when he tried at 3:00 pm,
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F. IS PETLY i(J"ibR § CURRENT (JO"‘«IDH FON OF JLL-BEING CAUSALLY RELATED TO THE INJURY.?

J. WERE THE MFDH‘ AL SERVICES THAT W ERE PROVIDED TO PET ITIONER REASONABLE A AND NECESSARYT HAS
RESPONDENT PALD . &LL APPROPRI. ATE CHARGES FOR AL I, REASONABLE AND NECESS: ARY MEDICAL SERVICES?
L. WHAT TEMPORARY BENEFITS ARE IN DISPUTE?

Having found the petitioner has failed 1o prove by a preponderance of the credible evidence that he
sustained sn aecidental injury to his lurgbar spine due:torepetitive work activities that arose out of and in
the course of his employment by respondent and manifesied itself on 8/29/13, (he arbitrator finds these

remaining issues mootl,
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[ injured Workers Benefit Fund (§4(d))

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
1 6)§ WCC083 9 [ Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))
COUNTY OF COOK ) - [ ] Second Injury Fund (§(e)18)
' X' 'None of the ahove
ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION
Andrew Hufnagl Case # 14 WC 15052
Employee/Petitioner ' ' '
v, Consolidated cases: D/N/A
Village of Alsip__
Employei/Respondent

An dpplication for Adjustment of Claint was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each party: The
matter was heard by the Honorable Molly C. Mason, Arbitrator of the Comunission, in the city of Chicago, on 1/19/16.
After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings on the disputed issues checked below,

and attaches those findings 1o this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES
Al [:] Was Respondent operating under and subject to the lllinois Workers' Compensation or Qccupational Diseases
Act?
. m Was there an employee-employer relationship?
. Did an accident oceur thet arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respoendent?

D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

[X]1s Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being causally relaied to the injury?

1

B
C
L. D What was the date of the accidemt?
E
F

G. D What were Petiffoner's amings?
H. [_:l_What was Petitioner’s age at the time of the accident?
i D What-was Petitioner's marital status-at the time of the accident?

Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent paid all
appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?-

I
K. D Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?
L. What temporary benefits are in.dispute?

lrep [ TMaintenance TTID
M. Shoz,ild penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. @ Is Respondent due any.credit?
0. [ Jother

ik Deci 975 2770 100 1. Randelphr Steet #6-200 Chicago, 15, 60601 3128146011 Toll-free 866/352-3033 Web site: S dvec il gov
Dowssiate offices: Collinsville §]8346.3450 Peoricr 309471-3019° Rociford 815987:7240 Springfleld Z17/785:7084
This forr is & true and exac copy of the current IWUC form ICArbDiec 19(h): a5 Tevised 2/10.
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On the date of the claimed accident, 2/27/14; Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent:

On this date, Petitioner did nof sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment. The Arbitrator:
views the remaining disputed issues as moot and makes no findings as to those jssues,

The parties stipulated Petitioner provided Respondent with timely notice of bis claimed accident, Arb Exh'L.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $146,640.00; the average weekly wage was $2.820.00.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 40 vears of age, married, with 2 children under 18.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $0.00 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and §0.00 for other benefits,
for a total credit-of $0.00.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $21.336.60 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Accident
For the reasons set forth in the attached decision, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner failed to prove he sustained

actidental i m;unt:s that arose out of and in the course of his employment. The Arbitrator views the remaining
disputed issues as moot and makes no findings as to those issues,

RULES REGARDING APPFALS Unless a Petition for Review is filed within 30 days after receipt of this decisiorn, and'a
review is perfected in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the decision of the
-Commission:

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE [f the Commission reviews this award, interest of at the rate set forth on the Notice of
Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below'to the day before the date of payment; however, ifan
employee's appeal results in either no change or.a decrease in this award, interesf shall not accrue..

7y ryam.

Signature of Arblirator Date-

FEB 8 - 2016
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Andrew Hufnagl v. Village of Alsip
14 WC 15052

Arhitrator’s Summary of Disputed Issues

The primary disputed issues.are accident and causation; with Petitioner claiming his
right-sided hernia, diagnosed on March 27, 2014, stemmed from lifting-related paramedic
duties he performed a month eatlier.

Arbitrator’s Findings of Fact

petitioner testified he has worked asa firefighter/paramedic for Respondent for 18 %
years. He has held the rank of lieutenant-for almost 10 years. Since the fall of 2003, he has
held a second joh as a fire science/EMS coordinator, at Moraine Valley Community College. He
described this job as administrative and non-physical in nature.

Petitioner testified he first underwent paramedic training in' 1992, At that point, he
attended a four-month course. After successfuily completing this course, he underwent
additional training at Advocate for one year. He holds a paramedic license and regularly
attends continuing education courses.

Petitioner testified his job duties for Respondent vary widely from routine “well being”
checks and lock-outs to medical emergencies and fires. He has responded to a number of
different calls during his career.

Petitioner testified he began expariencing sporadic dull achingin his. Ieftibw_er guadrant.
in-early 2014, He “blew off” these symptoms at that point and did not seek care. In February
2014, he started experiencing severe acute pain in his _rightinwer giadrant while having sex
with his wife.

petitioner testified his work schedule consisted of 24 hours “on” followed by 48 hours
Uff.” On February 26, 2014, he started a 24-hour shift at 4 AM. He made various calls
throughout February 26™ and into the early morning hours of February 27%. Four of those calls
were of a paramedic nature. Two of the four calls involved the same individual, an obese man
who was well known to the department. Petitioner testified that, at about midnight on
February 26, he and three other paramedics went to this man’s home on Kildare after the man
reported being unable to get into bed, Petitioner testified the man weighed 300 to 350
pounds. He and the three other paramedics had to struggle to lift the man off the floor and get
him Into bed. [Records produced by Respondent in response to Petitioner’s counsel’'s FOIA
requiest include 2 partially redacted report showing that Petitioner respondedto.a call shortly
after midnight on February 27, 2014 with that call involving providing assistance to an invalid.
PX 4.] About four hours later, at 4 AM oni February 27" they responded to a second call at the
same home, after the man called in and reported shortness of breath.. They heiped the man get
into a “stair chair” and down stairs, via a home [ift, and then transferred him to an ambulance.

1
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Petitioner described a “stairchair” as weighing about 35 pounds. it is narrow and can be:
manauvered more easlly in stairwells than a conventional chair.

Petitioner testified he aiso responded toa fire calf during his February 26-27, 2014 shift.
Before responding to that call, he was required to don about 50 pounds of required equipment

within 90 seconds; per department regulations.

‘Under cross-examination, Petitioner acknowledged he did not experience any
symptoms during or immediately after his February 26-27, 2014 shift, He had no difficulty

perfarml_ng his regular job duties after that shift,

Petitioner testif‘ ed he experienced right lower quadrant pain while having sex with his
wife on the evening of February 27, 2014. His 40" birthday fell on that date. He and his wife

joked about the symptoms being related to turning 40.

Petitioner testified he expérienced another episode of "alarming pain” several days
later, again white having sex with his wife.

Patitioner testified he did not have a primary care physician during this time period. On
March 7, 2014, he saw an occupational physiciary Dr; Moisan, for a pre-scheduled examination

for work purposes: Per department regulations, he was required to undergo such an
examination on an annual basis once he turned 40, Petitionertestified he told Dr. Moisan

about both the dull left-sided and acute right-sided symptoms he had been experiencing. The
doctor then examined him. Under cross-examination, Petitioner expressed the belief that Dr.
Moisan “missed” a right-sided hernia during this examination, Petitioner testified that Dr.

Moisan released him to full duty.

PX 3 consists of certified records from Dr. Moisan. The Arbitrator notes that PX 3
contains only 23 pages of records, including some duplicates; despite the fact that the
certification page refers to 82 attached pages. Some of the 23 pages, including a history form,
are dated March 7, 2014 but none set.forth any abdominal/groin examination findings. The
nhistory form reflects that Petitioner complained of abdominal pain but denied any difficulty
with job performance or any i Hness/injury requiring medical attention since the last
examination. The 23 pages include the results of vision/hearing testing and blood work
performad on March 7, 2014 but they do not include the doctor’s history or examination
findings of that date. Petitioner returned to Dr. Moisan on March 18,2013, with Petitioner
voicing no complaints on a history form, but no examination findings are included in the exhibit.

'Me_i'sank He mdmated that, when_he_saw Dr. Morsan, he did not Kknow the cause of his
symptoms,

Petitioner testified that Dr, Moisan referred him to Dr. \!asdekas a general surgeon.
Patitioner testified He saw Dr, Vasdekas on March 27, 2014. A handwritten history bearing that

P
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date reflects that Petitioner was being seen for ” Ja ﬁtcn oﬁpossxb[e hernia, left lower
abdomen” it also reflects that Petitioner complained of intermittent left abdomen pain of six
months’ duration, “excruciating pain at the base of {the] penis before and after sex,” with that
pain starting “approx. one month ago” and a change in bowel habits, The history contains no

mention of work activities or a work-related incident,

On examination, Dr. Vasdekas noted a right inguinal hernia. He recommended that
Petitioner undergo a CT scan and a colonoscopy for his left sided-symptoms and then undergo a
surglca! repair of the hernia. He wrote out a note describing the etiology of the left-sided
abdominal pain as “unclear,” He wrote out a second note prescribing a right inguinal hernia
repair. He did not comment on the eticlogy of the hernia; PX 5a. RX-2.

Under cross-examination, Petitioner acknowledged he did not tell Dr. Vasdekas about
the lifting-related activities he performed on February 26™ and 27, Dr. Vasdekas told him his
hernia was “definitely due to heavy lifting.” Petitioner denied performing heavy lifting at any
time other than when working for Respondent. He is not adept at home repairs and does not
work on his car. '

Petitioner testified that, on March 28, 2014, the day after he learned he would need a
hernia repair, he prepared two documents, including a Form 45 and a “to/from” memo
addressed to his supervisor, Chief Styczynski. Petitioner testified he was fequu'ed to complete
both forms at that time since he was the shift commander. On the Form 45 (PX 1}, hie indicated
he sustained accidents at 00:24 and 04:11 on February 27, 2014 while Isﬁlng/movmg a large,
heavy patient. He described his injury as “abdominal discomfort that has caused pain.” He
indicated he had been diagnosed with a herpia. He acknuw!edged the hernia was “not
immediately felt or noticed” after the lifting. PX1, Inthe'memo, he indicated he Had been
experiencing occasional abdominal pain in late February or early March and-mentioned this.
pain to Dr. Moisan at his annual physical an March 7, 2014. He also described his subsequent
visit to Dr. Vasdekas and the doctor’s surgical recommendation. He wenton to state:

“Icannot point to a specific incident or circumstances that
led to the pain/discomfort. { do not recall having severe
pain during or after a call. After thmkmg about the incidents
that | responded to, one address stood as a potenttai cause
for the hernia. In the very early hours of February 27, 2014
{00:24), we responded to [address omitted by Arbitratar] for
a lift assist. Upon arrival a very large, heavy patient was on
his bedroom floor. He was unable to get into his bed: The
crew lifted the patient up, held him up, untit his bed could
be brought over to him. The patient was dead weight and
offered no assistance. The crew could not phiysically carry
the patientto the bed, so the bed was brought to the patient.
the crew had used a lot of physical effort to assist this citizen.
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On this first Incident, | was on the patient’s left side helping to
{ift him up and off the floor.

Later the same morning (04: 11 hrs.}, the same patient' wanted
to be transported to the hospital, The crew took the patient
out of his bed, placed him in a stair chair and removed him
from the residence. The residence Is too small for a stretcher
to fit into the front door and a backboard will not make it out
the front door. The patient, as before, was not much help.
The crew had to physically exert themselves trying to remove
the patient from the residence.

On the second incident, | assisted the patient from the bed
and | was the person who was manipulating him throughout
his home and down the residence’s chair lift, in our stair chair,

[ am not sure the hernia is directly related to the two incidents.
at Kildare, However, thosé two'i incidents are the only
calls that | can remember having to exert so much energy and
effort. Additionally, the pain/discomfort did become noticeable
shortly after those two calls for assistance.”

FX 2.

Petitioner testified he gave PX 1 and PX 2 to Chief Styczynski on March 28, 2014, The
chief left to make a call. On his return, he directed Petitioner to go home.

Petitioner underwent the'rfecammended abdomen/pelvis CT scan on April 1, 2014, The
scan was essentizlly negative. PX 8. RX 2.

Petitioner testified that, on April 2, 2014, he received a call from Christine Dapper of the
Public Risk Fund. Dapper secured his perm:ssuon to record their conversation. She asked hir a
series of questions which he answered. Petitioner described his testimony as consistent with
the information he provided to Dapper. [Neither party offered any recorded statement into

evidence.]

Petitioner underwent the recommended colonoscopy on April 7, 2014. PX 7. RX 2.

On April 10, 2014, Dr, Vasdekas released Petitioner to resume light duty, with no lifting
over ten pounds. PX 5A.

PX 3 contains a handwritten note dated April 28, 2014, spparently authored by Dr.
Moisan and bearing Petitioner’s name, stating: “it |s possible that lifting caused orcontributed

to his inguinal hernia.”




Q-Dex On-Line .
www.gdex.com ‘

16IWCC06G33

Dr. Vasdekas performed a right inguinal hernia repair at Silver Cross Hospital on April 30,
2014. PX 8. RX 2, The “history and physical recards” section of the hospital records describes
Petitioner’s chief complaint as “right inguinal hernia.” This section also states: “patient states
work related incident.” PX 8, p. 3 0f 99. In his operative report, Dr. Vasdekas diagnosed a
“right inguinal hernia” and deseribed “evident floor weakness.” Hedid not comment on
etiology. PXE, pp. 28-29.

_ On May 15, 2014, Dr. Vasdekas described Petitioner as “progressing well,”” He advised
Petitioner to begin increasing his activity fevel. RX 2.

On June 17, 2014, Dr. Vasdekas noted that Petitioner was starting to increase his activity
level and was still experiencing some discomfort. The doctor noted no abnormalities on
examination, He directed Petitioner to follow up in one month. RX 2,

On July 8, 2014, Dr. Vasdekas noted that Petitioner complained of sharp, right-sided
lower groin pain of one week’s duratien. The doctor noted no abnormalities on examination.
He advised Petitioner to apply ice to the affected area and returnin two weeks. RX 2.

On July 22, 2014, Dr, Vasdekas z;i_e_sc_ﬁbed Petitioner as “doing well” and voicing no
coriplaints. He released Petitioner to full duty as of July 27, 2014, RX 2.

Petitioner testified he returned to Dr. Moisan thereafter, with the doctor approving his
retum to work. Petitioner testified he resumed full duty onAugust 7, 2014, after taking a pre-
scheduled vacation.

At Respondent’s request, Petitioner saw Dr. Palacci for purposes of a Section 12
examination on February 24, 2015, In her report of that date, Dr. Palacci indicated she
reviewed various records, including the operative report and records from Drs. Moisan and
Vasdekas. She recorded the following history:

“IPetitioner] states that on February 27, 2014, he
experienced a sharp 3 out of 10 pain in the right groin
with a burning sensation radiating into the right
scrotum during sexual intercourse. He denied seeing
or feehng an ingul inal bulge. He experienced pccasional
feft lower quadrant pain in the past. He denied any
work injuries or trauma. He denled any nausea or
yomiting. He denied any inguinal pain while lifting at
work prior to and after this incident.”

Dr. Palacei noted that Petitioner denied any current complaints and reported being ableto

perform all work and nonswork activities, On examination, shenoted a well-healed scar of the
right groin with no evidence of bulge or hernia, She described the hemnia repair 83 successful.

5
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Dr. Palacci addressed causation as follows:

“IPetitioner] is a 40-year-old firefighter employed by
the Village of Alsip who reported sharp right groin
pain on February 27, 2014 during sexual intercourse,
He dented any work accidents of injuries. He was
subsequently diagnosed with a right inguinal hernia
and underwent a hernia repairon April 13, 2014,
performed by Dr. Vasdekas . .

Based on review of the medical records, history and
physical exam, Mr. Hufnag! has a diagnosis of a right
inguinal hernia; which was successfully repaired. In

my opinion, given to a reasonable degree of medical
certainty, [Petitioner] did not sustain a work accident,

as he developed pain while at home and denied any
specific work trauma or injury. He has even denied any
inguinal or abdominal pain during work hours, In
addition, none of the treating récords of Dr. Moisan

or Dr. Vasdekas ever document a work-related incident.”

Dr, Palacci further explained that “direct hermas,” such as Patitioner’s, “are acquired and
caused by weakening of the abdominal muscles over time with weakness in the floor of the
inguinal canal. This weakness can'be due to inherent connective tissue abnormalities.in many
cases, although some may occur due to deficiencies in the abdominal musculature resuiting,
from chronic overstretching or injury.or possibly drug effects.”

Referencing the AMA 6™ Edition Guides, and citing the absence of any pa!pabte defect
at the surgical site, Dr. Palacci classified Petitioner's condition as “Class 0.” She ind icated this
class “does not require further adjustment” and accordlngiy rated Petitioner's impairment as
0%, indicating this.“Is typical for a successful hernia repair.” Palaccl Dep Exh 2.

Petitioner testifiad he used his group insurance to pay his medical expenses.

Petitioner dented having hobbies of a physical nature. He is required to stay in good
shape and works out at the fire station. He continues to perform his regular duties for
Respondent. He occasionally notes dull aching on the right side of his abdomen. This achingis
new. He attributes it to the mesh used during the hernia repair. When Dr. Palacci asked him if
he had an accident he said no because he conceives of an-accident as a motor vehicle collision
or other sutden event. Healso denied any traumas when he saw Dr. Palacci. He thinks 6fa
trauma as a gunshot wound, stabbing or other injury requiring a visit to a trauma center.
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Under cross-examination, Petitioner acknowledged he did not report any injury or
accident to Respondernit between his February 26-27, 2014 shift and March 28, 2014. During
that time, he did not think his symptoms were work-related. it was uniy after Dr, Vasdekas
diagnosed a hernia that he concluded the symptoms stemmed from his job with Respondent. It
was at that point that he looked back at his log books to determine which calls had involved
strenuous lifting. He acknowledged it falls to him, since he s a shift commander, to tell
employeas to report work injuries promptly. He believes Dr. Molsan “missed” the hernia on
March 7, 2014. In his view, it would be “sreposterous” to think that sexual activity caused the
hernia. But for his previously scheduled vacation, he would have resumed full duty on July 28,
2014. Other than the oceasional right-sided aching, he has no other physical pmblems
attributable to the hernia. He is not scheduled to. follow up with any physician in connection

with the hemia.

On redirect, Petitioner testified that a “jump bag” weighed 42 pounds as of his February
26-27, 2014 shift, His daughters-are currently 3 and 12 years old. His3- -year-old weighed
between 10 and 15 pounds as of his February26-27, 2014 shift. He did not lose any time from
his second job at Moraine Valley. He obtained Respondent’s okay to continue performing, this
job: Dr. Vasdekas released him to resume full duty as of Suly 27, 2014. [RX 2.] He tooka pre-
plannied vacation thereafter, through August 6, 2014.

Under re-cross, Petitioner acknowledged that neither Dr. Moisan nor Dr, Vasdekas drew
a link between his hernia and any particular call he made while working for Respondent,

‘No witnesses testified on behalf of Respondent at the hearing.

Respondent + offered into evidence Dr. palacet's evidence deposition of August: 25, 2015,
The doctar, an osteopath, testified she obtained board certification In internal medicine in
2005. RX 1 at 6. She was last involved in direct patient care in Decemnber 2013. Asof the
deposition, her practice consisted of performing Social Security disability evaluations. RX1at6-
7. She devotes about one-third of her practice to medical-legal work, RX1at7.

Dr. Palacci testified she reviewed records from Dr. Moisan, Dr. Vasdekas, Silver Cross
Hospital and Palos Community Hospital in connection with her examination of Petitioner. RX 1
at 89. The records reflected a diagnosis of a hernta. RX 1 at 9. Dr. Moisan’s note of March 7,
2014 does not contain any histery of an injury. RX 1 at.9-10. Dr. Vasdekas's initial note of
March 27, 2014 also contains no history of an-injury. RX 1 at 10 In his operative report of April
30, 2014, Dr, Vasdekas noted a “direct inguinal hernia with evidence of floor weakness.” RX 1

at 11,

_ Dr. Palacci testified that none of the records she reviewed indicated that the hernia
stemmed from a work-related accident. RX 1at 12

Dr, Palaccitestified that, on February 24, 2015, Petitioner provided a history of 9/10
pain in his right groin with a burning sensation radiating Into his right scrotum during sexual
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intercourse, Petitioner denied feeling or seeing _any inguinal bulge at that time, Petitioner
demed any work injuries or trauma. Petitioner “even stated that he didn’t have any inguinal
pain even while lifting at work” prior to or afterthis incident. RX 1 at 13. Petrt;oner denied any
nausea or vomiting associated with his groin pain. Such symptoms might give rise to concern
for comiplications associated with hernias. Symptoms associated with hernias can range from a
dull, puliing sensation to sharp pain. ‘Sometimes the pain can radiate into the scrotum. RX 1 at
14. The pain can worsen by the end of a day,. aspecially for people who do a lot of standing or

perform labor. RX 1 at14,

Dr. Palacci found it significant that Petitioner denied experiencing inguinal pain while
working on February 27, 2014, She assumes that, by denying any trauma, Petiticner was
including heavy lifting in his definition of “trauma.” R}(_I at 14-15.

Dr. Palacci testified that Petitioner denied any c:csmpiamts at the time of the
examination. Hé had resumed full duty as a firefighter, RX 1 at 16,

Dr. Palacci testified there are several risk factors for hernias, The only identifiable risk
factor in Petitioner’s case Is that he is a male Caucasian. RX1at 16-17.

Dr. Palaccl opined that Petitioner did indeed have a right inguinal hernia and that the
hernia repair was successful. She found no evidence that the hernia resulted from the work’
activities Petitioner performed on February 27, 2014. She found Petitioner to have reached

maximum medical improvement. RX 13t 18.

Dr. Palacci testified that the operative report described Petitioner as having & ”d:rect
inguinal hernia.” This diagnosts, along with the “operative fi f"ndtngs of a weakened inguinal
canal floor,” told her that Petitioner “probably had some kind of inherent connective tissue
abnormalities that caused weakening of the fibromuscular tissue in the abdominal wall.” RX 1

at 19.

Dr. Palacci testified she performed an impairment rating after examining Petitioner. She
relied on the sixth edition of the AMA Guides in so doing. The diagnosis of a “right inguinal
hernia that was successfully repaired” placed Petitioner in “class zern.” By definition;, a “class
zero is zero percent impairment.”. RX 1 at 26, 28. She found Petitioner’s “functional history
grade modifier” to be zero because Petitioner had no complaints, However, she did not need
to consider this because Petitioner's diagnosis piaced him in class zero. RX 13t 26.

Under cross- -examination, Dr. Palacci testified she reviewed a cover letter from
Respondent’s attorney in addition to medical records. She used the cover letter only asa
general guideline. RX 1at 29-30, She completed her report within a few days of examining
Petitioner. RX 1 at 30. She did not retain her notes. She Has admitting privileges at St. Joseph
Mospital, RX 1 at 31. She Jast treated patients in December 2013. RX 1 at 32. She devotes two
thirds of her current practice to Social Security disability evaluations and one third to medical
legal work. RX 1 at32. About 60 to 80 percent of the medical legal work comes from insurers
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or respondent attorneys. RX 1at 33. She is not sure whether Dr. Vasdekas communicated with
Dr. Moisan. RX 13t 35, She is also not sure about the etiology of Petitioner’s left-sided
complaints. The CT scan showed no evidence of a left-sided hernia. RX 1 at 38. Petitioner told
her he began experiencing pain at the base of the penis while having sex on February 27, 2014,
She put this in her regort. Dr, Vasdekas’s initial note refiects a one-month history of this pain.
RX 1 at 39, Her report does not reflect that she reviewed any recorded statement given by
Petitioner to a claim representative. RX 1at 41-42. Asafi refighter, Petitioner would perform
lifting. RX 1:at 46, She did not ask Petitioner about his specific duties. RX 1 at47. Whether a
hernia is related to firefighting duties depends on the scenario and risk factors. RX 1 at 47, Dr.
Vasdekas was looking for a left-sided condition initially, based on petitioner’s complaints, but
ended up finding a right-sided hernia. RX 1 at 48-49. Not everyone who hasan. mgumaE hernia
notices the hernia immediately. RX 1 3t 49-50. A hernia could possibly stem from strenuaus
activity such as lifting. RX Tat 52. Most hernias result from congenital defects. RX 1at55, She
is not aware of the specific work activities Petitioner engaged in during: the month before his
hernia was diagnosed. RX 1 at 56-57. It is possible that Petitioner’s work activities could have
caused a defect Jeading to the need for hernia surgery but “there arestill a lot of unknowns.”
Petitioner was “evaluated for Gl issues” and maybe had some other gastrointestinal complaints
that could have increased his intra-abdominoanal pressure. RX 1 at 57, The work-activities
cannot be eliminated as a cause but Petitioner denied any mgumai pain during those activities.
Abdominal pain is different from inguinal pain. The abdominal pain Petitioner was experiencing
was oni the opposite side of the hernia. RX 1 at 58-59. She has performed maybe th;rty
examinations of firefighters claiming hernias.. RX 1 at 61. She would not disagree with the
period of time that Petitioner was kept off work following the mesh hernia repair. RX 1 at 62.
She cannot say with absolute certainty that the hernia-was unrefated to Petitioner’s work
activities, RX 1 at 64. A person who undergoes a mesh repair faces a posszh!e risk that the

mesh will separate, causing a recurrence. RX 1 at 64.

On redirect, Dr. Palacci testified she definitely asked Petitioner how he injured himself,
with Petitioner mdscaimg he expenenced asharp pain during sexual intercourse on the night of
February 77", RX 1 at 68. She specifically asked him if he experienced any work injuries or
traumas When he sald no, there was no need for her to press further. RX 1 at'69.

Underre-cross, Dr. Palacci testified it would have been typical for Petitioner to move
large: mdiwduais, using stair cha:rs and stretchers, and maybe fight fires. Petitioner probably
would not identify such activities as traumas. since he routinely performed them. RX1at71.
She did not review the Form 45 or the accident réport in connection with, her examination. RX

1at73.

On further redirect, Dr. Palacci testified that, in light of Petitioner’s history and the
contemporanecus records, the Form 45 and accident report do not prompther to change her
‘opinions. RX 1 at76.

Arbitrator’s Credibility Assessment
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Petitioner’s lieutenant status and lengthy tenure with Respondent weigh in his favor,
credibility-wise.

The Arbitrator does, however; question Petitioner's attempt to link his nght-mded
hernia, diagnosed on March 27, 2014, with lifting activities he perfarmed during & shift a month
earlier. Petitioner testified he (alone and as part of a team) had to lift and carry an obese
individual at two points durmg that shift. Petitioner freely acknowledged, however, that he did
not experlence any symptoms while or shortly after performing thaose activities. He became
symptomatic on the night of February 27, 2014, while having sex with his wife on his 40"
birthday. He next experienced the symptoms, which he: described as “alarming pain,” a few
days later, again during sex. He insisted that it was the work-related lifting of February 26-27,
2014 rather than the sexual activity that caused his symptoms yet, when he refated the
symptoms to Dr. Vasdekas on March 27, 2014, he linked them to sex. The doctor’s note of that
date contains no mention of work, let alone the calls Petitioner made on February 26-27, 2014.
Petitioner testified that Dr, Vasdekas told him his hernia stemmed from heavy lifting but this is
not documented in the doctor's initial note. Rather, it appears to the Arbitrator that it was
Petitioner, rather than‘any physician, who decided to target the lifting he performed on
February 26 and 27th as a cause after learning of the need for surgery that would clearly

resuit in some lost time,

Petitioner testified he provided a recorded statement to a representative of the Public
Risk Fund on Aprll 2,2014. Respondent did not offer a transcript of this statement into
evidence. The Arbitratar would: typically question this but notes that, even if the transcript
reflacted Petitioner told the representative he experienced symptoms while or shortly after
performing lifting on February 26-27, 2014, that would conflict with his sworn testimony.

Arbitrator's Conclusions of Law

Did Petitioner sustain an.accident on February 27, 2014 arising out of and in the course of his
employnent?

Initially, the Arbitrator considers the effect of Section 6(d)(f) of the Act. This section
provides, in relevant part, a5 follows:

“Any condition or impairment of health of an employee
employed as a firefighter, emergency medical technician

{(EMT), or paramedic which results directly or indirectly from
any bloodbornie pathogen, lung or respiratory- disease or
condition, heart or vascular disease or condition, hypertension,
‘fuberculosis, or cancer resulting in any disability (temporary,
permanent, tatai or partial) to the employee shall be rebuttably
presumed to arise out of and in the course of the employee’s
firefighting, ENJT or paramedic employment and, further, shall
be rebuttably presumed to he causally connected to the hazards
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or exposures of the employment. This presumption shall also
apply to any hernia or hearing loss suffered by an employee
emploved as a firefighter, EMT or.paramedic. However, this
presumption shall not apply to any empioyee who has been
employed as a firefighter, EMT or paramedic for less than 5
years at the time he or she files an Application for Adjustment
of Claimi concerning the condition or impairment with the
Hinois Workers" Compensation Commission.”

This section has an obvious application to the instant case. Petitioner alleges a hernia and had
worked as a firefighter/paramedic for more than 5 years as of the date he filed his Application.
The question for the Arbitrator to resolve is whether the presumption in favor of
compensability was successfully rebutted.

The Arbitrator, having found that Petitioner was less than credible as to certain issues,
and having considered the timeline and all of the evidence, finds that the statutory
presumption'was rebutted in this case. In so finding, the Arbitrator relies on the following: 1)
Petitioner’s candid admission that he did not experience any symptoms while or immediately
after performing the tasks he retrospectively targeted as the cause of his hernia; 2) Petitioner's
apparent failure to offer into evidence all of Dr. Maisan’s certified records; 3) the fact that Dr.
Vasdekas’s initial history contains no mention of work, let alone a specific work activity, as the
cause of Petitioner’s complaints; 4) the op-inions_expressed by Respondent’s examiner, Dr.
Palacci.

The Arbitrator has also compared this case with another firefighter hernia case recently
decided by the Commission, Timothy Capua v, Lisle-Woodridge Fire Protection Distriet, 2015 H.
Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 170 {March 9, 2015). The facts of both cases are very similar, with one
significant exception, '

in Capua, as in the instant case, the claimant was symptomatic for a period before being
diagnosed with a hernia and did not report any injury to his employer until after he was
diagnosed and referred to a surgeon. The claimant, like Petitioner, did not link his abdominal
symiptoms to work, let alone any specific work activity, when first evaluated by a physician.

In Capua, the arbitrator found that the claimant failed to establish accident and
causation, The Commission {Tyrrell, Brennan and Lamborn] revérsed, citing the “rebuttable
presumption” language of Section 6 and the claimant’s testimony that “he felt a pain in his
abdomen after pulling [a] 35-foot ladder out of about 5 inches of mud” while fighting a fire.
The Commission characterized this testimony as credible, further neting that the claimant
described his pre-existing abdominal swelling as increasing significantly after he extricated the
ladder from the mud.. It is that credible testimony and sequence of events that are missing:
froim the instant case.

11
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2015 1. Wrk.Comp. LEXIS 37, a case decided by the Commission approximately a year ago.
While Simpson involves a firefighter claiming a myocardial infarction rather than a hernia, it is
instructive because, as in the Instant case, the symptoms manifested after a non-work activity.
in Simpson, the claimant experienced chest pain at home, -after-cleaning his garage and moving
some items. He was dlagnosed with a heart attack shortly thereafter, The arbitrator found the
case comnpensable and awarded permanency benefits. [The arbitrator’s decision is not
available online.] The Commission (Basurto, Mathis and Gore) reversed. [nitially, the
Commission cited the “rebuttable presumption” language of Section 6{f) along with decisions in
which the appellate courts analyzed presumptions arising outside the realm of workers’
compensation. The Commission relied on Franciscan Sisters Health Care Corp. v. Dean, 85 #ll.2d
452(1983) for the proposition that “if a strong presumption arises, the weight of the evidence
brought it in to rebut it must be great.” The Commission went on to say that because the
presumption created by Section 6(f} is statutory, “it requires stronger evidence to overcome.”
The Commission found that the employer suiccessfully rebutted the presumption “by providing
strong evidence through its experts’ opinions, along with Petitioner's own health history, work
history and Petitioner’s own testimony to show there were other causes of Petitioner’s
cardiovascular problems and his condition is not related to his employment as a firefighter.”

“The Commission’s analysis did not end there. Again citing Franciscan Sisters, the
Comrission went on to address the question of whether the claimant “met his burden of
proving by a preponderance of the evidence that his heart attack was related to his
employment.” In other words, the Commission felt compelled to analyze the evidence as it
would in an ordinary case In which no presumption applied, The Commission concluded that
the claimant did not meet this burden since the activity giving rise to the symptoms was
“Sersonal in nature.” The Commission assigned greater weight to the opinions of the claimant’s
expert than to those of the claimant’s.

The Arbitrator, following the Commission’s lead in Simpson, takes her analysis beyond
the confines of Section 6(f) and finds that Petitioner failed to prove; by a preponderance of the
evidence, that his hernia stemmed fram any work activities performed during his February. 26-
27 shift. A classic “chain of events” analysis is inapplicable since Petitioner denied experiencing
symptoms while or immediately after performing those activities. The treatment records do
not contain mention of those activities. Instead, they coincide with Petitioner’s sworn
testimony that he experienced the symptoms during sexual activity, Petitioner did not offer
any medical opinion, to a degree of reasonable certainty, that the activities he performed on
February 26-27, 2014 were a cause of'hishe;friia. Dr. Meisan merely opined that it was possible

that non-specific lifting could have caused or contributed to the hernia, Simitarly, Dr. Palacci
conceded merely that it was possible Petitioner's work activities could have contributed to the
development of the hernia.

The Arbitrator, having fouﬂdlthat Petitioner failed to prove a compensable work
accident, views the remaining disputed issues as moot and makes no findings as to those issues.

Compensation is denied.

12
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )i j V @ Affirm and adopi | D Injured Workers' Benefi Fund {Mgd}}
| | )SS. | ] Affirm with changes [T Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))
COUNTY OF KANE ) D Reverse [j Second Injury Fund (§8{2)18)
| U] pTD/Fatal denied
D Modify . % WNope of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION
John Marsh,
Petitioner, 1 6 I w C C 0 5 9 3
Vs NO: 14 WC 18122

G & D Integrated,

Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under $19(b) having been filed by the Respondent hervein
and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of medical expenses,
temporary total disability and being advised of the facts and law, affirms and-adopts the Decision
of the Arbitrator, which is“attached hereto and made a part hereof, The Commission further
remands this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedings for a determination of a further
amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for permanent disability, if any,
pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Commission, 78 111.2d 327, 399 N.E.2d 1322, 35 M Dec. 794
(1980},

1T IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decisin of the
Arbitrator filed December 4, 2015 is hereby affirmed and adopted.

1T IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further'proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons tg the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a writter request, or after the time of completion of any judicial
proceedings; if such a:written request has been filed.
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, ifany.

IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Rﬁapoudent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $13,800,00. The party commencing the proceadings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court,

DATED: SEP 15 2016 e £ \;J.-“
KWL/vE Kennw Lamhﬂén
0-9/12/16
47

Michad] J. Brenniarl
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) E] Injured Workers™ Begefit Fund (§4(d))
IS5, {:] Rate Adjustment Fand (i§8(g}‘;}_
COUNTY.OF KANE ) [ Second Injury Fund (§8(6)18)

None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

v 18IWCC0OHB93

JOHN MARSH Case # 14 WC 18122
Empiuyes/Petilipnar '

v, Consolidated cases:
G&D INTEGRATED

Fmployer/Respendent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this mattér, and a Nofice of Hearing was mailed to gach

party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Brian Cronin, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of

Geneva, on July 18, 2015, After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes

findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document,

PISPUTED ISSUES

A. [ ] Was Respondent operating underand subjéct to the Tllinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

B. ] Was there an employes-emplayer relationship?

€. [ ] Did an accideént occur that arose out of and in'the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?

0. [} What was the date of the accident?

E. [} Was timely. notice of the accident given to Respondent?

. [X] Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to'the injury?

G. ] What were Petitioner's eamnings?

H. [] What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

1. [ ] What was Petitioner's marital status at the fime of the accident?

1. [ ]Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. [X] is Petitioner entitled to-any prospective medical care?

L. [X] What temporary benefits are in dispute?
C]TPD [ Maintenance BATTD

M. [ ] Should penatties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

N. m_'ls Respondent due any cradit?

0. [:! Qther

ToArEDes 9by 210 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814.6611 Trll-fres 886;352-3033  Weh sife: worw.hwoe Kpoy
Downstaie offces:” Collinsville 6 18/346-3350  Peorin J09/071-3018  Rockford 815/987-7292 Springficld 27777857084
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On April 2, 2014, Responderit was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act,

FINDINGS

On this date, an'e_mpibyeewemp}oyer relationship did exist between Pefifioner and Respondest.

On t}ﬁs'_dgée_, _?e;ti_i;i_fiiie:; did-_'_su:_sftéin'_an a:cﬁéident that arose out of and in the course of employment

Timely notice of thi_s‘;accid_ent was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner eamed $33,819.76; the average weekly wage was $650.38.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 30 years of age, single with 3 dependent childrer.

Respondent fias paid ali reasonabl‘e and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary. medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $14,593.25 for TTD, $0. 00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenaace, and $0.00
for other benefits, for a total credit of $14 593 25,

ORDER

Prospective Medical Benefits

Respondeat shall authonze and pay for Petitioner’s iei’t I{nee surgery, as recommended by Dr. Jascm Hurbanek,

in accordance with Sr—:ction S(a) at:d subject to-Section 82..

l' cmnorarv T‘oml Disabmtv & Clalmed Ovemavment

Respondent shall pay Petltloner temporm-y total dlsabﬂlt} bf:neﬁts of 5433 59 from Apr!l 18, 2014 through
July 16,2015, ot 65-2/7 weeks, as provided by Section 8(b) of the Act. Respondent is enntle:d to.a credit for
TTD benefits prev: ously pmd in thc amraunt Df $14 593 25 Basad on the forecom 0. TTD ovcrpayment
was made. .

Itro mstance Shall ﬂllS award be a bar fo subsequent hearing and detenmnatron of zm addmcmﬂ amoum of
medical beneﬁts or compensation for a temporary o permanent dlsabihty, if any

RUI ES REGARDING: APPEALS Unless a party files.a Petition for Review within 30 da;y s after mee;pt af thxs
decision, and pérfects a review m accordance with the Act and Rulas then this decision shall be cntaz:ed as the
decxswn of the Commlssmn :

STATEMENT aFmrEREST RATE If the. Comimission reviews this award, interest at the rate seét forth.on thie Natzce
of Deczsmn of Arbitrator shall accrue from the. date listed below to the day before the data of payment;
however, if an empioyce 8 appeal resUe{ther no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not

3.{30['[16
‘. - 7 . i
I A AT S . December3 2615
Signatare of Atbitrator _ K Date
ICABDec 9B}
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No. 14 WC18122

John Marsh,

Petitioner,

¥,

G&D Integrated,

Res pondent;

FINDINGS OF FACT .

Petitioner testified that on Apml 2, 2014, he was Wor}qng for Respoﬁdent as a

D}esai Techiician, This job required him 1o dnve in his service vehicle site to site fo

repalr trucks. On this day Pefitioner testified, as. hie was climbing into the back of the

service vehicle, he felt a pop in his left knee. There were two rungs of stairs on each side

and just one handle. He had to grab the handle and twist himself info the vehicle. He:

“was, not sure:if he bumped the kne¢ on the back deck or Lf it just popped on 1ts nwn '

Aﬁer he. fﬁ:l’c the. pop, P{:lmoner contmued e felt a 2’ real%y warm ﬁiz.?'y pam

, Aﬁer he fc[t the symptoms in h:s leh knec ihat d;:wg ?etltmner saw Res;mnécnt* ;
Safc:iv Ofﬁcer who was at the location: The Safety Oﬂiwr told Petitioner to. contact his
Superwsor Petmoner then contacted.. his Stpervisor who- directed. him: to a man: in.
Human Resnurcas The HR man- tistructed Pefitioner to- 20 to (}ccupanonal Health m
Awora Whl{:h 15 afﬁhated With Msrcy Hespl‘(al .

_ On Aprﬂ 2 2014 Pettt]oner presented to - Chaﬂes G Wocdward M D at
~ Presefice Maxcjy Medwal Center Dr. Woodwatd recorded the. following H[STORY oF
PRESENT ILLNESS: |

John relate; that this mommg he was clzmbmg from one partion qf- his fruck. 1‘0 the thé%f}
heard and ﬁeE‘! a pop on the left knee. He has had some mild- but increasing pain in the:
last few days. This is a considerable. increase in pain, He relates that slandmg with the
knee fully exfended is not parﬁfui but that any Bz alkmg does érwg on same pam amz‘ thaf"
al:mbmg is: very parr fuf (RX 5) . :

U pcm axmunahon Dr Woodward ncateci swelhng over 1ihe left tibial mbercie that_
is vsry tender to tolich and palpahon The X-rays” ‘revealed sequela of Osgood»Schlatter
discase The doctor :denﬁﬁs:d a small piece of' dctachcd hone measuring approximately 1
cm. by 8 mm,, easily’ visible on the lateral ¥iew from the tibial fubercle. Clinically, he
opmed this’ piece of bcma possibly has detached recently and may be the source of John's
pait; at this time it seemy that a small piece hds broken off Dr. Woodward relaased

Petltloner to hght—duty work. (RT?{ 5)




' . -Dex On-Line

16IWCCO593

On April 15,2014, Peiitioner treated with Robert T. Semba, MD at Parkview
Orthopaedic ‘Group (“Parkview”). He complained of Jeft knee. catching, locking, and
giving way. He had difticulty walking, a significant limp. and moderate effusion: Dr.
Semba’s initial assessment was possible ACL tear or medial meniscal tear. Dr. Semba
ordered an MRI scan. Petitioner refused medication. Petitioner was kept off work for the '
first time. (PX 1)

On April 24, 2014, Petitioner underwent an’' MRI on his left knee. The MRI
showed a subcortical cyst involving the antertor tibia with surrotinding marrow edema at
the level of the patellar fendon. Henry J. Fuentes, M.D., saw Petitioner that day at
Parkview and recommended physical therapy: (PX 1)

On April 29, 2014, Petitioner returned to Dr. Semba, who felt that the MRI
showed tibial plateau bone bruising. Petitioner's pain increased with vigorous walking or
stairs. Dr. Semba recommended more physical therapy. Petitioner was kept off work.
(PX 1}

On May 8; 2014, Petitioner began physical therapy at Parkview. The plan was
nine visits over three weeks. (PX'1)

On May 22, 2014, Petitioner sought a.second opxmon at Hinsdale Orthopaedics
from Jason Hur“i}anck M.D. He complained to the doctor of pain in the medial and lateral
left knee, 6/10 in severity. He reported that the knee felt unstable and buckled. -He was
wearing a knee sleeve. Dr. Hurbanek reviewed the left knee MR and noted the pre:sence
of some signal ‘at the anterior tibial tubercle. Dr. HurbaneL diagnosed Petitioner with a -
left kneé patellar tendon sirain. Conservative treatment was récomniended along with
physical therapy. - Naproxen was prescribed; Petitioner was kept off work, (PX 2) '

On July 17,2014, Petitioner returned to Dr. Hurbanek and complained of dull,
sharp pain. His knee pain increased with-therapy and using stairs. Swelling at the hbiai
tubercle was noted: with tenderness. - The MRI was réviewed -again, Dr. Hurbanek’s
assessment was left tibial tubercle pain. A corticosteroid injection was given for
diagnostic and therapeittic purposes. Dr, Hurbanek noted that; if the injection failed, he
would recommend an open excision of the ossicles at the tibial tubercle with a small
patellar tendon tepair.  Physical therapy was continued. ?emmner WS, kept off work.
(PX2)

On August 21, 2014, Petitioner returned to Dr, Hurbanek and reported that the
corticosteroid mjectmn relieved his pain for about five days. He bad two hours of instant
relief. Dr. Hurbanek recommended: surgical removal of the tibial tubercle ossicles.
Petitioner. elected to proceed. Dr. Hurbanek kept him off work afid sought workman's
compensation approval. (PX 2)

On August 28, 2014, Coventry sought a utilization review by William Hagemann,
M.D., a board-certified orthopedic surgeon. Dr. Hagemann determined that based on the
chmcal information submitted for this review and using evidence-based, peer-reviewed




O-Dex On-Line
www.qdex.com

16IWCCO0593

suidelines, this request.is non-certified. Dr. Hagemann apparently non-certified the
surgery die to a lack of documentation as to whether the patient “recefved the diagnostic
cortisone injection. and additional therapy.” Dr. Hagemann also non-cartified the surgery
becaysé the “medical necessity for an open tibial fubercle debridement as opposed to an
arthroscopic procedure has not been established.” (RX 2}

On September 19, 2014, Petitioner returiied to Dr. Hurbanek and reported knee
pain at 6/10. Dr. Hurbanek again explained that his symptoms are secondary to his tibial
tubercle bone spurs and that he would benefit from the removal of those ossicles with
partial patellar tendon repair. He was kept off work until surgery completion. (PX 2)

On Qctober 27, 2014, Petitioner underwent a Section 12 -examination by Dr.
Kevin Walsh with DuPage Medical Group. . He found that Petitioner was tender 1o
palpation at the tibial tubercle with a slight prominence due to his old Osgood-Schlatter
disease. Dr. Walsh further found Dr. Hurbanek’s surgical recommendafion to be
reasonable. However, Dr, Walsh opined that Petitioner’s condition is causally related to
the pre-existing condition and was not caused by the work injury. Dr. Walsh further
opined: : '

Certainly, dim’bfng in and out of a service truck, per se; does not cause an ununited tibial
tybercle ossicle 1o necessarily become symptomatic. If the patignt does go-on to have
surgery, more likely than not, it is.for the pre-existing congdition which never fully umited
at the time of the skeletal maturity, rendering the patieni susceptible. fo pain and
discomfort. The work event did not cause the ununited tibial tubercle ossicle, noris it at’
all Tikely 10 have aggravated of accelerated the tibial tubercle wnumited fragment. The
patient.simply developed pain and discomfori while in the workplace due to his ununited
tibial tubercle ossicle. There is no, causal relationship bétween the patient's proposed
surgery and the work event. (RX 1)

- Dr Wa]_éh placed Fati’tiéner at MMI for any 'Wor}c-irijmy; released him toreturt to
work as tolerated and found his prognosis to be fair. (RX 1) o :

Petitioner téstified that he spent five to six inirutes with Dr. Walsh.

On July 16, 2013, Petitioner festified that he continues to experience pain and
discomfort in the amterior part of his left knee below the kneecap, especially when
climbing stairs ot squaiting. Petitioner denied any prior medical Areatment for his left
knee.” However, Petitioner testified that about a week or week and 4 half* before the
accident, his left knee was a Jittle sore. He attributed such soreness to climbing in and
out of the truck 50-80 times a day fo, retrieve parts and (ools, Petitioner testified that
before the accident, he did not treat ‘for and was not diagnosed with Qsgood Schlatter
disease, Petitioner also testified that he wants to proceed with surgery that Dy Hurbanek
has prescribed for his left knee. '
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In suppert of his decision with regard to issue (F} “Is Petitioner’s current condition
of ill-being causally related to the injury?”, the Arbitrator finds the following:

When an employee with a pre-existing condition is injured in the course of his
employment, serious questions are raised about the genesis of the injury and the resulting
disability. The Cormission must dec¢ide whether there was an accidental injury which
arose out of the employment, whether the accidental injury aggravated or accelerated the
pre-existing condition or whether the pre-existing condition alene was the cause of the
injury. Generally, these will be factual questions to be resolved by the Commission.
However, the Commission’s decision must be supported by the record and not based on
mere. specilation or conjecture. . If there is an adequate basis for finding that an
occupational activily aggravated or accelerated a pre-existing -condition, and, ‘a:heraby,
caused the disability, the Commission’s award of compensation must be confirmed.
Sisbro, Inc. v. Indus. Comm’n, 207 TiL.2d 193, 797 N.E.2d 665 (2003)

Claimant in Sisbro, who had a history of Type II diabetes, stepped down-out of a
truck and into a pothole and twisted his right ankle while working for respondent. As a
result, claimant experienced pain and slight swelling in the ankle, which resolved within
da few days. Eleven days post-accident, claimant visited his podmtnst Dr. Reed; for
preventative foot care in relation to his diabetes. Claimant had o pain or swelling in the
right ankle at that time, but reported the injury to Dr: Reed, who advised claimant to
notify him if his condition’ changed: Over the next few weeks, claimant’s ankle began fo
swell repeatedly and would not resolve. Soon thereafter, claimant was diagnosed with
Charcot osteoarthropathy and was. ordered to stay off the foot. In support of claimant’s
claim, Dr. Reed testified that based on # reasonable degree of medical cerlainty, the
trauma that inftiated the onset of Charcot in claimant's ng,ht ankle was the work-related,
puth&lcdwzstmg injury.

ln the case at bar, it 13 true t]:z&t Peutmner chd not present any expert opinion that
his current condition of ill-being of his left knee, which was symptomatic as many as 7-
10 days prior to the April 2, 2014 aceident, is causally related to such aceident.

claimant d;d 1ot treat for his tw:tsted ankie on the date of awidem, and hIS sympioms
resolved afier a few days. ‘Subsequently; 2-3 weeks after the accident, claimant’s ankle-
began to swell repeatedly and would not resolve.

In the case at bar, Petitioner treated for his left knee symptoms at a clinic to which:
Respondent sent him on the date of accident. Dr. Woodward, who 1is assomated with.
such clinie, wrote that Petitioner heard and felt a pop on his left knee that morning while
climbing from one portion of his truck to the other. e also wrote that Petitioner has had
some mild increasing pain in the knee the last few days but that this is 4 considerable
in¢rease in pain. Dr, Woodward noted that x-rays of the left knee reveal a small piece of

4.
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bone that detached recently and opined that this may be the source of Petmener § pain.
Dr. Woodward's impression was a fracture of the left tibial tubercle. Petitioner has
ezpeﬂenced consistent complaints of left knee pain and swelling since the accident.
Petitionér is seeking surgery to remove the bony fragment that Dr. Woodward identified
on the date of accident.

Prior 40 the accident, Petitioner: was able to perfonm the full duties of a Diesel
Technician for Respondent. Following the. dccident, Petitioner was released 10 light-duty
work by Dr. Woodward -and was subsequeﬁﬂy taken off work completely by his other
treating physicians.

The Arbitrator notes that there is no evidence of any prior medical treatment to
the left knee.

A chain of events which demonstrates a previous condition of good health, an
accident, and a subsequent injury resulting in disability may be sufficient. circumstantial
evidence to prove a causal nexus between the accident and the f:rnployee & injury.
Entumatmnal Harvasterv Indus Cmnm n, 9311, 2d 59, 63~64 (19823

Dr. Walsh opmeEd that’ Px,tltgone}: 5 current condition of ill- bemg is rclated iy his

pre-existing Osgood“%chlatter Disease. Although Osgoodﬁchlattcr Disease usually

resolves with adulthood, Dr. Walsh opined, patients will occasionally developan
ununited txi:ual tabercle Bssicle fmm the: old OSﬂvoad-Schi&ﬁer Disease, As Df. Walsh
noted, Petitioner's present {ibial pain is due to a symptomatic.ununited tibial tiberele
ossiclé from his {)sgoad~8chiatter Discase, Hc further ﬂpmed thiat the work i injury-did
not cause the ununited tibial tubercle ossiele nor did it in all likelihood aggmvate or
accelerate ﬁm tlblal mbemie unumted ﬁagmcnt ' :

Responﬁent dof:s not dtspuie that ‘on Apnl 2 2014 Pcﬂtmner suatamed an

o acc:ldcni that arese-out of and in the cotrse of his employment: Dr. Walsh-opined thatthe

surgery. Dy, Hurbanek. has. prescnbed is. 4 reasonable ireatment option. Although
Respondent: chbpuics causation; they. do not offer an. alterriative dmgnasm Dr. -Walsh
opined that Petifioner hag a symptomattu ununited leff tibidl tubercle ossicle and that he
simply dev eloped pain and- discomifort while in the’ workpiace due to such osswie Dr.
Walsh’s opinion suggests that At was c:omuden‘tai that Petitioner’s unumiect Teft tlbiai
{ubercle ossicle became: symptomanc while he was chmbmn and twisting to get up on the
service \rehicie and “heard and felta pop on his 1eft knee.”

When workers’ physma.i structures, d1seascd or not, gwc. way under the stress of
their uswal tasks, the law views it as an accident arising out of and in the course of
employment. General Electric Co, v Indus. Commi'n, 89 T11.2d 432, 434, 60 TlLDec. 629,
433 N.E:2d 671 (1982) - :
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Accidental injury need not be the sole causative factor, or even the primary
causative. factor, as long as it was & causative factor in the résulting condition of ili-being.
Rock Road Construction v, Indus. Comm’n, 37 1i2d 123, 127, 227 N.E.2d 65 (1967)

- Petitioner’s testimony is consistent with the h%stofies of present jllness, as
recorded by Petitioner’s treating physicians, The Arbitrator finds Petitioner to be
credible,

The Arbitrator finds the treating records, particularly RX 5, and the testimony of
Petitioner to be more persuasive than the opinions of Dr. Walsh, The Arbitrator finds
that on April 2, 2014, Petitioner sustained an accident to his left leg that aggravated his
pre-existing condition. of ill-being.

Based on the facts and the law, the Arbitrator finds- that Petifioner’s current
condition of ill-being is causally related fo the accident of April 2, 2014,

In support of his decision with regard to issue (K) “Is Petitioner entitled to any
prospective medical careé?”, the Arbitrator finds the following:

Dr; Jason Hurbanck has recommended surgical excision of the ossicle with partial
patellar iendon repair, As explamcd abeve, this condition was rendered symptomatic asa
result of Petitioner’s work ifjury, Petitioner testified. that he wishes to proceed with the
recommended surgery,

As the Arbitrator has found for Petitioner on the issue of causation, he finds that
the surgery Dr, Hurbanek has recommended is reasonable, necessary and related to the
aceident of April 2, 2014.

.. Therefore, the Arbitrator finds that Respondent shall authorize and pay for such
surgety, in accordance with Section 8(a) and qubject to Section 8.2 of the Act.

In support of his decision with regard to issues (L) “What temporary benefits are in
dispute? TTD” and (0) “TTD Overpayment,” the Arbitrator finds the following:

Since September 19, 2014, Dr. Jason Hurbanek has kept Petitioner off work until
surgery, which has not yet oceurred. (PX 2) Respondent made TTD payments to
Pefitioner until November 1, 2014, the date of Dr: Walshs Section 12 report. Petitioner
testified that he last:reccived a TTD payment ot November 18, 2014. Petitioner testified
that his 5ympioms have Qraduaily incréased since his Section 12 examination and that he
has not worked..

Given his findings and conclusions on the issue of causation, the Arbitrator finds
that Petitioner is entitied to TTD benefits from April 16, 2014 through July 16, 2015,
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Respondent is entitled fo a credit in the amount of $14,593.25 for TTD benefits
previously paid.

The. Arbitrator finds that there is mo TTD overpayment lo date, given his findings
and conclusions on 1ssue (L)
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt-(no changes) D [njured Workers” Bencfit Fund (§4(d)
_ . ) 88 D Affirm with changes D;Rm Adiustment Fund (§8(g)
COUNTY OF COOK ) || Setond tijury Fund (§8(c)18)
[ Reverse L] PTDFaral denied
EJ Modify dowal @ Nong'ol the above
REFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ANDRZE] PAWINSKI,
Petitioner,
vs. NO: 13 WC 41281
- 16I1WCC0623
Respondent, i W RS 3

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issue(s) of nature and extent of Petitioner’s
pernanent partial d:sabmty, anid being advised of the facts and law, modifies the Decision of the
Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise affirms and ddopts the Decision’of the Arbitrator, which
15 attached hereto and made a part hereof.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Petitioner Has worked for AT&T for 14.5 years asa lines person placing cable, carrying
Tadders, working off ladders, working off climbing hooks, and ¢limbing and placing poles, '
{Testinony p. 12) On March 11, 2012, he was working-on the west side of Chicago. During that
time, stmeone told him a line was down, In aneffort to see which ling was down, he went into a
gangway. {Testimony p. ¥3) In the gangway, hewas attacked and beaten unconseious.
(Testimony p. 13-14) '

Petitioner came under the care of Dr. Nirav Shah for treatment of his right shoulder and
left leg: Dr. Shah treated his shoulder and left knee between July 16, 2012, and May 13, 2013.
(Testimony p. 15) On August 28, 2012, Dr. Shaw performed surgery on h1s right shoulder:
(Testimony p. 16) After surgery Petitioner went to physical therapy. (Testimaony p. 16) Dr. Shah
performed left knee surgery on February 12, 2013, (Testimony p.-17) After knee surgery he went
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hack to Accelerated Rehab through May 10, 2013. Thereafter, he returned to work as a {ine

person, (Testimony p. 19)

Petitioner testified that his right arm is shorter than his left, and he cannot raise it beyond
2/3 10 3/4 of the way up compared with the left. (Testimony p. 24) Somefimes three of his fingers
o nunib ~ the litile, ring, and middle. 1 he gets symptoms where hie gets numbness in his
shoulder and pinching pain and he'll take over-the-counter medication like Bayer aspirin,
(Testimony p. 25) After a hard day of climbing at work, off the hooks, he feels pain in his
knee for which hetakes over-the-counter Bayer aspirin and ices it after vwork, {Testimony
p- 26)

For his psychological state, the doctors help hirm with the medication, but there are
certain-pérts or certain areas where they try to send him to work and he fells his boss he doesn’t
feel comfortable. (Testimopy p. 27) If he’s told he has no choice and goes there, he’s deathly
afraid. He shakes atid sweats shen he goes into those areas, and he just looks around and looks
behind his back all-of the time and he ¢an’t concentrate on his job, He notified his job that that
happens and said he would like not fo go in those areas because of what happened 1o him.
(Testimony p. 28):

ANALYSIS

_ _ o determining an award of PPD, the- Commission shall hase its determination on the
following:

1) A PP impairment report prepared by a physician licensed to practice medical in
| all of its branches: _
it} The occupation of the injured employee;

iii)  Thedge of the employee at the time of the injury;
iv) The employee’s future eaming capacity; and
v) Fvidence of disabitity corroborated by the treating medical records,

 Respondent sent Petitioner for an AMA impairment rating, The physician, Dr, Karlsson,
found a Class 0. impairment regarding Petitioner’s leg, and found a Class I impairinent of the
right shoulder and gave Pétitioner a corresponding impairment rating of 4% loss of man az a
whole. (Resporident Exhibit 1) In considering the temaining factors; Petitioner was only 30 years
old at the time of the accident, with several more working years ahead of him. He was working'
in d physically demanding job as 2 cable splicer when he was assaulted and knocked
unconscious. He is currently working as a line man; which per Pefitionet’s testimony, may be
even more physically demanding. (Transeript p. 12) Petitioner’s medical records corroborated
his injuries and he was consistent with hig complaints throughout his treatment. Additionally,
Petitioner appeared to he a compliant patient: Although Pefitioner was released MMI to full-
duty. he complains of some residual issues to his shoulder and knee. (Transcript pgs. 25-26)

Based on the entire record before the Commission, and our ana}_y$is of the statutory
fa_r;t:o_r‘s in assessing permanent partia} disability awards, the Comumission modifies the
Arbitrator's ruling, and hereby decreases the PPD award from 33% to 22.5% loss of use of

Petitioner’s left leg, dnd 18% to 12.5% loss of the person as a whole for injuries to the right
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sbou!der area ef the bcdy The (.‘ommxsslon afﬁrms the Arblfrator 8 mlmg with regards o the
PPD award of 10% loss of the person as a whole for psychological injuries.

ITIST HEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Rt:bpundunt pay to
Petitioner the sum of $712.55 per week for a period of 48.375 weeks, as’ provided'in §8{e)}{12) of
the Act, for the reason that the injuries sustained caused the 22.5% logs. of use of the left leg:

TS FLRTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner.
the swm of $712.35 per w cek for a period of 62.5 weeks, as provided in. §8(d}(?} of the Act, for
the reason that the injuries sustained to the right qhaulder caused the 12,5% loss of the person as
a whole,

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $712.55 per week for a period of 50w eeks, as provided in §8(d)(2) of the Act, for the
reason that the injuries sustained caused the 10% loss of the person as a whole for psychological
njuries..

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE C OMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT 18 FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit:
for all amounts paid, if' any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said’ accidental injury.

Borid for the removal of this eause 1o the C;rculi Court by Rcsp{mdml is hereby fixed at
fhe sum of $75,000.00. The party comymencing the proceedings for rg iew in the Cirenit Court

shall file with the Commission a Notice of Il}t;zntfo F: 7 y i 1rc1gC<;urt

DATED:  SEP 29201
Chg es‘f De{fnendt i

CID/dm
0: 9/13716
49

Fshua D, Luskin
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After revi ewmg 4l of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings regarding the nature and
extent of the injury, and attaches the findings fo this document.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $712.55/week for 75.25 weeks,
because the injuries sustained caused the 35% loss use of the left leg, as provided in Section 8(e) of the Act.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner additional permanent partial disability benefits of $712.55/week for 90 weeks;
because the injuries sustained caused the 18% loss-of the person as a whole for injuries to the right
shoulder area of the body, as provided in Section 8(d) 2 of the Act.

Respondent shall pay Petitione: additional permanent partial disability benefifs of -$?‘i 2.55/week for B0 weeks,
because the injuries sustained caused the 10% loss of the person as a whole for psychological injuries, as
provided in Section 8{(d) 2 of the:-Act,

Respondent shall pay Petitioner compensation that has acerued from July 11, 2012 through November 18,
2015, and shall pay the remainder of the award, if any, in weekly payments.

FINDINGS OF FACT

Petitioner Andrzej Pawinski was 30 years old and 'working for Respondent as a cable splicer on July 11,
2012 when he was attacked by an unknown assailant wielding an unknown pbject. (PX2.) He was struck from

pehind and knocked unconscions. (PX4.) Petitioner was discovered lying downon the ground "by a coworket.

(PX2.)

That same'day, Petitioner wds boarded and ¢ollared and taken to John H. Stroger Jr. Hospital. He had
forghead abrasions, tenderness to palpation in his right shoulder, and midline tenderness in his cervical spine at
C5-C6. Head and cervical spine CTs disclosed no acute processes, and right shoulder films were negative;
Petitioner was ambulatory with no leg or hip pain. (PX2)

Petitioner saw Dr. Nirav Shab at Parkview Orlhopaedie Group. He complained of numbness and tingling
in his hand, and pain in the anterolateral aspect of his right shoulder as well as deep in the shoulder. Petitioner
reported that he was currently taking Ibiiprofen and muscle relaxant. Dr. Shali nioted no past medical history
whatsoever other than a right knee arthroscope done in 2008. (PX4.)

Petitioner reported that he was having nightmares and mental difficulty coping with the-attack, Dr. Shah.
noted that Petitioner was exhibiting symptoms of pogt-trautnatic stress disorder, He stated: "From a psychiatric
standpoint he has had some significant nightmares since this work comp injury‘as well as difficulty dealing with
this mentally and crying occasionally.” (PX4.)

Dr, Shah diagnosed Petitioner with possible labral instability, tear and/or impingement of the right
shoulder; acute peripheral neuropathy ot possible neurapraxia or traction injury eccurring in the axillary

posterior of the brachial plexus; and possible posttratmatic stress disorder. Dr. Shah took Petitioner off work.
Dr. Shah ordered an MR-arthtograny of Petitioner's right shoulder, referred Petitioner to Dr. Russell Glantz for
an EMG nerve conduction study, and referred Petitioner to Dr. Singh for psychiatric evaluation. (PX4.)

Page 2 of 9
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On August 28, 2012, Petitioner underwent surgery with Dr. Shah at Palos Surgicenter. Examining
Petitioner under anesthesia, Dr. Shah visually confirmed an anferior load shift of 1+ and posterior load shift of
1+ compared to 0+ on the contralaieral side, Using an arthroscope, he then visually confirmed a Bankart tear
extending down to the § o'clock position; a type 2 posterior-superior SLAP tear posterior to the biceps anchor
insertion; and significant synovitis-bursitis; Dr. Shah completed a Bankart repair followed by a SLAP posterior-
superior labral repair, installing 5 BioComposite PushLock anchors and shaving the bone to provide a healthy
surface for healing. Dr. Shah then completed a synovectomy and acromioplasty to address the synovitis-
bursitis, (PX4.)

_ Petitioner returtied to Dr. ‘Shah for a follow-up examination, two days post-surgery. Dr. Shah discussed
the surpical findings with Petitionier and instructed Petitioner to begin rehabilitation the following week. {PX4)

On September 3, 2012, Petitioner presented for his first visit. Pefitioner reported that he was performing
home exercises daily and that his status was improving with intermittent pain. Petitioner was instructed to
comtinue using af ultra sling at all times until 4 weeks post-surgery, with exceptions only for home exercises,
physical therapy, and showering. Petitioner was scheduled for physical therapy-2 times per week for the next
month, and: instructed to continue home exercises 3 to'S times per day. Petitioner remained off work. (PX4.)

Petitioner returned to Dr. Crawford. Pefitioner reported that the nightmiares had mostly stopped, but that
he liad one for the first time it 2 fo 3 weeks. Petiticner reported that he still couldn't sleep: He would nap for 1
to 2 hours, then watch tv until he dozed off, but-could only get 2 to 3 hours of sleep, He reported hallucinating
anid seeing shadows, as well as episodes of dizziness. Petitionér reported that he felt "empty," and had stopped
socializing with others outside of his family. He reported that he was sad, and that he was finding it difficult to-
feel happy. Petitioner cried when he spoke about the trauina, and reported that this happens 2 to 3 times per day,
about the same as before the surgery. He stated that he felt something was wrong with him. Dr. Crawford noted
no evidence of delusions, bitt stated that Petitioner did seem to be having brief flashbacks. (PX9.)

Dr. Crawford noted Petitioner's decrease in disturbing dreams, but stated that this might be related to the
analgesics he received for his surgery. Dr. Crawford noted Petitioner's persistent feelings-of sadness-and
vulnerability. Dr. Crawford opined that Petitioner's episodes of dizziness might perhaps be secondary to the
Prazosin. Dr. Crawford ¢rdered a hold on the Prazosin for the next 3. wecks. Dr. Crawford prescribed Petitioner
Celexa 20 mg and Oleptro. (PX9.)

Petitioner returned to Dr. Shah for follow-up. Dr. Shah opined that Petitioner was doing well, Dr. Shah
found that Petitioner's range of motion, strength and endurance were improving, thotgh Petitioner was not yet
back at full strength. He opined that Petitioner was not yet at MML Dr. Shah instructed Petitioner to undergo
thrice weekly physical therapy sessions for the next 8 weeks. Dr. Shah returned Petitioner to work on, restricted
duty. (PX4.) '

Petitioner returned to Dr. Crawford. Petitioner reported some improvement; he was now sleeping 6
hours per night. He was no longer experiencing nightmares, thougli he did hear his name being called when no.
one was there. He still did fiot want to be in crowds. Dr: Crawford assessed Petitioner with PTSD and prescribed.
Lexapro 20 mg. (PX9.)

P_ctitianer followed up with Dr. Crawford on November 8, 2012. Petitioner reported that his sleep had
improved; he was now sleeping 6 to & hours per night. With one axception, he was not experiencing nightrares,

and no longer heard his name being called when no one was there. He was still uncomfortable in the store, but
was able 10 go to the store. Petitioner's mood was "bland," with difficulty feeling happy. Dr. Crawford assessed

Page 4 of 9
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On January 14, 2013, PMI Diagnostic Imaging fook an MRI of Petitioner’s left knee. In the infercondylar
notéeh, the radiologist noted abnormal signal intensity and appearance of the anterior cruciate ligament, possibly
representative of a partial-thickness intrasubstance tear or chronde full-thickness ACL tear. The radiologist also
rioted 2 questionable small tear of the posterior horn of the lateral meniscus near its root aitachment, meniscal
degeneration, patellar tendinosis; and joint effusion. (PX4.)

Petitioner returned to Dr. Shah on January 17, 2013, complaining of pain over the anterior agpect of his
left knee, pain directly with kneeling, and popping on the anterior aspect of the knee.Dr. Shah observed that
Petitioner's complaints all seemed to originate from anterior to the patella and just distal to the patella; Dr: Shah
reviewed Petitioner's left knee MRI. He stated: '

MR of the left knee shows findings consistent with pre-patellar bursitis, proximal Insertional
patellar tendonitis, possible ACL sprain, partial tear that appears to be chronic and & possible
sinall tear along “the lateral meniscus ‘and patellar tendinosis and small joint effusion. MRI
findings shoiw a possible chronic injury to his ACL, possible small tear lateral meniscus, pateliar
tendinosis, joint effusion and pre-patellar bursitis, (PX4.)

Dr. Shali examined Petitioner's shoulder; he abserved full range.of motion; full strength, and well-healed
scars. Dr. Shah examined Petitioner's left knee; he observed thickened bursitis anterior fo the kieecap and just
distal to the patella, with pain elicited over the patellar tendon and tendemess to palpation-over the medial
pateliofemoral joint and anterior medial joint line. He noted Lachman test results of 0+ and firm, with varus
valgus stress testing producing resulis of 0 to-30 degrees, 1+ and firtn, no posterior drawver. (FX4:}

Dr. Shah stated that Petitionier's knee had not improved. He opined that Petitioner had failed
conservative treatment. He stated that Petitioner was having pain with squatting and -kneeling; he opined that
Petitioper's knee.condition was aggravated by work conditioning, physical therapy, and kieeling (PX4.)

Dr: Shah réconumended surgery consisting of left knee open pre-patellar burséctomy, pateilar tendon
debridement, arthroscopy and possible partial meniscectomy. He released Petitioner to work with restrictions of
no kneeling, (PX4.)

Petitioner underwent surgery at Orland Park Surgical Center on February 12, 2013. Pre-operatively, Dr.
Shah diagnosed Petitioner with left knee prepatellar bursitis, teft knee patellar tendinitis, left knee painful Hofta
fat pad syndrome, and left knee painful plica syndrome. Dr. Shah evaluated Petitioner's patellofemoral joint
arthroscopically, where he observed mild grade 1 chondromalacia. An open procedure followed. He resected
Petitioner's ligamentum mucosum. Dr. Shah then observed that Petitioner liad a thickened and scarred Hoffa fat
pad, as well as painful medial plica in the patcllofemoral joint. Dr. Shah excised both the fat pad and the plica.
Next, Dr. Shah observed thickened prepatellar bursa and fibrotic bursa in the patella; Dr. Shah excised these,
performing a complete prepatellar bursectomy, Dr. Shah observed grayish discoloration in Petitioner's patellar
tenidon consistent with patellar tendinitis and patellar tendinosis; he performed patellar debridement until he
reached healthy tendon edges, then performed a fendon repair. Post-operatively, Dr, Shah diagnosed Petitioner
with left-knee prepatellar bursitis, left knee patellar tendinitis, left knee painful Hoffa fat pad syndrome, and left
knee painful plica syndrome. (PX4.)

Two days post-surgery, Pefitioner presented to Dr. Shali's office for follow-up. Petitioner stated that he
was experiencing a significant amotnt of pain the day prior despite taking Notco 5, but that his'pain was
controlled much better on Norco 10, Petitioner reported having a lot of swelling and tightness in his knee, with

‘pain anteriorly over the patellar tendon. (PX4.)

Page 6 0f 9
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wherehmfﬁ:ekmgsmcmcommg from. Dr. Crawford assessed Petitioner with PTSD and anxiety disorder; he
prescribed Pétitioner Lexapto 20 mg and Trazodone 50 mg. (PX9.)

Petitioner followed up with Dr, Crawford on October 21, 2013. (PX9.) Petitioner reported that he had
‘been unable to sleep for several weeks, and was feeling increased anxiety. (PX9.) Petitioner stated that he had
been working and productive, but that he had been reassigned to a location with less-than-ideal conditions and
his numbers were bad in August. (PX9.)) Petitioner stated that he had been placed under ¢loser supervision, and
that he felt he was being punished. (PX9.) Petitioner denied having bad dreams, but reporied that he
occasionally awoke. feeling that someone was standing over hin or walking past. (PX9.) His appetite remained
good, and he remained able to go out in crowds; he remained cautious but not hiypervigilant, (PX9.) Dr.
Crawford assessed Petitioner with PTSD and anxiety disorder, with anxiety aggravated by current management
practices; he prescribed Petitioner Trazodone 5() mg, Lexapro 20 mg, and Melatonin. (PX9.)

Petitioner followed up with Dr. Crawford on January 6, 2014. Petitioner reported that he had been
suspended for 3 days after being hit from behind while at Popeyes at lunch. Petitioner stated that he had not
missed any days of work prior to this. Petitioner reported feeling sick; he stated that he had retained an attorney.
Petitioner reported no changes in sleep, appetite, talerance for crowds, or vigilance. He stated that he felt
distracted, and that his memory was not as good as before. Dr. Crawford assessed Petitioner with anxiety
disorder. {(PX9.)

At follow-up with Dr. Crawford on April 10, 2014, Petitioner reported feeling much better. Dr.
Crawford opted to taper Petitioner off Trazadone. Petitioner likewise reported feeling much better at follow-up
with Dr. Crawford on June 12, 2014. He stated that he felt good, that he was working more and was Jooking to
take advantage of petting overtime work. He reported that he had no more shoulder pain, except when carrying a
Jarge ladder. Dr. Crawford began to reduce Petitioner's Lexapro preseription from 20 mg to 10 mg. At
Petitioners next visit with Dr. Crawford on September 14, 2014, Dr. Crawford began to taper Petitioner off
Lexapro. (PX9)

Petitionet's last visit'with Dr. Crawford was on December 4, 2014, He had stopped taking Lexapro
entirely and was feeling good. Dr. Crawford no longer diagnosed Petitioner with PTSD. (PX9.)

On August 31, 2015, Petitioner underwent 4 Section 12 gx&miﬂaﬁon with Dr. Troy Karlsson, who was-
instructed by Respondent to provide an Impairment Rating relating to Petitioner's cervical spine, right shoulder,
and left knee. : ' '

On examination, Dr, Karlsson noted decreased range of motion in Petitioner's right shoulder compared
to his left, with 40 degress less active and passive flexion, and 60 degrees less active and passive abduction. He
noted no crepitus, swelling, or difference in shoulder strength. Petitioner's cervical spine exam was "essentiaily
normal.” On examination, Dr. Katlsson noted no difference in range of motion or strength between Petitioner's
knees. Dr. Karlsson opined that Petitioner had 1% impainment of the cervical spine, 0% impairment of the
knee, atid 6% loss of use of Petitioner's upper extremity based largely on the loss of range of motion (equivalent
to 4% impairment of the whole person), '

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The sole issue in dispute is the nature and extent of Petitioner's Injury.

Page 8 of 9
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) || Affirmn and adopt (no changes)
) SS. IZ} Affirm with corrections
COUNTY OF COOK ) [ ] Reverse
D Modify

[ injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
I___] Rate Adjustment Fund (§3(g))

[ ] Second Injury Fund (§8(c)18)

E’ None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

John Johnson,

Petitioner,

vs. , NO: 13 WC 9875

City of Chicago, o 171 WCCO 0 3 5

Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by Petitioner and Respondent herein and
notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of causal connection,
extent of temporary total disability, nature and extent of permanent disability, date of maximum
medical improvement, §8(d)1 benefits v. §8(f) benefits in lieu of §8(d) 2 and §8(e) awards,
overpayment of maintenance, improper wage differential and permanent partial disability awards
and being advised of the facts and law, corrects the clerical errors in the Decision of the
Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which

is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

The Commission notes that in the credit section on the face sheet, the Arbitrator stated
that Respondent overpaid maintenance benefits from September 31, 2014. This should be from
October 1, 2013 and the Commission corrects this clerical error. The Commission further finds
that it is more appropriate in this case to award permanency under §8(d) 2 than §8(e). The
Commission corrects this clerical error by awarding the same total of weeks that was awarded by
the Arbitrator, 178.75, under §8(d) 2, which calculates to 35.75% person as a whole. The
Commission otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed May 23, 2016 is hereby affirmed and adopted with the above noted corrections
of clerical errors.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $1,106.49 per week for a period of 63-5/7 weeks, that being the period of temporary
total incapacity for work under §8(b) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $712.55 per week for a period of 178.75 weeks, as provided in §8(d) 2 of the Act, for
the reason that the injuries sustained caused the permanent disability of the person as a whole to
the extent of 35.75%. ' '

, IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

The Commission notes that Respondent paid $107,329.53 in TTD benefits, $46,685.41 in

ovcrpaxd maintenance beneﬁts and $8,537.65 in PPD advance, for a totaI credit of $162,552.59.

ITIS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

There is no bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent
pursuant to §19(f)(2) of the Act. The party commencing the preceedings for review in the
Circuit Court shall ﬁle with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit
Court

AN 24 200 |
DATED: | /A %/

MB/maw

012/22/16
43 % ?ﬂ?f’ Y4

Stephe athis

Loud £, thnt

David L. Gore
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. || Rate Adjustment Fund ($8())
COUNTY OF COOK ) \ [ Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
John Johnson Case # 13 WC 9875
Employet/Petitioner
V. Consolidated cases:
City of Chicago
Employer/Respondent -

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was ﬁled in this matter, and a Notice of Heamng was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Kurt Carison, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Chicago, on December 2, 2014. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those ﬁndmgs to this document. '

DISPUTED ISSUES .
A, D Was Respondent operating under and sub_] ect to the [llinois Workers' Compcmsatton or Occupatxonal
Diseases Act? :
‘Was there an employee-employer relationship?
Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
What was the date of the accident? :
Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?
Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury? -
‘What were Petitioner's earnings?
What was Petitioner’s age at the time of the accident?
D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?
[ ] Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
K. & What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[1TPD [XI Maintenance X TTD
L. g What is the nature and extent of the injury?
M. [_] Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

N. & Is Respondent due any credit?
0. Other On what date did the Petitioner reach Maximum Medical Improvement?

l_ll_lmﬂﬂl_iﬂ
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On July 11, 2012, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

FINDINGS

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $ 86,306.21; the average weekly wage was $1,659.73.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 54 years of age, married with 1 dependent child.

Petitioner has received all reasonable and necessaty medical services. '

Respondent kas paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical sexvices.

Respondent shall be given a credit of § 107,329.53 for TTD. Respondent shall be given a credit for overpaid
maintenance benefits from 09-31-14 to 08-03-15 (44 weeks) or $ 46,685.41 and Respondent shall be given a.
credit for $ 8,537.65 (advance against permanency) for a total credit of $ 162,552.59.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0.00 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER
Maximum Medical Improvement
The Petitioner reached maximum medical improvement on September 30, 2013 (left leg). No temporary total

disability or maintenance benefits are awarded after this date.

Temporary Total Disability
Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $1,106. 49/week for 63. 714 weeks,
commencing 07-11-12 through 02-30-13, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.

Maintenance '
Respondent is entitled to a credit for overpaid t.t.d. or maintenance benefits from 09-31-14 to 08-03-15.

Section 8(d}1 Benefits
Petitioner is not totally and permanently disabled.

Section 8(d)(1)
Petitioner is not entitled to a wage differential award under Section 8(d)(1).

Permanent Partial Disability: Person as a whole

Respondent shall pay Petitioner partial disability benefits of § 712.55 (max) for 125 weeks, because the injuries
sustained caused 25% loss of a person as a whole (job loss), as provided in Section 8(d)2 of the Act and an
additional 53.75 weeks because the injuries sustained caused 25% loss of use of the left leg. The total award is
178.75 weeks or $127,368.31.




O-Dex On-Line
www.gdex.com

17IWCCO035

Causal Connection : ol
No causal connection is found for the Petitioner’s lumbar spine, cervical spine and shoulder(s) condition(s).

However, causal connection is found for Petitioner left leg condition.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in gither no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

05-23-16

Date

Arbitrator Kurt A. Carlson

MAY 2 3 2016
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John Johnson v. City of Chicago
13 WC 9875

MEMORANDUM OF DECISION OF THE ARBITRATOR
' Findings of Fact

The Petitioner in this matter worked as a blacksmith for the Respondent. The
Petitioner explained that his job duties required him to fabricate pieces of metal in order
to repair city property. Specifically, the Petitioner provided the example of fashioning
pieces of metal together in order to rehabilitate city refuse trucks that had fallen into
disrepair. In order to perform the tasks of his job, the Petitioner explained that he had to
be able to lift heavy shests of metal while welding, cutting and placing them in position
to make his repairs, The Petitioner testified that the items that he would repair often
weighed over one-hundred pounds. . ,

The Petitioner’s above testimony describing his work duties was contradicted by
his medical records, which show that on November 14, 2006, the Petitioner had
permanent sedentary work restrictions. (RX #2) He was instructed to frequently sit and
only occasionally walk, stand, climb a ladder, stoop, kneel, squat, crouch or crawl. These
permanent restrictions were caused by a low back injury at work in 2005, where he was
off work. for 535 days. Petitioner was offered surgery in 2006, but declined. He had a
previous low back injury (HNP) in 2000 where he was off for a year and a similar injury
in 1993. (RX #2) Despite the above, Respondent was ostensibly able to accommodate the
sedentary restrictions. ‘ ' - o -

On July 11, 2012, the Petitioner was in the process of repairing a refuse truck
when his pant leg caught on fire. In an effort to extinguish the flames, the Petitioner
tripped over a raised bolt that was on the floor of the truck. The Petitioner testified that
when he tripped over the bolt, he twisted his left knee and fell to the floor of the truck.

On July 12, 2012, the Petitioner reported to Advanced Occupational Medicine, the
clinic that was suggested to him by the Respondent (Pet. Ex. 1, p. 20-24). The notes from
that date indicate that the Petitioner had sustained a left knee sprain.

On July 19, 2012, the Petitioner underwent the MRI of his left knee at Athletic
Imaging (Pet. Ex. 1, P. 9-10). The MRI revealed a complex tear involving the posterior
medial meniscus that appeared to involve the posterior medial meniscal root with
extension to the body homn junction. Based upon the findings of the MR, the Petitioner
was referred to see Dr. Gregory Primus for a surgical consultation (Pet. Ex. 1, P. 13).

On August 17, 2012, Dr. Primus evaluated the Petitioner and recommended
surgical intervention to repair the Petitioner’s left knee (Pet. Ex. 1, P. 58). Petitioner
decided to choose neither Advanced Occupational Medicine nor Dr. Primus, instead
seeking Dr. Brian Cole of Midwest Orthopedics who also recommended knee surgery
(Pet. Ex. 2, P. 146-147). No low back complaints were recorded. Id.
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On November 14, 2012, Dr. Cole performed arthroscopic surgery on the
Petitioner’s left leg (Pet. Ex. 2, P. 152-154). The operative report revealed a left medial
meniscectomy and a three-compartment synovectomy.

On November 26, 2012, the Petitioner retuned to see Dr. Cole for a follow-up
examination (Pet. Ex. 2, P. 141-143). Dr. Cole recommended that the Petitioner begin
physical therapy at that time. On November 28, 2012, the Petitioner began a regimen of
physical therapy at Sports and Ortho (Pet. Ex. 3).

On December 27, 2012, Dr. Cole again evaluated the Petitioner. On that date, Dr.
Cole noted that the Petitioner had taken a tumble two weeks prior and noted that the
Petitioner had a known herniated disc that had laid him up a bit (Pet. Ex 2, P. 138). Dr.
Cole encouraged the Petitioner to stay in physical therapy and continue taking pain
medications, ice and elevate his knee and employ a knee brace as necessary. Id. Dr. Cole
noted that the Petitioner was attempting to get his back issue under control as well. Id.

The Arbitrator notes that the above record is the first documentation of low back
complaints by the Petitioner to his physician. Those complaints do not relate back to the
work accident on July 11, 2012, which ocourred five months earlier. Instead, they relate
to the Petitioner’s pre-accident condition or “‘a tumble” that occurred two week prior.

On February 4, 2013, the Petitioner was again evaluated by Dr. Cole who noted
that despite the setback noted in the evaluation of December 27, 2012, Petitioner had
improved in physical therapy. (Pet. Ex. 2). Dr. Cole noted that the Petitioner had residual
lower back pain for which he had a known history of a herniated disk. Id. 'Dr. Cole
prescribed additional physical therapy: Id. Again, the Arbitrator notes that the low back
complaints were not in reference to the work accident on July 12, 2012.

On March 25, 2013, Dr. Cole again examined the Petitioner (Pet. Ex. 2, p. 127).
Dr. Cole wrote that he had a thorough discussion with the Petitioner regarding the non-
operative management of symptomatic osteoarthritis in the knee. Id. Dr. Cole noted that
his work accident cansed “an aggravation of a preexisting condition that got [the
Petitioner] outside of his symptomatic window and into a need for treatment. Id. Dr. Cole
noted ongoing back symptoms as well and recommended that the Petitioner treat both
pain generators with a Medrol Dosepak. Id. Dr. Cole recommended that the Petitioner
continue with physical therapy Id.

On April 15, 2013, the Petitioner was examined by Dr. Kern Singh, also of
Midwest Orthopedics at Rush, due to ongoing complaints of low back pain (Pet. Ex. 2, p.
77-82). Dr. Singh wrote that as a result of the work accident, the Petitioner had had
increased axial low back pain and had a left knee injury in which he underwent a
meniscal repair by Dr: Cole. (Pet. Ex. 2, P. 79). Dr. Singh noted that the Petitioner had
symptoms including sharp, burning, cramping sensations in his low back with symptoms
radiating to the posterior and medial aspects of his right lower extremity. Id. Dr. Singh
noted that the Petitioner had stated that he had had previous back injuries many years ago
and noted that he had had a history of bulging disks. Id. Dr. Singh noted that the
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Petitioner’s symptoms were getting worse, causing moderate discomfort. Id. Dr. Singh
specifically noted that the Petltloner s pain was the result of an on-thc-]ob 1nJury Id.

The Apnl 15, 2013 medmal record with Dr. Kem Smgh is the first time the
Petitioner related the work accident to his increased low back pain. A time span of nine
months had elapsed. Further, the Petitioner told Dr. Singh that “he has had a history of
bulging discs. However, he is unsure of the exact details. He denies any hlstory of lumbar
spine mjury » He mformed the doctor that lns job is heavy duty (Pet Ex. 2 P 79 80)

Dr. Singh recommended that the Petitioner engage in physmal therapy to treat his
condition and further recommended that the Petitioner call his office to get an order for
an MRI if his oondltlon d1d not lmprove (Pet. Ex 2 P 8 1) '

‘On May 7, 2013 the Petmoner did, in fact, undergo an MRI of his Iumbar spine.
The MRI, performed at Chicago Ridge Radiology, revealed mild bilateral foraminal
stenos:.s due to mild broad-based predominantly central disc bulge at L.4-L5 (Pet. Ex. 2.
P. 248).. Addmonally, the MRI revealed mild forammal stenosis due to a broad-based
dlSC bulge at the L5-S1 level and minimal bllateral forammal stenos1s due to a broad- ‘

L based dlSC bulge at the L3 L41eveI (Pet Ex 2 P 249)

- On May 15, 2013, the Petltloner returned fo ses Dr Smgh followmg the MRI _
(Pet. Ex. 75-76). Dr. Singh diagnosed the Petitioner with a herniated nucleus pulposus at
L4-L5 (Pet. Ex. 76). Dr. Singh recommended that the Petltloner sec Dr David Cheng for

“an epidural steroid- mJectLon Id

On May 20, 2013, the PththﬂEI' again saw Dr. Cole for his knee (Pet. Ex. 2, P.
72). On this occasion, Dr. Cole noted that given the seventy of ongomg knee symptoms
a COl‘tl.SDIle injection was mdmated. Id

On June 18, 2013, the Petitioner authored a new patient’ questionnaire for Dr.
David Cheng where he stated that the pain in his back, neck, shoulder and knee were
related to the work accident on July 12, 2012. (Pet Ex. 2 p. 191) The Arbitrator notes that
there is no history heretofore of a neck or shoulder injury associated with the work

accident.

On June 21, 2013 Dr. Cheng performed the injection on the Petmoner s lumbar
spine that Dr. Singh had recommended (Pet. Ex, 2, p.59).

On July 1, 2013, the Petitioner saw Dr. Cole again with regard to his knee (Pet.
Ex. 2, p.58). Dr. Cole noted that the Petitioner was six weeks post-corticosteroid
injection for his knee. Id. Dr. Cole noted improvement with the injection and opined that
the Petitioner could have additional injections every three months. Id.

One week after his appointment with Dr. Cole, the Petitioner was examined by
Dr. Singh on July 8, 2013 (Pet. Ex. 2, P. 55-56). Dr. Singh recommended that the
Petitioner complete two to four weeks of work conditioning and that he follow up with
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Dr. Cole with regard to his knee.

On September 30, 2013, Dr. Cole examined the Petitioner a final time. On that
date, Dr. Cole placed the Petitioner at maximum medical improvement (Pet. Ex. 2, p.52).
Dr. Cole recommended that the Petitioner be limited to seated sedentary work as a result
of his work injury. Id. These restrictions match the Petitioner’s pre-injury state of
physical health. (Resp. Ex. 2p.1} - -

Déspite having been released with régard to his knee, the Petitioner continued to
treat with Dr. Singh for his lumbar spine. On October 28, 2013, Dr. Singh consulted the
Petitioner regarding his treatment options and it was decided that the Petitioner would
pursue surgical intervention to treat his symptoms (Pet. Ex. 2, p.49). On December 3,
2013, the Dr. Singh performed a minimally invasive 14 and L5 laminectomy with
bilateral faceteciomy and foraminotomy and a right-sided 1.4-5 microscopic discectomy
(Pet. Ex. 2, p.149-151). : - | : '

‘On Décember 30, 2013, the Petitioner réturned to see Dr. Singh (Pet. Ex. 2, p. 45-
46). Dr. Singh noted that the Petitioner had improved since the surgery and that his right -
Jower extremity pain had resolved (Pet. Ex. 2, p.45). Dr. Singh recommended that the
Petitioner begin physical therapy at that time. Based. upon this recommendation, the
Petitioner resumed a regimer of physical therapy at Sports and Ortho on January 7, 2014
(Pet. Ex. 3). L R f BV

On Febi'uary 1("),‘ 2014, the Petitioner jjerfbfrﬁeci a f;lnbtidnal capacity evaluation
at Sports and Ortho at Dr. Singh’s prescription (Pet. Ex. 3, P. 195-199). '

_ Dr. Singhi noted that the fimctional capacity examination placed the Petitioner at
the medium demand level which would mean that additional work conditioning would be -
required to get the Petitioner back to work as a blacksmith. However, is does not appear
that Dr. Singh was aware of the Petitioner’s pre-injury physical capabilities as this FCE
‘placed the Petitioner at a higher work ability level than his pre-injury state. (Resp. Ex. 2
p.1)-Nevertheless, based upon the “increase” in. the Petitioner’s symptoms, Dr. Singh
recommended a new MRI (Pet. Ex. 2, p.35). o _

On March 13, 2014, the Petitioner underwent an MRI of his lumbar' spine at
Chicago Ridge Radiology (Pet. Ex. 3, p.218). Following the MRI, the Petitioner returned
to see Dr. Singh to review the results. Dr. Singh read the MRI to reveal a central disk
protrusion at L4-5, as well as a right lateral recess narrowing at L4-5 with a right-sided
Jaminectomy defect as well as diffuse spondylosis (Pet. Ex. 2, p.32). Dr. Singh advised
the Petitioner to come back to see him in two weeks in order to determine whether he is a
candidate for additional work conditioning versus an L4-5 revision laminectomy with
fusion (Pet. Ex. 2, p.32).

On April 7, 2014, Petitioner had opted against pursuing further surgical
intervention at that time (Pet. Ex. 2, P. 27). Accordingly, Dr. Singh recommended work
conditioning,. ,
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On May 21, 2014, the Dr. Singh again evaluated the Petitioner. On that date, Dr.
Singh noted that the Petitioner had only attended one additional session of work
conditioning due to his pain levels (Pet. Ex. 2, p.23). Dr. Singh noted that he had a long
conversation with the Petitioner regarding treatment’ options and that the Petitioner had
decided against any further surgery. Id. Accordingly, Dr. Smgh placed the Petitioner at
maximum medical improvernent and imposed permanent restrictions upon' him based
upon the results of the February 10, 2014 functional capacity evaluation which stated the
Petitioner could retumn to work at the medium demand level. (Pet Ex 2, p. 24)

Petitioner’s permanent work restrictions are currently greater now than his pre-
injury state of physical health. Nevertheless, Respondent failed to accommodate the new
restrictions. As a result, the Pefitioner began vocational rehabilitation at Vocamotive,
beginning with an initial assessment on June 19, 2014. The Petitioner failed to cooperate
in job search activities from November of 2014 to August 3, 2015. Pet1t10ner is currenﬂy
neither seekmg addmonal medlcal treatment nor 13 he employed _

Conclusmns of Law A

(03] Is the Petltloner s current condmon of 1ll-bemg eausally related to the
i ' m]ury" : :

The Respondent has dlsputed whether the Petitioner’s current state of ill- bemg is
causally related to his work accident of July 11, 2012. Based upon the entire record, the
Arbitrator finds that the left knee condition is compensable No other portion of this
claim is compensable under the Act. Petitioner’s lumbar spine condition is not related to
the ‘accident on Tuly 11, 2012. Likewise, the Petitioner’s neck and shoulder complamts

are unrelated to the work accident.
Causal_ Connection (left knee)

The Petitioner’s testimony at trial was that on July 11, 2012, he ‘was in the process of
repairing a refuse truck when his pant leg caught on fire. In an effort to extinguish the
flames, the Petitioner tripped over a raised bolt that was on the floor of the truck. When
he tripped and fell, he twisted his left knee and fell to the floor of the truck. Petitioner
sought medical care the next day and gave a consistent accident history to his treaters for
his occurrence. The overwhelming majority of records support the Petitioner’s contention
that the occurrence aggravated the Petitioner’s pre-existing left knee condition. As a
result, the Arbitrator finds causal connection for the left leg.

Causal Connection (Iumbar spine)

Petitioner’s lumbar spine is not causally related to the accident on July 11, 2012.
While it is true, Dr. Kern Singh gave a causal connection statement relating the
Petitioner’s low back condition to the work accident and Respondent failed to counter by
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requmng cross~exa1mnat10n or a Section 12 opinion of its own; the Arbitrator finds Dr.
Singh’s opinion to be unpersuasive as it was based upon a false history of back
complaints immediately after the occurrence. There simply is no- such history in the
record. The first attempt by the Petitioner to link his low. back pain to the accident on Tuly
11, 2016 did not occur under. nearly nine months after he began seeking medical
treatment Further, Dr. Singh’s opinion is based upon an unclear history of the
Petitioner’s previous lumbar spine condition.. It appears certain that Dr. Singh was
unware of the nature and extent of the Petlttoner s pre-injury condition or that Petitioner
already had sedentary work restrictions. As a result of the above, causal connection for
the lumbar spine is denied.

Causal Connection (cerv1cal spine and shoulders)

The Petitioner also attempted to Imk unrelated neck and shoulder pain to the acmdent as
well. Again, these claims were far too remote in time and place to be causally comected
to accident on July 11, 2012. (Pet: Ex. #2 p. 191) The Arbitrator finds no causal
connection for the Petitioner’s cervical spine and shoulder claim to the work accident.

(K) What temporary benefits are in dispute?

The parties have a dispute with regard to the payment of maintenance benefits in.
this matter. The Respondent contends that due to-a lack of a diligent effort with regard to
vocational rehabilitation, it should not have paid any maintenance benefits subsequent to
the date that the Petitioner reached maximum medical improvement

F]rst with' regard to the date of maximum medical mprOVement, the Arbitrator
finds that the Petitioner’s left knee condition stabilized on September 30, 2013, ‘when he
was released by Dr. Cole. A full discussion of that issue is addressed in Paragraph (O) of
- this Decision. ' '

Second, it is clear to the Arbitrator that the Petitioner was uncommitted to seeking
work during the time that he was working with Vocamotive and while he was engaged in
a self-direct search for work. Vocational rehabilitation was discontinued by the provider
due to non-compliance. (Pet. Ex. 4 p.231)- ,

Accordingly, Respondent’s request for a reimbursement of maintenance is
granted. Petitioner was entitled to temporary total disability and/or maintenance benefits
from July 11, 2012 until the date of maximum medical improvement for his left leg on
September 30, 2013. :

(L) What is the nature and extent of the injury?

Is Petitioner permanently and totally disabled?
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‘The Petitioner in this matter claims to be permanently and totally disabled from
the workforce as a result of his injuries of July 11, 2012. “For the purposes of Section
8(f), a person is totally disabled when he cannot perform any services except those for
which no reasonably stable markét exists. Conversely, if an employee is qualified for and
capable of obtaining gainful employment without seriously endangering health or life,
such employee 1s not totally and ‘permanently disabled. In arriving at its determination,
the Commission must consider the employee's age, experience, training and capabilities.”
ER. Moore Co, v. Indus. Comm'n, 71 T.2d 353, 361 (1978) and 820 ILCS 305/8(f). In
the present case, Dr. Cole prescribed permanent sedentary restrictions upon the Petitioner
with regard to his knee injury, but those restrictions match his pre-injury state. It appears
from the record that Dr. Cole was unaware of the Petitioner’s pre-injury condition, which
was essentially the same those on September 30, 2013 (the ddte of MMI). Petitioner was ‘
able to work as a blacksmith from 2006 until 2012 with permanent sedentary restrictions.

Later, Dr. Singh’s prescribed an FCE that placed permanent restrictions on the
Petitioner that allowed the Petitioner to exceed the physical demands of the 2006
sedentary’ restrictions, which pre-date the occurrence. Despite being able to work at
greater physical -demand level than his pre-injurystate, the Respondent chose not to
accommodate the Petitioner. Nevertheless, No doctor has stated that the Petitionier cannot
work. . :

“When the employee makes the proper showing, the émployer must come
forward with evidence to show the employee is capable of engaging in some type of
regular and continuous employment, and that such employment is réasonably available.”
Id. ‘at 362-63. Stated another way, “the claimant has the burden of proving by a
preponderance of the evidence the extent and permanency of his injury.. Once the
claimant has met this burden, then the Respondent must show that some kind of
competitive market work is regularly and contimuously available to the claimant.” Hutson
v. Industrial Comm., 223 IIl. App. 3d 706, 714 (5th Dist. 1992). '

Respondent has failed to acéommodate the Petitioner’s new work restrictions
despite the fact that they are less restrictive. However, VocaMotive has agreed that the
Petitioner is employable. (Pet. Ex. 4) As aresult, the Petitioner is capable of engaging is
some type of regular and continuous employment and he is not permanently and totally
disabled. Not is Petitioner an “odd-lot.” Petitioner underwent vocational rehabilitation
and did not perform adequately to justify awarding his maintenance benefits after August
3,2015. (1d.) ' ' :

Is the Petitioner entitled to a wage—differénﬁal award?

There is no requirement under Section 8(d)(1) that a claimant conduct a job
search in order to obtain a wage differential award. Rather, claimants need only to
demonstrate an impairment of eamings. Albrecht v. Industrial Commission, 271 lIl. App.
3d 756 (1995) However, evidence of a job search is an ideal method to show impairment
of carnings. In the present case, as stated earlier, the Detitioner’s job search was
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unsatisfactory. A labor-market survey is another, perhaps weaker, method to demonstrate
an impairment of eaming. In the present case, Vocamotive’s Ka.n Stafseth (CRC) initial
assessment stated that the Petitioner nught be able to return to work with a wage of
between $10.00 per hour and $13.00 per hour, but this is not a traditional labor market
survey. (Pet. Ex. #4, p. 10). Instead, it was part of an initial assessment and not supported
by demonstrated research or data . S ‘

At the time of the mltlal vocatmnal assessment (Pet Ex. 4), Petitioner was a 56
year old male with permanent light to medium physical restrictions. He graduated from
high school in 1976 and received a scholarshlp to Southern Illineis University. He
reported he did not complete ‘his first- ‘year in college However, he received a welding
certificate in Industrial Arts and Weldmg through the University of Houston and held a
welding certificate from the American Welding Society. He was certified through Local 1
Blacksmiths-Boilermakers and could perform all types of weldmg including Are, MIG,
TIG, Horizontal, et¢. He received a prowsmnal teaehmg certificate for welding. He
reported owned rental properties. He had work experience as a safety trainer and
foreman. He had been a small business owner for'a time. (Pet. Ex. 4) Despite all of these
skills and qualifications, the initial assessment stated that Petitioner mlght be able to work
with a wage between $10.00 per hour and $13 00. (Id.)

- Later, when vocational assessment was ﬁ.ﬂly performed {Pet. Ex. 4 p:35), it was
detertmned that the Petitioner was best smted for the following jobs (among others)

Mamtenanee Shop Supemsor
Welding Supervisor
 Fleet Service Coordmator

Ostensibly, the occupatmn the Petmoner is most suited for _given his age,
experience, training and capability would be as a welding instructor or inspector, but the
assessment does not state the pay range of such positions, nor of any otliers listed. In any
event, it is difficult to imagine these positions paying less than $13.00 per hour. (Pet. EX.
4) Respondent did not counter with any evidence that the Petitioner could eam more than
$10.00 per hour and $13.00 per hour. But again, the Petitioner eamed $43. 00 per hour
with more onerous pre-accident restrictions.

‘When inspecting the job search records, it appears that much of the work the
Petitioner was encouraged to apply for exceeded the $10.00 to $13.00 hourly pay range
and others were within it. (Pet. Ex 4) The jobs within the $10.00 to $13.00 hour pay rate
appear to easily obtainable and well within the Petitioner’s grasp, yet he failed to apply
himself diligently to the task. The final report of Kari Stafseth (CRC} states that if he
complied with vocational rehabilitation, he would have had access to positions as
dispatcher, customer service representative, and clerk with the most probable earning
potential of $10.00 to $13.00 per hour. (Pet. Ex. 4 p.231) The Arbitrator notes these jobs
were easily obtainable by the Petitioner and would have been the least competitive, but
the lowest paid positions for which he was qualified to work. Stated another way, if the
Petitioner had put forth a minimum amount of effort, he could have, at the very least,
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found a job in that salary range. The legal standard cannot be the above. The law cannot
allow a Petitioner who has suffered a job loss to automatically default into an 8(d)(1)
wage differential award when there has been no compliance with vocational
rehabilitation and the Petitioner has the education, skxlls and quahﬁcations to eamn
s1gmﬁcant1y more than minimum wage. :

The Petitioner is capable earning more than the above Anthony Kochevar wrote
that “Mr. Johnson has a strong background as a welder/fabricator/blacksmith and is an
excellent resource in helping veterans understand what would be expected for a career in
the trades.” (Pet. BEx. 7 p.4) Many jobs the’ Petitioner appeared qualified for paid more
than $10.00 to $13.00 per hour. (Pet. Ex. 7 p.95) A position as a d13patcher at MegaBus
USA could be expected to §42,500. A steel dispatcher position was paying $50,000. (Pet.
Ex. 7 p.176) The Petitioner seemed ideally suited for a position at Cameron Craig Group
that would pay $65,000+. (Pet. Ex. 7 p.191) That job stated the employee would not be
installing metal structures (stairs, balconies) but ‘working with customers and would be
advising the field installers on field fixes/adjustments. The most 1mportant question was,
“Do you know welding fabrication and assembly?”) (1d.) He applied for an adjunct faculty
position at a city college to teaching weldmg, but the pay rate was not listed. (Id.) Even
call centers were paying more than the minimum range. (Pet. Ex. 7 p. 92) It is somewhat
sutprising to the Arbitrator that Petitioner’s job search was not focused like a laser on
welding inspection and supervising: At trial, the Arbitrator fourid the Petitioner to be an
effective commumcator who was fully ca.pable of presentmg hlmself in a professmnal

manner.

Aﬁer revxewmg the above Petmoner dxd not meet his burden in showing an
impairment of earnings as required by the law under 8(d)(1) of the Act. The Arbitrator
specifically rejects the $10.00 to $13.00 per hour estimate as it is clearly the least the
Petitioner could be expected to eamn. The Petitioner is capable of earning much more. In
fact, it is not clear that the Petitioner suffered impairment in eaming capacity. His current
restrictions are less onerous than his pre-accident state. As a result; the enclosed award
defaults to Section 8(d)2 of the Act. To that end, taking into consideration the Pefitioner’s
reported level of impairment, occupation, age, future earnings capacity and disability
supported by medical records, the Arbitrator awards 25% loss of use of a person as a
whole (job loss) and 25% loss of use of the Petitioner’s left leg. No AMA impairment

report was in ewdence

(N) Is Respondent due any credit?

The Respondent seeks a credit for all maintenance paid as it perceives the Petitioner’s
efforts with regard to vocational rehabilitation to be less than diligent.

The petitioner failed to participate in a diligent and good faith job search. Therefore, his
claim for maintenance benefits aﬁer August 3,2015 must be demed
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Multiple examples of ndn-compliance and sabotage on the petitioner’s pa.rf are detailed in
(Pet. Ex 4), the vocational reports, but some of the difficulty includes the following facts.

The petitioner was repeatedly late for his meetings and computer lab. He failed to request
time off and failed to put in proper time off sheets, By his own admission, he completed
50% of the weekly required job searches. He was argumentative. He refused to dress
properly. He disputed that but there are numerous examples of when he was in jeans,
track suits and other inappropriate outfits identified in the vocational reports. He made-
pumerous personal calls during his computer labs. The petitioner refused to make up
dates that he missed. He missed appointments for personal court dates, for family issues,
for his birthday, for holidays etc. Yet he claims he is dedicated to finding work. -

Petitioner turned in job logs. A great deal of his alleged job search was conducted on the
internet.” He failed to provide confirmation sheets proving that he applied for wotk on-
line. The petitioner lacks credibility with his job search which is similar to lack of
credibility about his low back injury and similar to his Iack of credibility about injuring
his neck and shoulders at work.” -~ . . ' B

The petitioner disputes that he was non-compliance. His litany of excuses ‘became
exhausting and unpersnasive after recounting them at length. The petitioner agreed that .
he was paid maintenance by the respondent in order to compensate him for his time: |
during his job search. However, he did not perform a diligent job search. When asked to.
make up missed appointments, he was quoted in the vocational reports as saying he had
“other responsibilities,” which becamne a mantra, - '

‘When there is a lack of “good-faith” cooperation with vocational rehabilitation efforts,
fhe termination of benefits is justified. Hayden v Industrial Commission; 214 Ill. App.3d
749, 575 NE2d 99, 158 Ill. Dec 305(1% Dist. 1991). It is the petitioner’s obligation to -
make “good-faith efforts to cooperate in the rehabilitation effort”. Archer Daniels
Midland Co. v Industrial Commission, 138 Ili2d 107, 561, NE2d 623, 149 Ill.Dec 253
(1990) ‘ o , o

The Arbitrator finds that the Respondent’s termination of maintenance benefits as
of August 3, 2015 was long overdue, It is difficult to state the specific moment in time
when the Pefitioner was noncompliant with vocational rehabilitation. In this case, it is
immaterial for the following reason. Not only did Petitioner demonstrate a lack of “good
faith” with vocational rehabilitation, he demonstrated a lack of good faith throughout the
course of his medical care. For instance, Petitioner had an obligation to inform his
doctors of the pre-existing permanent work restrictions that were imposed by Dr. Arnold
in 2006, but he failed to do so. His employment duties after 2006 must have changed
dramatically as the result of those restrictions, yet he told them that he was working
heavy duty when he was injured. The voluminous medical records fail to show an
instance where the doctors knew that Respondent had accommodated his sedentary
restrictions from 2006 to 2012. If his physicians had known this fact, an FCE might not
have been prescribed, as Petitioner would have been returned to his sedentary job. At
least some inquiry would have been made about the matter, Further, the Petitioner had an

10
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obligation to inform the funct%nal capacity ez;gminersghage él pr5r;-exjsting permanent
sedentary restrictions, but failed to do so. Moreover, the Petitioner failed to inform the
vocational rehabilitation counselor of his pre-existing work restrictions. Additionally, he
attempted to claim that his pre-existing low back condition was related to the July 11,
2012 incident and he attempted to claim that his shoulder and neck pain were somehow
related to same occurrence. Finally, he could have set the record siraight with his
testimony at trial, but allowed the trier of fact to assume that he was working with no
restrictions on the date of loss. In summary, he had an obligation to act in good faith
throughout the course of his medical care and during the pendency of his claim, yet failed
to do s0. A lie of omission is the intentional failure to tell the truth in a situation requiring
disclosure. An example of which could be sellex’s failure to note a known defect on a real
estate disclosure form. The continued misrepresentation occurs when an important fact is
left out in order to foster a misconception. Lying by omission includes failures to correct
pre-existing misconceptions. In the present case, the Petitioner failed to inform others of
his pre-existing permanent sedentary work restrictions. As a result, no maintenance is
awarded and Respondent is allowed a credit for all mairitenance paid from September 30,
2_013untilAugust3,2015_; : [ ' S

(O) On what date did Petitioner reach maximum medical improvement?' ;

" While that issue is addressed in Paragraph (N) to this Decision, the Asbitrator
finds that the date that the Petitioner reached maximum medical improvement was
September 30, 2013. At that time, Dr. Cole placed the Petitioner at MMI and stated he
had permanent sedentary restrictions. These restrictions match the Petitioner’s pre-injury
state. The Petitioner worked as a blacksmith for Respondent from 2006 until the date of
accident on July 11, 2012, a period of six years with sedentary restrictions. ‘

The date of MMI following the Petitioner’s low back surgery was April 7, 2014,
but this date is imelevant, as the Iumbar spine component of this claim is not
compensable. However, it is interesting to note that the Petitioner’s final permanent
restrictions (light-medium) allow the Petitioner to wotk at 2 higher physical demand
level than those written in 2006. These final restrictions were embraced by the vocational
rehabilitation counselor of Petitioner’s choosing.

~ As aresult of the above, Respondent’s maintenance and temporary total disability
responsibilities ended on September 30, 2013. '

11
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 13WC020497
Page: 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) @ Affirr and adopt {no changes) D Tnjured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
. ¥ 88. D Affirmwith changes E] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
QQGNTY OF COOK ) [:] Reverse D Second In_mry Fund {§8(¢)18)
D PED/Fatal deniéd
D_ Modify @ None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Constance Sarlo,

Petitioner,

Va. NO: 13WC020497
ABM Industries Inc.,

Resporident, 1 6 I W CCO 72 7

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Peétition for Review-having been filed by the Petitioner/Respondent, herein and
notice given to all parties, the: Commission; after-considering the issues of medical expenses,
temporary total-disability, permaneni partial disability, maintenance. and vocational
rehabilitation, and being advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Décision of the
Arbitrator, which is attached ha:reta and made a part hereof.

IT 1S THEREEORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed Noveniber 24, 2015, is hereby affirmed and adopted:

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED:BY T HE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay: to
Petitioner interest under §19(n} of the Act, if any.

* IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have
credit for all amounts paid, if'any, to-or on behalf'of the Petitioner on account of said accidental
injury.
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Bond for removal of this cause to.the Circuit Court by Rc,gpondent is hereby fixed at the
sum of $20,900.00. The party commencing the procéedings for review in the Circuit Court shall
file with the. Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Rewew in Cmmt Court.

DATED: NOV § - zms
MIB/bm

a-1/1/16 |
052 Michael J. Brennan

LMM

K,e& in W Lambanij

Thomﬁs.i{. Tyr_rﬁil;,#’" / .-.
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NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

SARLO, CGNSTANCE : _ Case# 13WC020497

Employeelpetmoner '

. Ehpl§yé;mésppn-r§édt'

On 11/24:‘2015 an arbltration decxswn on thzs gase: was filed Wlth the I]lmols Workers Cnmpensahon o "
Comm:smon m C]:ncago B’ copy of whxch is ﬂnch}sed . ETUR E

_'Ifthe Commzsslon reviews thlS award mterest of 0 35% shaﬂ acerue from the date hsted above to the day _
before the date of payment however, ;f an employee g appeal resuits in eithcr 1o change or a decrease 111 thls,_ -

award mterest shali not accrue | :_ -

- =decxs.um s ma;led to thc toiiowmg partles

‘1993 'ROMANUCCI & auwnm

FRANK A SOMMARIO . R
’azmcmm(srsurreeﬁo EPIDT ISR
CHICAGO; 1L 605 s

: 2999 : L!TCHFIELD GA\ID LLC
'ANITA S JOHNSUN .
303 W MADISON ST SUITE 300
CHICAGO; il 60806 -
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o | D Injured’quke;Q"Be.n.e-ﬁ_.t Fund (§4(d)) |
g._Ra_te.AdeSLmentFund(5-8:(55_) L
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
L Yy 'N'oueoftﬁe_above : '
COUNTY OF COOK 3
ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION
CONSTANCE SARLO Case #13 WC 20457
Employee/Petitioner
o . . l -.wg Y _"S":- ..‘ :
ABM INDUSTRIES, INC., 4d0LnLULYY¢ 2'¢
Employcn’Rﬂspondent' :

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing
was mailed to each party: The matter was’ hieard by the Honorable Robeért Williams,
arbitrator of the Workers’ Compensation Comunission, in the city of Chicago, on
September 30 and October 28, 2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the
arbitrator hereby makes findings on the disputed issues, and attaches those findings to
this document. )

IssUES:

A. E:] ‘Was the respondeit operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers'
Compensation or Occupational Diseases Act?

B. E] Was there an employeg-smployer relationship?

. [ ] Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of the petitioner's
employment by the réspondent?

. ] What was the date of the accident?

[ ] ‘Was timely notice of the accident given to the respondent?

D4 1s the petitioner's present condition of ill-beinig causally related to the injury?
f What were the pétitioner's eamings? '

oo oW om oo

. D What was the pefitioner's age at the fime of the aceident?
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L D What was the petitioner's marital status at the time of the ﬁcﬁidemt‘?

1. @ ‘Were the medical services that were provided to petitioner reasonable and
necessary?

K. [X| What temporary benefits are due: [ TPD [X] Maintenance TTD?
L. @ What g the natare and extent of injury?

M. % Should penalties or fees be imposed upon the respondent?

N. [ ] 1sthe reﬁpendent due any credit?

0. [_] Prospective medical care?
FINDINGS

-+ Oi May 3, 20&3:} the respondent was operating under and-subject to the provisions of
‘the Act,

« On: this date, an cmpiayec»empieyer refativnship existed bistween. the petitioner and
respondent:

» On this date, the pefitioner sustained injuries: that arose out of and in the course of
employmant.

& -Timeiy.naﬁéé of this accident was given to the respondent. S e

. In the year precedmg the injury, ihe pehtxoner earned $41,964.00; the average weekly
WALEe WS SSO? J00.

+ At the fime of injury; the pefitioner was 37 years of age, married with two children
tnder 18, ‘ '

« The respondent agreed that the petitioner is entitled to temporary total dlsabshty
benefits for 58-5/7 weeks, from June 24,2013, thmugh Angust 15, 2014,

ORDER:

» The respondent shall pay the petitioner the sum of $484.20/week for a further period of
43 weeks, as provided in Section 8(e) of the Act, because the injuries sustained caused
‘the permanent partiaf disability to petitioner to the extent of 20%:loss Of use of her right

leg.

+ The respondent shall pay the petitioner compensation that has accrued from May 3,
7013, through October 28, 2015, and shall pay the remainder of the award, if any, in
weekly payments;
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« The medical care rendered the petitioner for her right knee thmugh July 9, 2014, was
reasonable and necessary and is awarded.. The medical care rendered the petitioner for
her Tumbar spine; left knee, ﬁbromya[gla and right knee after July 9, 2014, was not
reasonable or necessary.and. is denied. The respondent shall pay the medical bills. in
accordance with the Act, the medical fee schedule or any prior adjustments or
negotiated rate. The respondent shall be given credit for anty amount it paid toward the
‘medical bills, including any amourt paid within the provisions of Section 8(j) of the
Act and shall Hold the petitioner harmless for all the medical bills paid by its: group.
health insurance carrier.

« The petitioner’s request for penalties and fees is denied.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Perition for Review within 30 days

after receipt of this decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules,
then this decision shall be entered as the decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE [f the Commission reviews this award, interest at the

rate set forth on thé Notice of Decision of Arbitrator shall acerue from the date listed
below to the day before the date of payment; however, if an employee's appeal results in
either no change ot a decrease in this aw ard, interest shall not accrue,

M ) November 24, 2015

Signature of Atbitrator Date

OV 2 4 2008
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‘FINDINGS OF FACTS:

The petiﬁ’ou‘er, an r;cc'aunt_i_ag manager, gave a written injury statement on May 3,
2013, that she exﬁ_ea:i_ermed right knee pain while moving fimesheet files from the top
drawer of a ﬁlmg cabinet: to the bottom drawer and bendiﬂ'gf’squatting. ‘She sought éare
for her righﬁ knee at Concentra o’ﬁ_May 6" and reported bendin_g, squatling and meving
files from one drawer to another on May 3, 2013, Specifically, she reported that she was

squatting down to remove files and developed pain when she stood up, The doctor neted.

that the pam wag located over the posterior aspect of her right knee. Coﬁser&a_ﬁv: care
was preseribed for a knee strain. She saw Dr. Ashish Rawal on May gt Who.-nctecif_,a
h'_istor‘y' .cf'i_iﬁiﬁg files from a bottom to a top. shelf in a squatted i}o's'i_tion_ and: her
complaints of pain in the posterior aspect of her knee and swelling later that night. He
aﬁme:d_ that x-rays revealed somie mild thinning and spurring of'the— _patelquenmralijbmt.
ceﬁsister;t wﬁh-her previous history of patellofemoral pain, His asséssm&ﬁt was right
knee medtal Jomt line pain consistent with a meniscus tear, An MRI on Ji une 3“‘ revcaled
a small to moderate joint effusion, a small to moderate Baker's cys‘t a cyst at the:
proximal tibia miediaily inferior to the medial tibial plateau, mild cartilaginous thinning of
the lateral patellar ficet and no meniscal or ligament tear. She was given & cortisone
';a_gecﬁon;pg Jine 3% and 6. A cf sean on June 20 revealed mild medial compartraent
oseteoarthritis; a subchondral cystic;;- focus within the proximal tibia adjacent fo the

posterior cruciate ligament insertion and metallic f{_}'réign hodies iti the posteromedial soft

tissue of her knee. The same day, the petitioner informed Dr. Rawal that she had
recurront swelling in her right knee, weight bearing difficulty and pain in the posterior

aspect of her knee. Dr, Rawal opined on June 21% that the CT svan revealed that her tibia
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cyst was benign. Dr, Rav;'ral re_cemmended' an aﬁhro,scoL 6:11 &1%59%3}127

The petitioner reported continued posterior right knee pain to Dr. Rawal on July 9" The
| .d.oc‘tc;.r mféd .liaélstérior kﬁeﬁ teﬁ&emess, mﬁd hlterai | jéint '"Ime;tendem'esé and no mediﬁl
joint liné tenderness, An independent medical evatuation of her knees by Dr. Ali on July
16™ was negative except for diffuse tenderness over the joint lines of ber right knee. His
diagnosis was a knee strain.

The petitionér réported ‘a recent fall on August 7" Dr, Rawal noted posterior
swelling and medial joint line tenderness. On September 19%, Dr. Rawal performed a
right knee arthroscopic patellar and miedial femoral condyle chondroplasty and extensive
‘synovectomy. The postoperative diagnosis was medial femoral condyle trochlea lesion
and synm_’i_tiS.'The_petiﬁomr- followed up with Dr. Rawal and started physical therapy,
Dr: Rawal noted mild tenderness over the medial joint line, tendemess posteriorally over
_ﬁerﬁakc:f’-s cysi): dIld mild:pain with patellofemoral range of motion on October 16™. On
November 14%, the petitioner reported left knee and low back pain. It was noted that the
petitioner had tenderness in the ifmfer'paraspinél' region and mild soreness and teriderness
over the IT band and minimal joint line 'fgnQemes_s in her left knee. She reported

improved back pain on November 20" and bilateral patellofemoral knee pain, Dr.

Rawal's assessment on De¢ember 30" was bilateral patellofemoral syndrome and on
February 10, 2014; right patellar chondromalacia. On March 17" the petitioner reported
to Dr. Rawal treatmient for a recent exacerbation of her fibromyalgia. Physical therapy
was restarted by-Dr. Rawal oni April 16", |
X-rays of her knees on May 10, 2014, revealed bilateral patellofemoral

degenerative changes with joint space narrowing and hypertrophic spurring, unchanged
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' comparad ‘m x-rays on October , 2010. Her knees were aspirated on June 24" an
injected with Depo Medrol. The'peﬁtiﬂner— saw: Dr. Koutsky on July 9" and reported
bilateral knee pain, She was given work restrictions in accordance with an FCE. The
petitioner’s knees were aspirated and injected with Hyalgan on September 3 and
24", and October 1% and 8" Dr. Koutsky’s bilateral knee examination was unchanged at
eight follow-ups from August 21, 2014, through August 19, 2015,

Surveillance videos of the petitioner on May 7 and 8,°2015, show her picking up
toddlers, bending and putting a toddler into the rear of a car, pﬁ'shir_ig_ a stroller with two
toddlers, bending to the ground, liftng, rmunning, squatting, carrying toddlers aad Wa'lking'
to; around and from a park for approximately an hour.

.FINDING REGARI}ING WHETHER TE{E MEDICAL. SERVICES ?RGVIDED TO: PETITIGNER
ARE REASONABLE AND “{ECESSARY

D et The medical care rendered the. petitioner for her ri ight knee through.July 9, 2014, ..
was reasonablé and necessm'y' :m,_d is awarded. "the medical carc re:nder\,d the -getltiouer S
for her lum‘xiax .S.pi}leé.}..ﬁﬁ. knee, fibromyalgia and ri:g,_ﬁt knee after Jaly 9, 2014, was L:iu't
reasonable or necessary and is denied. Dr. Rawal released the petitioner with restrictions
puréuant to the FCE, Dr. Ali opined on Aug_ust. 7, 2014, that the petitioner was at
maximum. medical improvement and capable of réfuming to work pursuéﬁt”to- the FCE.
The petitioner was at maximum medical improvement on July 9, 2014.

FH\DE\EG REGARD]NG W’HETHER THE PETITIONER’S PRESENT LOWDI’HO’& OF JLL-BEING
1S CAUSALLY RELATED TO. THE ﬂ\ld URY:

Based upon the testimony and the evidence subrmitied; the petitioner proved that
her current condition of ili-being with her right knee is causally related to the work

injury. The petitioner had a pre-existing degenerative condition in her right knee that was

n |
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aggravated while performing her work duties on May 3, 217»6&4{0@ g@o7 27
prove that her current condition of ill-being with her lumbar spine, left kiee and
ﬁfﬁromyalgia is causally related to the work. ihjﬁry‘ The. petirti{m.er ciidnot rcpgx;t efi

receive treatment for her lumibar spine, left knee and fibromyalgia initially after the May-

3, 2013, incident.

FINDING REGARDING THE AMOUNT OF COMPENSATION DUE FOR TEMPORARY TOTAL
DISABILITY:

The petitioner was at maximum miedical improvement on July 9, 2014, and is
entitled to temporary total disability benefits up. to that date. The respondent agreed to
pay the petitioner temporary total disaﬁility benefits. from June 24, 2013, through August
15, 2014; therefore, no temporary total disability benetits are awarded.

FINDING REGARDING THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF‘ INJURY:

“The petitioner failed to prove that she is obviously incapable of employment or- “ - ==
that she cannot perform any services except those Wwhich are so limited in quantity,
dependability or quality that there is no reasonably, stable. labor market for them. The.
pétitioner can perform some form of employment without seriously endangering her
health or life. She has extensive experience in'the sedentary labor market of sccounting.
Also, she failed to prove that she conducted a genuing and diligent scarch for

employment. Her efforts were perfunctory and not a convincing legitimate job search

petitioner was employable and knows how to find employment. The surveillance videos
also disprove the petitioner’s testimony and reveal her ability to run; squat, bend, and

carry ‘and lift. The petitioner {s not believable or eredible. The petitioner's: request. for

permanent total disability disability benefits is dented,
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There is no AMA Jmpairment rating or evidence concerning the impact of the.
petitioner’s injury in regard to her occupation, age or future eamning capacity, as
delineated in Section 8,1{b)(i) through {iv) of the Act, nor can any effect be reasonably
inferred from the evidence. Regarding Section 8.1(b)(v), the petitioner complains of pain
and swelling in her right knee and difficulty with using stairs, She has good and bad days
and uses medication.

The respondent shall pay the petitioner the sum-of $484.20/week for a further
period of 43 weeks, as. provided in Section 8(¢) of the Act, because the injuries sustained
caused the permanent partial disability to petitioner fo the extent of 20% lass of use of her
Tight leg

FINDING REGARDING PENALTIES AND FEES?

‘The petiti'oner failed to prove that she is entitled to §19() and §19(k) penalties

'dud fﬁﬂs 'fhere was a genume dmputc rega.rdmg the issues. The petitioner’s request for

penalties-and fees is demied.
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) E] Injured Workers™ Benefit Fund {§4(d))
) 88, [:I Affirm with changes. [:] Rate Adjustment Fund (i‘;@(g)')
COUNTY OF COOK ) D Reverie D Second iﬂ;ury Furid ($8(¢)18)
_ D PTD/Faial denied
Maodify [g None of the above:

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION

John Lizon,

Petitioner,

Vs, NO: 09 WC 43267

Post General Contractors, LEC, 1 6 I W C C g 6 .
Respondent, | B 7 5

DECISION AND OPTNfOI\f ONREVIEW
Timely Pétition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of maintenance and penaliies and
atforney’s fees; modifies and' corrects the Corrected Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below
and otherwise afhrms and. adaptv. the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and

made i part hereof.

First, Respondent argues that the Arbitrator lacked jurisdiction under Section 19(f) of the
Att fo L,ha_nge her original decision and’ find that Petitioner was entitled to maintenance benefits

from May 8, 2015 through August 21, 2015,

The Commission notes that the Asbitrator issued @ decision on November 6, 2013
awarding maintenance benefits from December 4, 2012 through August 21, 2015 In that
decision, the Arbitrator explained fhat Petitioner had heen paid maintenance benefits from
Décember 4, 2012 through May 7, 2015 and that Petitioner “secks fifteen (15) additional weeks
of maintenance benefits from Mdy 8, 2015 through the date of trial.” The Arbitrator noted that
Petitioner failed to offer any job search I0gs into evidence documenting a self-directed job search
from May 8, 2015 to August 21, 2018 and that he testified that he believed he cannot return to
work in any physical capacity. Based on those findings, the Arbitrator determined that Petitioner
had faﬁed to meet his burden of prm:)f ior an award of maintendnce benefits from May 8, 2015

The parnes filed 19(f) petitions fioting that the award was inconsistent with the
explanation given in the decision. As a result, the Arbitrator granted the 19(£) petitions and on
December 7, 2015, she issued a Corrected Decision in which she again‘aw arded maintenance
benefits from. Decen1ber_ 4, 2012 through August 21, 2015 and explained that Petitioner had been
paid maintenance benefits from December 4, 2012 thmug] i May 7, 2015, The Arbitrator noted
that:

“[m]aintenance benefits were stopped affer the Petitioner-
was evaluated by Dr. Kevin Walsh. Petitioner seeks fifieen.
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{15) additional weeks of maintepance. bcnc:{l ﬁnL % C C 0 6 7 5

2015 through the date of trial, August 21, 2015. Petitioner
testified that he continued to sc.,arc:h for work after May 8,
2015. The Arbitrator concludes that Petitioner is entitled to
maintenance benefits from December 4, 2012 to August 21,
20157

Page 2

On review, Respomient argues that the Arbitrator did not have jurisdiction under Section
19(f) to. “substantially change her original decision and find that Petitigner - met his burden of
proof with respect to malntenance benefits: from May &, 2015 ‘to August 21, 20157
(Respondent’s Statement of Exceptions and Supporting Brief, pg.10) The Commission agrees.

Section 19(f) of the Act states, in pertinent part that:

“the Arbitrator ‘or the Commission may on hi§ or its own
motion, or on the motion of either party, correct any
clerical error or errars in computation within 15 days after
the date of receipt of any award. by such Arbitrator of amy
decision ot réview of the Comutiission and shall have the
power 1o recall the original award on arbitration or decision
‘on review, and issue in lieu thereof such corrected award or
decision.” (emphasis added) 820 ILCS 305/19(f) (2013),

There is no guestion that the original decision contained an anomaly in the form of
contradictory, -statements regarding maintenance: benefits. In correcting thal anomaly, the
Arbitrator changed her reasoning and, as such, substantially chianged her decision beyond the
correction ofa cletical or computational error, Howéver, while the Commission finds thai the
Arbitrator excecded the bounds of Section 19(f) of the Act, the (‘Gmrm‘ss&on finds, after a
comp}eta review ‘of the record, that Petitioner is entitled to maintenance benefits through August
21, 2015 and modilies the Arbitrator’s Corrected Decision to reflect as such

The Commission notes that the record establishes that Petitioner has been diligent and
cooperative during vocational rehabilitation and in his selfidirccted job searches, Mary Schunit,
the vocational rehabilitation counselor hired by Respondent i¢ help Petiticner find employnient,
testified that Petitioner was diligent but unsuccessful in finding cmploymuzt (T.176) The
yocational rehabilitation records show that despite Petitioner’s cooperation and diligence, he was
mable to find employment. (RX19) Ms. Schmit testified that Petitioner remained exnployab£e i
the consfruction industry even though the: industry was “recovering” and there is a “lot of
compétition for the jobs that are avidilable (T.178-179) Ms. Schmit admitted that i conkd be
even more difficult for Petitioner with. his permanent restrictions. (T.179) Ms. Schmit also
testified that she spoke to one of the adjustors on Petitioner’s case, ch“f Magin, and suggested
that Petitioner “consider taking junior college ‘estimating class” since “estimating u}nstmamn
positions tend to be physically easier and less demanding; He wouldn't have a big concern.”
(T,179-180)-Shie explained that the adjustcr did riot go along with her recommendation. (T.180)
Finally, Ms. Schmit testified that, in her experience, “when clients are cooperative with the
vocational process, they do confinue their maintenance benefits.” (T.188)

| It is. clear to the Commission that whiie Ms. Schniit provided job. search services to
Petitioner, she failed to- provide any vocational rehabilitation. . She had recommended vocational
rehabilitation iy the form of an estimating course, but Respnnden{ refused. The bottom line 18
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that Petitioner is still unemployed with permanentle actlaw thQaIQh'Zl lon

denied by the insurance company. Bascd on the Petitioner’s ongoing: ditigence and lack of
suctess during his job Sear{:h, the Commissibn finds that Petitioner is entitled to maintenance
benefits from May 8, 2015 through August 21, 2015.

Next; Respondent argues that the Ar’mtrater erred in awarding penalties and attormney’s
fees in this case. Again, the Commission agrees.

The Petitioner was given multiple opportunities by the Arbifrator to present evidence as 1o an
underpayment of temporary total disability benefits. At each Opportunity, Petitioner restaied that
19(b) petitions were filed and that said petitions were evidence of late payments,

Nowhere in the record is there evidence, documentary or testimonial, which delincates
the days and dates of late payment. Without such information, the Commission would be forced
to speculate as to the date that the Respondent was late in payment and the time that Petitioner
was forced to wait for payment.

The Comnission is not free to speculate as if relates to the alleged dilatory acts of the
Raspondmt The Commission must have some evidence which delineates the date that payment
was due and the date that payment was actually received. Had Petitioner testified with such
specificity ‘and Respondent failed to offer rebuttal, the Commission would have considered
Petitioner’s prayer for penalties, Based upon the record before us, Petitioner has failed to prove
an- entitlement to penalties. The Commission therefore vacates the award of penalties and
attorney’s fees.

Qo that the record. is clear, and there is no mistake as to the inteéntions or actions of this
Comunission, we have considered the record in its entirety. We have reviewed the. facts of the
matter; both from a legal and a medical / legal perspective. Furthermore, we liave considered all
of the festimony, exhibits, pleadmgs and arguments submitted by the Petitioner and the
Respondent, Finally, one should not arid cannot presume that we have failed to review any of the
record made: below. Though our view of the record may or may not be different than the
arbitrator’s, it should tot be presumed that we have failed to consider any evidence taken below.
Our review of this material is statuforily mandated and we assert that this has been completed.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Dwsmn of the
Arbitrator filed on December 7, 2015 is corrected and modified s stated above, and otherwise
affizmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sur of $800.00 per week for a period of 141-4/7 weeks, from December 4, 2012 through
August 21, 2015, in maintenance benefits. '

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay
Petitioner permanent’ partial disabil ity benefits of $664.72 per week for: 250 weeks (less
permanent partial disability credit of $7,200.00), because the injuries sustained” resulted in
permanent partial disability of 50% loss of use of the person as a whole, as provided in Section
8(d}(2) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respandent shall be given a
credit of $148,457,14 for temporary total disability benefits, $100,571.45 for ‘maintenance
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benefits and $7,200.00 as a permanent partial disability advance. for other banaﬁgg ﬁz? 5

credit 0f $256,228.59.

IT IS FURTHER QRD_ERE_D BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under Section 19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for 4ll amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court'by Responéent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $23,300.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Cireuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File {57 Review in Circuit Court,

DATED:  QCT 25 2816
MIB/ell

0-08/30/16

52

Kevin W. Lamborn
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ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION
CORRECTED ARBITRATION DECISION

John Lizon o Case #09 WC 43267
Employee/Petitioner '
v Consolidated cases:

Post Geperal Contractors, LLC

Employer/Respondent : 1 6 I W C C 0 6 ? 5

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this:matter, ard & Notice.of Hearing was méiied to each pa'rty( The
matter was heard by the Hororable Arbitrator Lvnetie Thompson-Smith, Asbitrator of the Commission, in the city of

Chicago, on-8/21/15. Afterreviewing all of the évidgnéé presented, the Ajbitrator hereby makes findings on the disputed
issues checked below; and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A, E]Was Responderit operating under and subject to tha Lltinois Workers' Compensation ar Occupational Diseases
Act?

D ‘Was ihere an employee-employer relationship?

[:] Did ani accident occur that a%ose out of andis the course of Petitioner’s employment by Respondent?
m What awas the date of the accident?

D Was timely notice of the accident given fo Respondent?

P _Is.?utitioncr's current condition of ilt-being c#uSalIy refated to the injury?

G. || What were Petitioner's earnings?

H. [ | What was Petitioner's age at the tinie of the accident?

D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

I & Were the médic_al services that were pro vided to Béti_tiaa_e_r reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent paid all
‘appropriate charges for all reasonable and necéssary medical services?

What temporary b:neﬁts arein dis_pute?
l:l TP @ Maintenance . E:] TTD
L. _ What is the natare and extent of the injury?
M. _ Should penalties or fees be dmposed u_poﬁ Respondent?
N. [ }1s Respondent due any credit?

7

0. DOther :

ICAHbDze 2/ 1. 10O W, Rundolph Street #8300 Chizago, JL 60601 313/814-6611 Tollfree 856/352-3033 - Web site: Wwig el gow
Downstate offives: Collinsvifle 618/346-2¢50° Peoria 309/671.3019. Rockford BISRET-7292 Sprivigheld 217/785-7654.
This forrm i3 a true and exast sopy-of the susrend TWCT form JCArbDec, ne fevised 2710, ) )
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On 03-14:2000, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.
On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On thiis date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of eniployment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent, -
In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earnied $62,400.00; the average weekly wage was $1,200.00 .
On the dafe of accident, Pefitioner was 38, years of age, marded . with 2 childrenunder 13.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $148,457.14 for TTD, $0'for TPD, $100,571.45 for maintenance, and $7,200 (PPD
advance) for other benefits, for a total credit of $256,228.59 .

Respondent is entitled to a credit of §0 _ under Section &(j} of the Act.

ORDER
Respondentshall pay Petitioner. maintenance benefits from December 4, 20 12 to August 21, 2015,

The Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $664.72/week for 250 weeks (less -
PPD credit of §7,200), because the injuries sustained resulted in permanent partial disability of 30% loss of the
man as 4 whole, as provided in Section 8(d)(2) of the.Act.

Respondent shall he given a credit of $148,457.14 for temporary total disability benefits, $100-571 45 for maintenance;
and $7,200 (PRD advance) for other henefits, for a total credit of $256,228.59.

Respondeiit shall pay Petitioner penatties of $1,000.00, pursnant to Section 19(k) of the Act, penﬁifies‘ of
$10,000.00, pursuant to section 19(1) of the Act, and attorney’s fees of $2,548,57, pursuant {o section 16 of the
At

RULES REGARDING APPEALS: Unléss a party files a Pefition for Review within 30 day’sa’fter receipt of this decision, and
perfects @ teview in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall bé entered as the decision of the
Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATES If the Comemission reviews this award, interest of at the rate set forth on the Notice of
Degision of Arbitrator shalt sccrue ftom the date listed below to the-day before the date of fayment; however, itan
emplovee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award; interest shali not acerue,
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FINDINGS OF FACT

The disputed issués in this matter are: 1) causal connection; 2} maintenance; 3) penalties; 4)
attorney’s fees; and 5) the nature and extent of Petitioner’s injuries. .See, AX1.

Mr. John Lizon, (“Petitioner”) was emploved by Post General Contractors, LLC, {“Respondent”) as a
superintendent/project manager. Petitioner testified that his job required him to “run all the trades,
take care of job conditions and anything else that was not covered by the subcontractors”. Petitioner
was hired in October of 2008 and supervised a renovation project at the Shrine Nightclub in Chicago.
Petitioner was required to move material including concrete bags, wood and metal studs. Petitioner
was also responsible for supervising all the subcontractors, working with plumbing, masonry and
ventilation.

On May 14, 2009, the petitioner was working on a ladder when it collapsed. Petitioner fell to the
ground and landed on his left shoulder and “smashed” his left hand. Petitioner was taken via
ambulance to Mercy Hospital. The: admitting diagnosis was left shonlder arm pain and Petitioner
complained of pain in his left shoulder, arm and hand. X-rays of the left shoulder and elbow did not
reveal any fractures. An x-ray of the left wrist revealed a non-displaced fracture. Petitioner was
advised to remain off work and was referred to'an orthopedist for further evaluation, PX1.

On May 15, 2000, the petitioner presented to OAD Orthopedics. He was evaluated with respect to his
left wrist complaints by Dr. Anup Bendre, an orthopedic surgeon. Dr. Bendre diagnosed the petitioner
with a distal, radius fracture and a median nerve injury-and recommended surgery. PXa.

On that same day, Petitioner was evaluated by Dr. Aaron Bare, regarding his left shoulder complaints.
Updated x-rays of the left shoulder did not reveal any fractures. Range of motion testing in the
cervical spine did not reproduce shoulder pain. Dr. Bare diagnosed petitioner with a left shoulder
contusion with possible internal derangement. Dr. Bare kept the petitioner off work and advised him

to rest his shoulder for three (3) weeks. :

On May 19, 2009, Dr. Bendre performed an open reduction and internal fixation of the laft distal
radius fracture. Petitioner was kept off work and advised to begin physical therapy. On June 5, 2009,
the petitioner returned to Dr. Bare for'an evaluation of his left shoulder. Petitioner reported that his
pain complaints were no better however; he denied any neck pain or radicular symptoms. On May 29,
2009, Dr. Bendre performed new x-rays of the left wrist and advised the petitioner that he could
returd to work, witht restrictions, Ultracet and physical therapy were prescribed.

On June 5, 2009, Dr. Bare ordered an MRI of the left shoulder and on June 9, 2009, the petitioner
began physical therapy,
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On June 26, 2004, after reviewing the MRI ﬁbn_& Dr. Bare diagnosed Petitioner as having a non-
displaced fracture of the acromial end of the distal clavicle. Dr. Bare released the petitioner to return
to work with a fifty (50) pound lifting restriction and advised him to continue physical therapy.

Petitioner returned to Dr. Béndre on Augnst 21, 2009, reporting “puffiness”/soreness in the palmar
aspect of his index finger, with gripping. Dr. Bendre performed a carpal tunnel injfection and advised
him to continue therapy and to remain off work. PXz,

Petitioner returned to Dr. Bare on August 21, 2009. Petitioner was pleased with his progress
regarding the left shoulder, as he had a full range of motion with intact strength. Petitioner had
minimal pain with cross arm adduction. Dr. Bare placed the petitioner at MMI and released him to
full duty, with respectto the left shoulder.

Petitioner returned to Dr. Bendre on September 21, 2000, who noted that Petitioner’s fracture had
healed without complications. Petitioner complainted of persistent pain in the volar radial aspect of
his wrist brought on/aggravated by holding a bowling ball and pushing a stroller. Dr. Bendre.
recommended hardware temoval surgery, which was performed on ©October 19, 2009, Dr. Bendre
prescribed additional therapy and light dity work restrictions, PX2.

On Qctober 26, 2009, Petitioner sought a secord opinion regarding his left qhotﬂdér, with Dr.
Howard Freedberg of Suburban Orthopedlcs Di. Freedberg diagnosed Petitioner with left shoulder
inpingement and x-says revealed a healed distal dlavicie fracture. Dr. Frevdbery injecred Petitiones’s
left shoulder and recommended additional physical therapy. PX4.

Petitioner continued to treat with Dr. Bendre for his left wrist. On October 30, 2009, additional
physical therspy was ordered and Petitioner's light duty restrictions were continuéd: Petitioner
retirned to Dr. Benidre on December 7, 2009, who recommended an updated MRI of his feft wrist.
PX3.

On December 15, 2009, an MRI of the left wiist was read to show post-operative changes of the distal
radius, a mild strain of the pronator quadratus muscle and mild degenerative arthritis of the radial
clavicle joint. Petitioner stopped therapy for his left wrist on January 5, 2010.

On December 18, 2009, Fehhaner was exdamined by Dr. Sandeep J ejurikar, by request of Respondent.

’ Dr. J ejurikar diagnosed the petitioner as having flexor tenosynovitis which was causally related to his
work injury. He also stated that the medical treatment, to date, was reasonable and necessary, that
the petitioner required light duty restrictions and would benefits from either more injections or
possible surgery. PX12.
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On January 5, 2010, Petitioner completed physical therapy on his left wrist and on January 8, 2010,
Dr. Bendre reviewed the MRI of the left wrist and discussed the Section 12 exam report with him and
the nurse case manager. The doctor offered to either do another surgery or the petitioner could try
work conditioning and then a functional capacity evaluation, (“FCE”). Petitioner chose to think about:
it and in the meantime, Dr. Béndre prescribed work conditioning. PX3, p. 77-79.

On January 11, 2010, petitioner returned to Dr. Freedberg, who diagnosed him with a cervical strain
and posterior nerve.root irritation. This is noted to be approximately eight (8) months after the
accident. Petitioner was advised to continue therapy and remain off work. PX4.

After three days of work conditioning, the pehtmner self-terminated the program due to pain
complaints. Petitioner returned to Dr. Bendre on January 22, 2010, complaining of pain at the base of
his thumb joint. Dr; Béndre opined that Petitioner’s pain may be related to flexor tendon adhesions
and/m: tenosynovitis at the tevel of the carpal tunnel, Dr. Bendre recommended a tenosynovectomy
of the flexor tendons and a carpal tunnel release. PX3.

Petitioner returned to Dr. Freedberg on February 22, 2010, and was released to return to work full
duty for his left shoulder. On February 25, 2010, the petmaner uriderwent a tenosynovectomy of the
digital flexor tendon as well asa carpal tunue} reiease On March 2, 2010, Petﬁ:loner restarted. ph}s&cal
therapy at‘OAD Orthopedics. s '

" OnApril 19, "5010, Petitianer returned to Dr. Freedberg, reporting that he was feeling 85-907% overall
improved. Petitioner was released to return work full duty for his Jeft shoulder. Petitioner completed
physical therapy for hiz left wrist on May 13, 2010 and returned fo Dr. Bendre on May 17, 2010
reporting that his complaints were no better after surgery. Dr. Bendre recommended a second
opinion or an FCE.

On May 13, 2010, he completed physical therapy on the left wrist at OAD and on May 17, 2010, Dr.

Bendre recommended a second opinipn or tepeat IME and an FCE, Pet;tmner advised Respondent‘
that he then wanted a second opinion with Dr. Charles Carroll at Northwestern for his left wrist. On-
May 21, 2010, nurse case manager Linda Sav age of Alaris Group was placed on the. file by
Respondent. Petitioner testified that the respondent did not authorize the FCE or the second opinion
with Dr. Carroll. On June 3, 2010, Dr. Fréedberg released him at MMI for the left shoulder. PX3;pp.

22-24,

Petitioner returned to Dr. Freedberg on June 3, 2010, complaining of periodic discomfort when
holding something or }'aying dowm, Peﬁﬁoner leported that he was not taldng medir:aﬁon or

and piaced him at MMI fDr his left shoulder
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Petitioner underwent an IME with Dr, Sandeep Jejurikar on June 8, 2010 regarding his left wrist. Dr,
Jejurikar recommended additional work hardening and an FCE. Dr. Jejurikar belisved that the
petitioner may require some Jevel of permanent restrictions.

Pat;tmner returned to Dr. Bendre on June 18, z010. Work conditioning and a second functional

capacity evaluation were ordered. On July 6, 2010, petitioner began work cozzcimonmg at AthlefiCo.
PXg &7

"Petmoner testified that on July 8, 2010, a 19(b)/8(a) emergency and penalty petition had to be filed
for Augnst 17, 2010, before then Arbitrator Peterson, to reinstate TTD that had not béen paid since
June 27, 2010, On August 1, 2010, Adjuster Ladonna Allen issued & theck in the amount of
$3,200.00, for four {4) weeks of TTD arrearag,e. PX17.

The petitioner campleted an FCE on August 5, 2010, which was determined to be valid and stated that
the petitioner could function at the “lght-medium” (up to 40 pounds) phy ‘sical damand level. It was
recommended that Petitioner have additional work conditioning in order to attain the medium level
ability, required by his job dutles :

On August 9, 2010, Petltmner retumed to Dr, Bendre, complammg of pain in his thumb and index
. ... Aager. Dr. Bendre released the petitioner to return to work with péimanent restrictiots of no lifting

greater than fori,y (40) ‘pounds with gither extremity and he was placed 4t maximum medmal
nnywvmumu( MMI Y. PR3,

Pennoner tes*aﬁed that the respandant did not take hlm back with his restrictions and he dxd not
receive any TTD. Petitioner, states that on August ‘30,2010, his attorney. appeared before then
Arbitrator Peterson, where Respondents attorney advised that he was awaiting a response from the
adjuster, as to status of TID issuance, thus Arbitrator Peterson continued the case-to September 2,
2010 for status on the issuance of TTD. FPetitioner's attorney. also states that on September 2, 2010,
respondent’s attorney advised that the TTD check was isstied and that the ad;uster would authorize
the second opinion with Dr. Carroll so Arbitrator Peterson returned the case to the call. On
September 5, 2010, Petitioner receWQd the TTD that was owed from August 9, 2010. Petitioner
testified that he was aware ‘that an October 11, 2010, another 19(b) and penalty petition was filed for
October 19, 2010 before Arbitrator  Peterson because the adwster still had not sent ‘written
authorization for him to ses Dr. Carroll. Petitioner also testified that the respondent was no longer in
business and that he could not perforin his former job as a project manager, with his current,
permanent restrictions, PX17.

Petmoner finally preseited to Dr, Charles Carroll IV of NorthShore Orthopedics on. November 22,
2010. Petitioner complained of niimbness and tingling in his thumb and index finger along with pain
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in his index, long and small fingers. Dr. Carroll diagnosed petitioner with ¢arpal tunnel syndrome and
recommended an EMG study of Petitionér’s left upper extremity, PXg.

Pefitioner testlﬁed that in late December 2010, there was another delay in TTD payment, He had not
been. pmd since December 19, 2010 and the adjuster had not authorized the EMG, so he was aware
that another 19(h) and penalty petition was filed on Jamiary 18, 2011 for February 17, 2011 before
Arbitrator Peterson. On March. 7, 2011, Petitioner recelved his TTD check for December 20, 2010
through March 7, 2011, in the amount of $8,800.00 which was eleven weeks of benefits. Petitioner
testified that at least eleven (11) 19(b) and penalty petitions had to be filed during’ the course of the
case because Respondent continuously did not pay TTD.or authorize treatment timely, sometimes for
pertods.of up to eleven (11) weeks at a time, Tr. pp. 49-50, 53; PX17. :

Petitioner testified that on April 11, 2011, he received a bill from Respondent's Section 12 examiner,
Dr. Jejurikar because the adjuster did not pay the bill. Petitioner testified that in April 2011, there
was another issue with TTD being paid timely since. April 4, 2011 so another 19(b) and penalty
petmon was filed on April 21, 2011 for May 17, 2011 before Arbitrator Peterson. On May 2, 2011,
petitioner underwent the EMG that Dr. Carroll prescribed on November 22, 2010, almost seven
months prior, On May 23, 2011, Petitioner received TTD owed from Apn} 19, 2011 through May 30,
2011, in the amount of $4,800. 00. Petitioner testified that on May 24, 2014, the adjuster began
sending the 'TTD cheecks directly to-his-attorney so that the attorney could monitor when TTD waglate,

Tr. pp. 51-54; PX17; PX9; pp. 55, 231-235; PX17.

Petitioner testified that in September of 2011, he was still awaiting written anthorization to be sent to
Dr. Carroll, to-be seen in follow-up after the EMG, so another 19(b) and penalty petition was filed on
September 19, 2011 for October 18, 2011 before Arbitrator Dollison. Petitioner testified that he was
finally able to see Dr, Carroll on November 29, 2011, who after his review of the May 2, zo11 EMG,
which was done six months earlier. He diagnosed him with a median nerve compression, prescribed
surgery and continued his work restrictions. :

Petitioner testified that in. October 2011, there was another issue of TTD not being paid. Another
19(b) and penalty petition was filed on November 30, 2011 for December 15, 2011 before Arbitrator
Thompson-Smith because TTD had not been paid since October 10, 2011. Petitioner testified that on
December 7; 2011, he finally received TTD from October 11, 2011 through December 7, 2011, in the
amount of $6,400.00. On December 27, 2011, the case was returned to the call by Arbitrator
Thompson-Smith because Respondent’s attorney advised that TTD was paid through December 21,
2011 and that adjuster was awaiting the full November 29, 2011 report of Dit. Catroll, to determine if
surgery would be authorized. Tr. pp. 54-56; PXo, pp. 54, 237-238; PX17.

On February 21, 2012, another 19(b) and penalty petition was’ filed for March 15, 2012 before
Arbitrator Thompson—Smlth because TTD was not paid since February 1, 2012 and surgery still was

7




0-Dex On-Line
www.gdex.com

John Lizon

09 WC 43267 1 6 I ﬁ C C G 67 5

not authorized. On March 27, 2012, a new adjuster named Myrna Castaneda was placed on the file
and the case was continued by Arbitrator “Thompson-Smith because respoudent g-attérney advised
that TTD was issued by new adjuster and that TTD would be paid timely from now on. Later in the
day on March 27; 2012, Petitioner received his TTD check for February 20, 2012 through March 20,
2012, in the amount of $5,371.45. '

On May 15, 2012, 4 Dew case manager named Marianne Drafkey was placed on the file to procure
anthorization for Dr. Carroll to perform surgery. On June 11, 2012, Petitioner was able to see Dr,
Carroll in a follow-up since his November 29, 201t visit, and schedule surgery for July 17, 2012. On
June 29, 2012, Petitioner had his pre-operation testing, and on July 17, 2012, Dr. Carroll performed
surgery, consisting of revision, exploration and decompression of left median nerve at carpal tunnel,
hand and forearm and microneuroplasty of median nerve, On .July 3o, 2012, Dr. Carroll prescribed
physiecal theram and on August 1, 2012, Petitioner began physical therapy at Athlet:Co Tr. pp. 35-58;
?‘im, PP, 25-27; PXQ, pp. 28-131, PX17,

On. September 10, 2012, Dr. Carroll advised him to continue in physical therapy, which Petitioner
completed on October 25, zo1z. On October 29, 2012, Dr. Carroll prescribed an FCE. On November
14, 2012, petmcmer underwent the FCE at AthletiCo which was noted to be vahd and recommendad
that he could return to work in a seden‘tmy to E1ght physical demand. level job with a twenty (20)
p@und maximuin occasional lifting restriction on the left extremity. On December 3, 2012, Dr. Carroll
" advised him to continue home exercise program and released him at MMI, with permanent
restrictions perthie November 14, 2013 FCE.

Petitioner testified that his employer did not take him back to work with the restrictions so
Respondent began paying maintenance benefits as of December 4, 2012, but did not immediately
commence vocational rehabilitation. Tr. pp. 60-64; AX1.

Petitioner testified that on December 11, 2012, he still had pain for both the left shoulder and left
wrist. He wanted to see Dr. Freedberg for the left shoulder but needed authorization to be seen and to
get another second opinion doctor regarding the left wrist, On March 4, 2013, Arbitrator Thompson-
‘Smith returned the case to the call, since respondent’s attorney advised that maintenance was being
paid and that he was awaiting a response from the adjusteras to whether they would authorize the
appointment swith Dr. Freedberg for the left shoulder; and authorize a second opinion doetor for the
left wrist. They alo needed to do another Section 12 exam or commence vocational rehabilitation.

Petitioner testified that there was another issue with his TTD/maintenance benefits not being paid in
late March 2013 so on April 5, 2013, another 19(b) and penalty petition was- filed for May 15, 2013
before Arbitrator Thompson- -Smith in order to get respondent to authorize appointments, commence
vocational rehabilitation, and pay TTD/maintenance., On April 30, 2013, Petitioner recaived his
TTD/mairitenance for March 27, 2013 through Apnil 23, 2013, in the dmount of $3,200.00 from the

b
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new adjuster; Jeff: Mazmh On Juné 4, 2013, Arbitrator Thompson—Smlth retumed tbe caztgne call
because respondent’s attorney advised that TTD/ maintenance was again being: ‘paid and that Ms.

Mary Schmit of Triune would be: contacting Petitioner’s attorney to schedule an initial vocational
rehabilitation meeting.- PX17.

On May 2, 2011, Petitioner underwent the EMG study, which findings suggested the presence of
median neuropathy. Petitioner returned to Dr. Carroll on November 29, 2011 to review the EMG
study results and Dr. Carroll diagriosed him as having median nerve compression and recomnmended
a left median nerve exploration and release. He released the petitioner to return to work with a forty
{40) pound lifting restriction. PX9.

Petitioner returned to Dr. Carroll on June 13, 2012, complaining of pain in his left hand. Dr. Carroll
examined Petitioner’s left shoulder and did not find any ‘abnormalities, Petitioner had positive
Phalen’s and Tinel’s tests and was diagnosed with carpal tunnel syndrome. Dr. Carroll recommended
a left carpal tunnel revision and release, On July 17, 2012; petitioner underwent a left median nerve
decompresswn and carpal tunnel release and remained off work.

On Aiigust 1, 2012 Petitionier began physical therapy at AthletiCo, Petitioner returned t6 Dr. Carroll
on September io, 2012 compiaanmg of ulmar numbness since the last surgery. Petitioner was advised
- to eentinue physical therapy, which he completed Petitioner returned toDr- Carrell-on Oc:tober 20,
2012, who recommended work conditioning and an FCE.

On November 29, 2012, Petitioner underwent an FCE at AthletiCo, The examiner noted that the
petitioner’s physical demands of his pre-injury job as a carpenter were identified as “very heavy” per
the Department of Transportation (“DOT"). The examiner did not have a funetional job- description
from the employer. The FCE determined that Petitioner could function at the sedentary to light level
of work and he had no limitations with respect to standing, walking, sitting, balancing, stooping;
crouching, or climbing. Petitioner was limited to lifting 20 pounds from floor to 31 inches and 10
pounds from floor to 61 inches; Petitioner was able to carry 20 pounds up to 100 feet, push and pull
251035 poun&s and chmb aladder up to 8 feet. The test results were deemed valid. PX8.

Petltloner returned to Dr. Ca,rrcall on December 3, 2012, who determined that he had reached
maximuim medical improvement. The doctor released the petitionier to return fo work with permanent
restrictions per the functional capacity evaluation, PXgﬁ

Petitioner testified that after his release from care, he did not begin searching for work: Petitioner
testified that he could not return to respondent's employ as they had ceased operations in 2010. He
further testified that several monthe later, he met with Ms. Mary Schmit, a certified rehabilitation
counselor with Triune Health Group. The initial vocational assessment took place on May 13, 2013.

According to the initial vocatiomal assessment, the petitioner had ‘worked as a
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constriiction/superinténdent for Post General Contractors for eight months before the accident.
Petitioner previously worked as a project manager/construction superintendent for another compary

known as Single Site Solutions for approximately ten (10) years: Petitioner also ran his own home
remodeling business for seven (7) years, RX1.

A transferable skills analysis was performed and determined that Petitioner was employable at the
sedentary to light physical demand level, based upon his previous work experiences and skills, Ms.
Schmit identified positions within that demand level that Petitioner would be qualified to perform.
She targeted positions such as conistruction supervisor, foreman, maintenance manager, construction
inspection, lumber estimator and a construction estimiator.- Accordmg to Ms, Schmit’s initial

assessment, the plan was to have him apply for positions within the construction trade that were
within his permanent restrictions.

Petitioner returned to Dr. Howard Freedberg on June 17, 2013, complaining of left shoulder and left
wrist pain, Petitioner stated that his left shoulder pain had worsened and complained of pain behind
his left shoulder blade: Petitioner reparted that his left wrist pain was worse than before surgery with
Dr. Carroll.. Petitioner had a normal physxcai examination except for positive tenderness to palpation
in the cervical spine. X-rays of the left shoulder were normal, Cervical spine x-rays rev ealed Ca
osteophytes. Petitioner was diagnosed with left shoulder bursms/tendomtls and cervical referred
rhomboid pain, Petitioner was referred to. Dr, Dmitty Nuovoseletsky, a pain maragernent physicicn, for
further evaluation. PXs.

On June 25, 2013, the petitioner was evaluated by Dr. Novoseletsky, complaining of constant pain in
his shoulder blade atea. Dr. Novoseletsky performed a left subscapular injection. Petitioner was
jnstructed to return in two weeks. Petitioner returned to Dr. Novoseletsky on July 9, 2013, stating that
the injection helped for three to four days. Petitioner was diagnosed. with cervical spondylosis and.
scapular pain. Petitioner was recommended to have injections at the Cg, C4-and Cs level.

Petitioner testified that he began searching for work in the construction industry in July of 2013,
contacting 20 to 30 potential employers a week. Petitioner obtained interviews within the first few
weeks of searching for work however; he never received a job offer. O cross-examination, Petiioner
admitted that he received one job offer from-a demolition company. He testified that he did not accept
the position as the job required him to help load trucks in additionto hJ.s superintendent duties.

Petitioner continued to search for work as a project manager/construction superintendent: for the
remainder of 2013 and into 2014, 'The petitiotier’s job search is documented in the vocational reports.
The repoz’ts mdxcata that petltloner tecelved apprommdtely one interview a month for positions in
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On July 28, 2014, the petitioner accepted a volunteer position with Projx Censtruction. Petitioner
volunteered from July 28 through August 4, 2014 as a project manager. Petitioner testified that he
was not paid. Petitioner testified that the purpose of the volunteer position was to determine if he
could physically perform the work that was required. Petitioner testified that he gualified bids, put
together schedules and “did stuff on permitting”. He testified that he performed all the duties of a
project tnanager.

According to the vocational progress report, the petitioner was not offered a position after the
volunteer period ended. Petitioner was told that if the company's business ircreased, he would be
considered for a job, RX12.

Petitioner continued his job search throughout the remainder of 2014. He received several interviews
for project management positions. Petitioner did not receive any job offers at this time. RXs 12-15.

On January 16, 2015, the petitioner returned to Dr. Carrell. Petitioner complained of pain in his palm
with forceful gripping along with ‘pain and stiffness radiating to the index: and small finger.
Petitioner’s left wrist examination revealed pain with flexion. Petitioner had a normal left shoulder
examination. Petitioner was diagnosed with pain from the radicscaphoid joint and an old fracture. Dr.
Carmi I released Petitioner to return to wc:rk, with permanent restrictions of qedentary to light duty.
Petitioner toid- Dr, Carrol that he warted a referral for a different opinion. Dr. Carroll provided -
Petitioner with 4 referral to Dr. Michael Vender. PX10,

Petitioner testified that he continued to search for work in the project management/construction
superintendent field. The vocational progress reports dociment several more interviews for project
manager positi'onsa RX5 16-18.

On April 28 2(}15, the petitioner underwent an IME with Dr, Kevin Walsh, who determined that the
petitioner had a relatively normal physical examination. Petitioner had a negative Tinel's and
Phalen's test and good range of motion in his wrist. Petitioner had full strength and range of motion
in his shoulders. Dr. Walsh also reviewed a surveillance video and noted that the petitioner was
‘participating in activities of daily. living without any obvious restrictions. Dr, Walsh opined that
petitioner’s pain complaints were disproportionate to his injury, given the healed fracture. Dr. Walsh
felt the FCE restrictions were far too limiting for the petitioner’s diagnosis and physical examination.
Dr. Walsh determined that Petitioner had reached MMI and was capable of returning to work full
duty. - In his April 28, 2015 Section 12 gxam report, Dr, Wiilsh opined that his diagnoses. were
consistent with the diagnoses of the prior. Section 12 examiners, but that all of Petitioner’s current
subjective complaints were not related to his May 14, 2009 accident, based on the length of time.
Petitioner testified that his appointment was set-for 9:00am but when he got there, he was told it was
not till 2:00 p.m. so he had to leave and come back. He further testified that once he was seen by Dr.
Walsh, the appointment lasted between 5-10 minutes.
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On April 30, 2015, Arbitrator Thompson-Smith continued the case because Respondent's attorney
advised that he was awaiting receipt of the April 28, 2015 Section 12 exam report. Tr. p. 83; RX21.

Petitioner testified that on May 21, 2015, he received a fax from respondent’s counsel that no further
mmaintenance would be paid, based on the Section 12 exam report of Dr. Walsh. On May 28, 2015,
Arbitrator Thompson-Smith continued the case for trial to August 21, 2015 and recommended that
respondernt make an advance permanent partial disability payment.

On June 18, 2015, ancther 19(b) and penalty petition was filed for July 7, 2015 before Arbitrator
Thompson—Snnth because Respondent hiad neither paid the PPD advance or maintenance since May
7, 2015. Petitioner testified that on June 25, 2015, he finally received the December 27, 2013 Section
12 exam report of Dr. Wysocki; and on June 30, 2015, Petitioner and Ms. Schmidt were advised that
voeational rehabilitation was being terminated by the respondent.

On June 30, 2015, formal vocational rehabilitation ceased and the petitioner testified that he
continued to'search for work on his'own, He testified that he had a few job interviews butno offers of
employment.

Petitioner testified that on July 24, 2015, he received the $7,200.00 PPD advance check. On July 29,
.. 2015, Arhitrator Thompson=Smith noted that the case was already set for trial on Augprrtos 2015a0d
continued the pending penalty petition. Tr. p. 86; PX17; RXIQ

Petitioner testified that he continued to look: for jobs after he was advised that the vocational
rehabilitation process was being terminated up through the trial date but still did not find any jobs or
receive anyjcb offers. Petitioner did not offer any job search logs into-evidence from June 30, 2015 to
the date uf trial. Petitioner testified t}ﬂoughont'the, case, he would receive unpaid medical bills,

are bemg proeessad for p*xyment by respendent T_r _pp 86-87; P‘_{l'?, RX],E‘

Petitioner testified that he was paid TTD from May 15, 2069 through December 3, 2012; and
‘maintenance from December 4, 2012 through May 7, 2015 and that at least eleven (11) 19(b)s and
penalty petitions had ta be filed during the course of the case becaunse Respondent continuously
refused to pay benefits or timely approve medical treatment.

Petitioner testified that he applied for social security disability, but did not remember when he
applied. Petitioner believed that Ms. Schmit had recommended that he apply for SSDL Petitioner also
testified that he was denied benefits by the Social Securfty Administration and has not appealed the
decision. Petitioner did not offer the denial letter into evidence.
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Regarding his current left shoulder complaints; Petitioner testified that his left shoulder is “a big
nuisance” but that he is “not in a great deal of pain”. He testified that he experiences left shoulder
paixn if he sits too long or sleeps on his shoulder and when he drives, He testified that he is not really
restricted with doing anything and testified that his strength is “fine” in his left shoulder.

Regardmg his left wrist, Petitioner testified that he is in constant pain. He testified that he
experiences. pain in his index finger and thumb and numbness in his ring and pinky finger. Petitioner
testified that he has decreased grip strength in his left hand, although he is not taking any narcotic
pain medication for either his left shoulder or wrist. Petitioner testified that he takes non-preseription
strength Aleve on a daily basis,

Regarding his current medical treatment, petitioner testified that he siill wishes to see Dr, Michael
Vender. He. testified that he wants his left hand “fixed”, Petitioner testified that he wishes to have
further medical treatiment as he “wants toreturn to the job he had before”.

Petitioner testified that he feels he complied with vocational rehabilitation and that his earning
capacity has been diminished, as ‘e can no longer perform his usual and customary trade. Petitioner
testified that no doctor has told him that it would be detrimental to kis health or safety if he returned

_ towork. Petitioner agreed that he did not have any restnmons on the amount of hours in a day that

8 ‘--uheeotﬂfi work and no restrictions with respect to mttmg, stanémg or walking or with respect-to hise- -
right upper extremity.

Petitioner testified that he bowls on a regular basis and that no doctor has told him that he cannot
bowl. He testified that he primarily uses his right arm to bowl as he is rlght—handcd Petitioner
admitted that he uses his left hand to stabilize the ball. He testificd that he experiences pain when he
bowls and drinks more while howling, dueto his pain complaints.

Petitioner believed that he is not physically capable of working ¢ and does not believe he.can return to
work in any capacity. Petitioner testified that he had applied for over-2000 positions and has been on

“countless interviews” and * no one Will hire me”, Petitioner testified that he believes his problem is
his education, as he does n_o_t have a college degree and the “big contractors” will not hire him.

Petitioner testified that he does not believe hé is physically capable of performing a less physically
demanding job in a different industry, Petitioner admitted that he only targeted jobs exclusively
within the construction industry. These included jobs as a project manager, construction
superintendent and construction sales. Petitioner testified that he never applied for any entry level
‘unskilled jobs.

Petitioner denied ever working for'Projx Construction. He denied having any contact with Projx prior
to his volunteer period from July 28, 2014 to August 4, 2014. Petitioner was asked, on cross-
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examination, whether he had ever been to building located at 657 W. Lake Street in Chicago.
Petitioner testified that he has been to that building numerous times as he “has a friend who works
there” that he would visit from time to time.

Petitioner acknowledged that his name appeared on several documents, including records from the
City of Chicago listing him as the point of contact for Projx Construction. The project was for a
renovation at 657 W. Lake Street, Petitioner had no explanation for why he was listed as thé main
point of contact foi: Projx. Petitioner denied that he ever did anyvthing more than voluntéer for Projx
Constraction.

Respondent’s first witness

Ms. Mary Schmit testified that she is a certified rehabilitation counselor and has worked as such since
2001, She often works with claimants that previously worked in the construction industry. Ms, Schmit
testified that she has served as an expert witness in both workers' compensation: cases and social
security disability hearings. She testified that an individual typically must prove that they are

unemployable for gainful wage in any occupation in order to receive social security disability.

Ms. Schmit’ testified regarding her initial vocational -usseéssment of the petitioner, which was
donsistenit with her report. Based upon Petitioner’s wkills, age and experiences, Ms. Schmit targeted
__,positiohs within the _construchion trade; i.e., construction manager, D‘.Jﬂﬁ‘i‘:;“..t..ﬂd&ﬂt maintenance
manager and lumber estimator. RX1.

Ms. Schmit testified that the goal of vacatmnal rehabilitation is to return someong at the best and
most appropriate occupation’ for that mdmdua} provided those jobs are available, She makes every
attempt to pursue positions that do not demean her clients and that provide her chents with the most
income so that théy can recapture the lifestyle they had prior to the injury. RX19.

Ms, Schinit further testified that Petitioner 1mmedzate1y generated interest from employers when he
began his job search. He generated his own interviews within the first couple of months of searching
for work and had a numbet of job interviews and second interviews, She testified that all the jobs were
within the constroction trade and that the petitioner was never encouraged to look for unskilled, entry
level, minimum wage positions. She also. testified that the petitioner never searched for work in a
different industry.

Ms. Sc:hm1t testified regarding her apmlon letter dated July 19, 2015, stating that Petitioner is
Esmpioyable to a reasonable degree of vocational certainty and that he is empioyable in a reasonably
stable labor market, Ms, Schimit believed that he was still employ able in the areas that they targeted,
including constrnction management/supervisor.
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Ms. Schmit explained that many jobs were lost-in the construction market in Chicago and that over
the last five or six years, the availability of construction jobs is only about half of what they were in
2000. She testified that the petitioner presents well and has a good work history and that his project
list garnered a lot of attention from employers. She testified that petitioner was one of the final
candidates in several of the jobs to which he applied however, he has not received a job offer, to date,
due to the significant amount of competition for construction jobs,

Regarding the competition, Ms. Schmit cited to Bureau of Labor Statistics; which. demonstrated that
the loss of jobs and recovery of those jobs in the construction industry ovér the last-several years has
‘beén less strong for constriiction management positions, She testified that the construction industry
has niot rebounded from the economic recession as compared to other indiistries and based upon
these statistics, the competition, for construction management jobs, is significant.

Ms. Schmit testified that the petitionet may be a little bit more employable had he obtained a degree,
and that it would benefit the petitioner to continue to look for work, as he is a young man and canriot
afford to retire. Ms. Schmit testified that the petitioner could find work in the construction mdustry
and that the range of pay would be between. $50,000.00 and $75,000.00; based her statistics from
the Department of Transportation as well as the Bureau of Labor Statistics for 2014. RX1g.

She recommended junior college courses in constraction estimating as those jobs were typically less ;-

physically demanding although she also testified that she was oot instructed to enroll Petitioner in
college level courses. She testified that many of those positions are commission only jobs. And finally
she testified that the petitioner had performed a diligent job: but: unsuccessful job search and did
everything she asked of him.

Respondent’s second wiitness

Investigator Kevin Knop testified that he has been an investigator for twenty-six (26) years and works
as a private investigator for Combined Investigations. He further testified that he was assigned to
watch and record the petitioner in October and November of 2013, Mr. Knop's report along with a
surveillance videotape; were admitted into evidence. The video showed the petitioner bowling at Fox
Bowl on October i1, 2013. Petitioner's name was listed on a scoreboard as he is part of a bowling
league for Stella’s Pub. The video from. November 1, 2013 showed the petitioner retrieving a bowling
bag from his car and entering the same building. Petitioner played six games on two: different lamies.
He used his right hand to'bowl and left hand to hold the ball. He also used his left hand will drinking,
leaning on a table and conducting celebratory high-fives, Mr. Knop personally identified the
petitioner as the individual he watched on those days. RX23.
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Respondent’s third witness

Mr. Kyle Landes also téstified that he was working as an investigator with PhotoFax, Inc., in July 2014
and that he was assigned to watch and record the petitioner on July 24, 2014. Mr. Landes’ report and
video was admitted into evidence. According to the video, the petitioner is seen leaving his house in.
Wheaton at 7:01 a.m., walking with a folder in his Jeft hand as he entered his vehicle. At 8:18 am, the
petitioner arrived at a vacant storefront located at-657 West Lake Street in Chicago and was observed
entering an alley, The building wids noted to be vacant and unfinished inside.

At 8:41 am, the petitioner was filmed walking to the driver side of his car and grabbing blueprint
paper and a water bottle with his left hand. Petitioner then carried the blueprints and entered the
building through. the back alley entrance. Over the next several hours, petitioner was observed
entering and exiting the back alley entrance of the building located at 657 West Lake, Petitioner was
filmed conversing with individuals that arrived in the alley throughout that morning. Petioner was
observed entering and exiting the 'vacant storefront with a folder in bis left hand, At 1:30 pm,
petitioner was observed exiting the back alley with blueprint paper in his left arm. Petitioner placed
the prints into his truck and returned inside the building, Petitioner eventually departed the area at
2:01 pm. RX24. '

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
¥. Is Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

A decision by the Commission cannot be based upon speculation or conjecture, Deere and Company
v Industrial Commission, 47 Tl.2d 144, 265 N.E: 2d 129 (1970). A petitioner seeking an award before
the Commission must prove by a prepmud&raﬁce of credible evidence cach element of the claim.
Hiinois Institute of Technology v. Industrial Commission, 68 11.2d 2386, 369 N.R.2d 853 (1977).
Where a petitioter fails to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there exists a causal
connection between work and the a}leged condition of ill-being, compensation is to be denfed, 1d.
The facts of each case riust be closely analyzed to he fair to the employee, the employer; and to the
employer’s workers’ compensation carrier. Three “D” Discount Store v Industrial Commission, 198
1LApD, 3d 43, 556 N.E.2d 261, 144 L. Dec. 794 (4th Dist. 1989).

1t is not enough that the petitioner is working when an injugy:is realized. The petitioner must show
that the injury was due to some cause connected with the employment. Board of Trustees qof the
Dntversity of I Z_.mozs u. Industrial Commission, 44 1lL2d 207, 214, 254 N.E.2d 522 (1969); see also
Hansel & Gretel Day Care Center v Industrial Commission, 215 IN.App.ad 284, 574 N.E.2d 1244
(1991).

Based upon the facts and medical evidence, the Arbitrator finds that the petitioner’s current condition
with respeet to his left wrist and left shoulder is causally related to the accident of May 14, 2009. The
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Arbitrator finds that petitioner’s cervical spine complaints are not causally related to the accident of
May 14, 2009. The petitioner did not testify to any current complaints-with respect to his neck. His
testimony was limited to his left wrist and left shoulder, The ER records from Mercy Hospital indicate
that petitiotier only sustained injurles to his left shoulder and wrist.

J. Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and
necessary? Has Respondent paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and
necessary medical services?

The parties agreed, on the record, that the bills indicated on Arbitrator's Exhibit 1, have been paid or

will be paid directly to the providers pursuant to the fee schedule: Based upon the parties’ agreement

on the record, the Arbitrator finds that there are no disputed issues regarding medical bills,

K. What temporary benefits are in dispute?

The petitioner was paid maintenance benefits from December 4, 2012 to May 7, 2015. Maintenance.
benefits were stopped after the petitioner was evaluated by Dr. Kevin ‘Walsh. Petitioner seeks fifteen
(15} additional weeks of maintenance benefits from May 8, 2015 through the date of tmal August 21,
2015, Petitioner testified that he continued to search for work after May 8, 2015. The Arbitrator
concludes that Petitioner is entitled to maintenance benefits from December 4, 2014 to August 21,
2015.

L. Whatis the nature and extent of the mJury?

Petitioner claims that as a result of the work accident, he is permanenti}, totally disabled. For the-
reasons set forth, the Arbitrator finds Petitioner has failed to prove he is permanently, totally disabled
as a result of the May 14, 2009 work accident.

There was no credible medical evidence presented by Petitioner indicating that Petitioner is medically
permanently, totally disabled. The Arbitrator also finds that the petitioner failed to prove that he is
permanently and totally disabled under an odd-lot theory.

An einployee is totally and permanently disabled when he is'unable to make some contribution to
industry sufficient to justify payment of wages to him. AM.T.C. of Illinois v. Industrial Commission,
77 1lLed 482, 487 (1979). The employee, however, need not be reduced to total physiczzl incapaeity
before a permanent total disability award may be granted. Ceco Corp. v. Industrial Comnmnission, 95
IlL.ed 278, 286-87 (1983). Rather, the employee must show that he-is unable to perform services
except those that are so limited in quantity, depen&abﬂlty, or quality that'there is no reasonably stable
market for them. Alano v. ndustrial Commission, 282 1lLApp.3d 531, 534 (1996).

If the employee's disability is limited in nature so that he is not obviously unemployable, or if there is

no medical evidence to support a claim of total disability, he may qualify for “odd lot” status. Valley

Mould & Iron Co. v. Industrial Commission, 84 Ill.2d 538,546-47 (1981). An odd-lot employee is one

who, though not altogether incapacitated to work, is so handicapped that he will not be employed
17
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vegularly inany well-known branch of the labor market. Valley Mould, 84 111, 24 at 547. The burden is
upon the claimant to establish the unavailability of employment to a petson in his circumstances.
Valley Mould at 546-547 (111, 1981).

If employees fail to make out a prima facie case that they fall into the “odd lot” category, then it
remains incumbent upon them to demonstrate that, given their present condition and in light of their
age, training, experience, and education, they are permanently and totally digabled. ABB C-E Services
v. Industrial Cormmission, 316 11LApp.3d 745 (1L App. 5 Dist. 2000); citing Valley Mould, 84 1ll.2d at
547. They may accomplish this by a showing of diligent but unsuccessful attempts to find work or by
proof that because of the above mentioned q&ahtles they are unfit to perform any but the most menial
tasks for which no stable market exists. ABB C-E Seruices, 737 N. E.od 4t 685,

There are thrée ways by which employees can demonstrate that they are permanently and totally
disabled: (1) by a preponderance of the medical evidence; (2) by showing a diligent but unsuccessful
job search, or (3) by demonstrating that becanse of their age, fraining, education, experience, and
condition, no jobs are available to a person in their circumstdnces, Id, at 686.

The claimant must establish by the preponderance of the evidence that they fall into the odd-lot
category, Meadows v- Industrial Conun'n, 262 1L.App: 3d 650, 653- 654 (holding that * ‘claimant has
. ... the burden-of proving that he fits into the: ‘odd lot .category of section 8(f) of the Act”).  Applying.the
analytm framework of the ease law, the Arbitrator does not find that the petitioner has established, ‘o§
a preponderance of the evidence that he falls lido the odd-lut categury, The Arisitdbor fiuds i
significant that the petitioner received a number of interviews during his search for work i in the
construction industry, In petitioner's own words, he received “countless job interviews” and no offers.
On cross-examination, the petitioner testified to one job offer at a demolition. company. The job
required him o unload trucks in addition to his superintendent duties, Petitioner declined the offer
because of the unloading requirement, There was no evidence presented as to the required lifting
capabilities for that job.

Petitioner also testified that he volunteered with a company known as Projx Construction. Petitioner
testified that he performed all the duties required of a project manager. According to the vocational
report from August of 2014, Prajx did not have work for the petitioner at that time and advised that .
they would contact him should their business increase. Petitioner testified that he still maintains
contact with Projx Construction, to date.

In reviewing petitioner’s job search logs, the Arbitrator finds that the positions targeted were almost
exclusively with the construction/project management industry. Both Petitioner and Ms. Schmit
agreed that these were the only positions targeted.

The Arbitrator understands that the goal of the vocational rehabilitation process Is to return the
individual to work at the highest wage possible so the individual can continue his pre-injury lifestyle,
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The Arbitrator al_so acknowledges that it is not always possible to return an individual to worthﬁr
usual and customary area of employment.

There is no evidence that Petitioner's job search was ever expanded to include other industries and
positions. The Arbitrator notes that this case was tried on all jssues, Petitioner also testified that he
does not believe he can return to work “in any physical capacity”. A claimant may prove by the
preponderance of the evidence that they fall into the odd-lot eategory by demonstrating a diligent but
unsuccessful job search. The Arbitrator finds that petitioner’s job search was only limited to the
construction trade and therefore not considered ta be diligent. The Arbitrator finds the evidence to be
insufficient to prove that the petitioner falls within the odd-lot category.

Furthermore, Ms. Schmit, the only vocational expert to testify, concluded that Petitioner is
employable. She testified credibly and in an unrebutted manner, that the petitioner presented well to
emplovers and garnered significant interest, She testified that Petitioner is motivated and that he is a
younger individual (44 years old at the time of hearing). The job search Iogs revealed that Petitioner
received interviews almast monthly and in some cases, petitioner was one of the final candidates to be
selected for a position. Based upon this evidence and testimony, the Arbitrator cannot conelude that
the petitioner is unemployable.

Even if the Arbitrator were ‘fo find that petitioner proved by a preponderance of the-evidénece that he -
_falls'into the odd-lot category, expert to testify and offer opinions on petitioner’s employability as well
" as his skills and experience: Her testimony was urirébutted.

Ms Schmlt testiﬁed credxl:ﬁy that the petttmner is employable ina reasonab]y stable labar market She

petmone}: s age (44 years ald) wculd not have a negatwe 1m1:nact upon hlS abﬂxty to hnd Work The
Arbitrator notes that the petitioner has many skills, including supervisory experience. Petitioner also
ran his own business for several yedars. He was required to supervise all of the trades at a job site;
maintain schedules, order supplies, document payroll and other duties of a business owner. The
~ Arbitrator adopts Ms. Schmit's opinion that the petitioner is employable in a reasonably stable and
* waell-known sector of the labor market:
The Arhitrator also relies upon the surveillance video taken on July 24, 2014: The video shows the
petitioner entering and exiting a vacant building located at 657 W. Lake Street in Chicago over the
course of several hours. Petitioner is seen carrying blueprints in and out of 'the building. Petitioner
admitted that he has been to that address:several times in: order to “visit a friend”. The Arbitrator
fiotes that this video was taken before the petitioner began his volunteer period with Projx
construction, After the investigator testified and the video was played, the petitioner did not offer any
rebuttal testimony to explain his activities on that day. The Arbitrator questions what the petitioner
was doing at the vacant biilding with bluepmnts prior to the volunteer period with Projx and
considers this in her évaluation of the petitioner’s credibility.
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Since petitioner has failed to prove that he is permanently and totally disabled, the Arbitrator must
consider whether Petitioner. qualifies for an wage differential. award under Section 8(d)1. The
Arbitrator finds insufficient evidence to award a wage differential under Section 8(d)1. The Arbitrator
finds that the petifioner hag likely lost access to his usual and customary employment, However, there
was no credible evidence to. establish what petitioner is capable of earning in some suitable
employment. The Arbitrator cannot base a wage differential award on speculation, Without credible
evidence to establish an appropriate wage in some suitable employment, the Arbitrator declines to
award a wage differential under Section 8(dj1.

Petitioner sustained injuries to his left wrist and shoulder. Petitioner does not have any permanent
disability with respect to his left shoulder. He testified that his pain is more of a “nuisance” and that
he has no issues with his shoulder strength or range of motion, Petitioner has not had treatment for
his left shoulder in several years. Petitioner has a significant disability with respect to his left wrist,
which resulted in permanent lifting restrictions.

Based upon the medical evidence and testimony, the Arbitrator finds that petitioner has sustained a

Ioss of trade or profession. The Arbitrator finds that the petitioner sustained permanent, partial

disability to the extent of 50% loss of use of person.as a whole representing a loss of trade or
- prﬂfessmn e e e
M.  Should penaliies vi fees be linposed upon ihe Respondent?
[llinois courts have refused to assess penialties under sections 19(k) and () of the Act where the
evidence indicates that the employer reasonably could have helieved that the employee was not
entitled to the compensation withheld. See, Board of Education v, Industrial Commission, g3 Iil.2d
1, 442 N.E. od 861 (1982); See also, Avon Produets, Inc. v. Industrial Commission, 82 Tl 2d 297
(1980) and Brinkmann v. Industrial Commission, 82 TNl 2d 462 (1980). “Where a delay has oceurred
in payment of workmen's compensation benefits, the employer bears the burden of justifying the
delay, and the standard we hiold hini to is one of objéctive reasonableness in his belief” Id. See also,
City of Chicago v. Industrial Commission, 63 Tl 2d 99 (1976).

The lineis Supreme Court has explicitly found an obligation on the part of Respondents to diligently
obtain information regarding « Petitioner’s claim in Board of Edue. v. Industrial Comm’n, 93 i ad 1,
66 11l Dec. 300, 442 N.E.2d 861 (1982), In Board _OfEduC-,g,fthe court found that the Chicago Board of
Education “had or should reasonahly have had in its possession” sufficient evidence, that “would have
disclosed that the grounds for challenging temporary total disability liability were insubstantial at
_best,” and therefore fees and penalties; were warranted. The Supreme Court also found that the
Board’s “failure to obtain that information did not entitle the Board to assert later that it acted in gdod
faith because it was ignorant of the evidence in favor of the employee.” See, Board of Educ. v.
TIndustrial Comni'n, 93 IIL, 2d 1, 66111 Dec. 300, 442 N.E.2d 861 (1982).
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The petitioner has requested penalties and fees to be awarded. While the respondent argues that the
petitioner’s three paragraph penalty petition does not specify the time periods in which penalties and
fees were being claimed for a delay in payment of TTD or maintenance; the petitioner testified to the
necessity of his attorney filing 19(b)'s and penalty petitions, for such delays. The 19(b) petitions were
included as an exhibit at trial. The Arbitrator notes that the 19(b)’s do not indieate the time periodsin
which TTD.or maintenance was delayed. Although Petitioner could not testify with any specificity as
t6 all of the time periods in which his TTD or maintenance checks were delayed, he did testify
sufficiently and in an unrebutted manner, to prove the chronic delays in payment of his benefits and
authorization to necessary medical treatment, by the respondent. The Arbitrator finds that the
petitioner has met his burden of proving entitlement to penalties with respect to the Act.

The Arbitrator finds that penalties of $1,000.00 pursuant to Section 19(k) of the Act, penalties of
$10,000.00, pursiant to section 19(1) of the Act; and fees of $2,548.57, pursuant to section 16 of the
Act, should be imposed upon the Respondent. The Arbitrator does not find Dr. Walsh's opinion to
be persuasive and that the respondernt's reliance on ‘Walsh's opinion, to terminate Petitioner’s
benefits was misplaced, The respondent has previously utilized several other doctors for its Section
12 examinations of Petitioner, who offered credible; professional opinions regarding hls medical
condition and the Arbitrator finds that the respondents chroni¢ delays in paying Petitioner’s
- -temporary total-disability payments rises to the level of arbitrary and capricious-and acts in-bad
jfalth on the part of the respondent tharefme penalties and attorney's fees are awarded.
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ¥ D Affirm and adopt (-no changa‘rs) [:] Injured Workers” Benefit Fund {§4(d))
} SS. D Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustoaent Pund (§8{g})
COUNTY OF DUPAGE: } D Reverse D Sedond Injury Fund {'§8(e}38_}
' |1 PEDFatal denied
D Modify & None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Dominick Ferazzo,

Petitioner.

V&, No, 90 WC 35804

leteo, Ltd., 1 6 I W C C 0 % 1 8
Respondent. | |

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW UNDER SECTION $(ay/
ORDER ON PETITION FOR PENALTIES AND ATTORNEY FEES

Timely Petition for Review under section 8(a} and a contemporaneous petition for
penalties and attorney fees having been filed by Petitioner herein dnd notice given to all partics,
the Commission, after considering the issues of medical expenses, prospective medical care,
penalties and attorney fees, and being advised of the facts and law, grants in part the 8(a) petition
‘and denies the penalties and fees petition for the reasons set forth below.

On July 31, 1997, the Commission filed 4 corrected decision and opinion on review
awarding temporary total disability, medical and wage differential benefits. Reparding the
nature and extent of the i injury, the Commission found that on September 22, 1990, Petitioner
sustained a twisting injury to the Jow back. On June 4, 1993, Petitioner underwent a laser dise
decompression surgery.. In July'of 1995, Petitioner’s treating surgeon, Dr. Stamelos, diagnosed a
faited back syndrome, ) '

On December 11, 2014, Petitioner filed a petition under section 8(a). as well as.a petition’
for penalties and attorney fees. Petitioner seeks payment of medical bills for doctor’s visits, as
‘well as past and future baHs for physical therapy, preseription medications and a gym
membership. Petitioner also séeks penalties and attorney fees. Respondent argues that Petitioner
had exceeded his two choices of medical prm;dcra Further, Respondent argues that it prop&riy
denied miedical benefits pursuant to wtilization reviews.
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On July 2, 2013, Commissioner Joshua Luskin held e'hearing in the matter. Petitioner,
who was 49 years old at-the time of the hearing, testified that in 1996 he moved to Florida and
began treating with Dr. Hale, an orthopedic surgeon. Since moving to Florida, Petitioner has
‘been working on light duty, Petitioner generally saw Dr. Hale quatterly. In 2009, Dr. Hale
prescribed a gym membership, Petitioner stated he needed to go to the gym to stay fit and
improve hislow back condition. Peiitioner has been paying for the gym membership himself,
Petitioner glso underwent some physical therapy until Respondent stopped paying for it
Petitioner stated the physical therapy helped “in some areas.” The physical therapists have
instructed Petitioner on home exercises. -Petitionér performs home exercises and attends the
gym. Petitioner continues to receive the wage ditferential beniefits.

Petitioner further testified that he suffers from constarit low back pain.. Petitioner had,
been taking Soma for his irjury for a long time. In 2013, Dr. Hale prescribed Flexeri] instead of
Soma because Petitioner developed some undesirable side effects to Soma. Petitioner explained
that he tried five or six different medications before deciding that Flexeril worked the best for
him. Dr. Halealso preseribed flurbiprofen. Respondent denied payment for either medication.
Petitioner maintains that his pain levels go up and his functioning deteriorates without these
medications, Petitioner iicirred out-of-pocket expenses when he paid for Curad tape'to aftach
Flector patches, He also paid out-of-pocket for some pain medications, Recently, Petitioner has
been secing Dr. Hale every other menth or every monthi because of worsening pain.

Petitioner acknowledged that after injuring his low back in 1990, he treated-with Dr.
Milos and then Dr.'Stamelos. When asked how he found Dr: Stamelos, Petitioner responded:
don't know it 1 used s referral from him and my father brought him into i€, my dad did,” adding:
“So T'don’t Kriow if we went through the doctor or not.” When Petitioner moved to Fiorida, he
began tréating with Dr, Hale. Until recently, Respondent has been paying the bills from.Dr.
Hale.

Petitioner introduced into evidence voluminous medical records and preseriptions from
Dr. Hale, the medical bills from Dr. Hale and for physical therapy, the record of out-of-pocket
pharmacy expenses, and gym membership bills.

Themedical records from Dr. Hale go back to December of 2002 and document a history
of persistent back pain with or without radiation to the legs and with fairly benign physical
examination findings. Dr. Hale managed Petitioner’s condition with various medications. In
2008, Petitioner underwent five sessions of physical therapy and was instructed on home
exercises. Petitioner reported the physical therapy helped “somewhat.” In 2011, Petitioner
underwent six sessions of physical therapy and was again instructed on home exercises.
Petitioner reported the physicat therapy helped: In July of 2012, Dr. Hale switched Petitioner
from Soma to Flexeril because Petitionér complained of some side effects from Soma. In
December of 2012, Dr. Hale switched Petitioner from Motrin to Ansaid (Furbiprofen) and
preseribed another course of physical therapy. The insurance carrier denied authorization for the
physical therapy. In January of 2013, Petitioner reported his symptoms worsened afiér he
stopped physical therapy. In February of 2013, Dr. Hale noted: *The patient has had four PT
sessions that appear to have helped,” and requested additional physical therapy. In March of
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2013, Dr. Hale noted that Petitioner artended another four physical therapy sessions, which
helped. Petitioner was instructed on home exercises and d;s:,h’lr,ged from physical thfzrapy
Petitioner told Dr. Hale he needed. to exercise in the gym in order to maintain or improve his
function. Dr. Hale supported Petitioner in his request that the workers’ comipensation carrier pay
for the gym membership. Further, Dr. Hale added Flector patches to Petitioner’s medication
regitien. For the remainder of 2013 and during 2014, Petitioner’s condition remained essentially

unchanged,

Tn Fune of 2014, Dr. Hale noted that the workers’ eompensation carrier denied coverage
for Flexeril and-Ansaid. Dr, Hale maintained both medications were medieally necessary and
indicated. Dr. Hale noted that when Petitioner tried to: make do without Flexeri] and/or Ansaid,
his pain increased and his function decreased.

In Match of 2015, Petitioner complained of worsening symptoms and increased difficulty
sitting for any length of time. Dr. Hale prescribed physical therapy “to seg if we can improve his
sitting tolerance.” On April 13, 2015, Dr. Hale noted no improvement.. Dr. Hale reiterated Liis
recommendation for physical therapy.

On May 12, 2015, Dr, Hale noted. in pertinent part: “Still with pain in the back: Still with
right buttock pain. Worse with cough and sneeze without mtervemng trauma or change in
activity. He notes he has increased difficulty sitting for any length of time. After sitting for
approximately two hours, he has to lie down for the rest of the day. § Current medications are
helping him function. He continues with home exercise program instructed by iherapy. He
continues goingto the'gym three times.a week-in order to continue to exercise and function, If he
does not go to the gym he finds his function declines and he has difﬁcu]ty gettmg through the-
day.” Petitioner reported Flexeril and Flettor patches worked well. On physical examination,
Dr. Hale noted a mild paraspinal spasm, increased tenderness in the left paralumbar region, and a
mildly restricted range of motion. Dr. Hale stuted Petitioner “should have access to full gym
facilities in order to maintain his-condition and work on improving it”" Dr. Hale ¢ontinued to
prescribe physical therapy “to see if we can improve his sitiing tolerance.”

Alsoon May 12, 2015, Dr. Hale issued & “to whom it may concern” letter, stating:

“Please be advised that [Petitioner] is a patient under my vcare receiving
treatment for injuries sustained to his low back-on 9/21/90, He is currently using.
anaigcsm medication; anti-inflammatory medication, and muscle relaxant
medicatiof; & combination which allows him to function. I have requested
additional therapy for treatment of sitting intolerance which has developed
recently which has been declined by the carrier, He has tried to go.without the.
anti-inflammatory and/or muscle relaxant and finds his condition worsens when

“he stops taking them. Additionally, he is personally paying for access to 4 gym in
order to work out as well as:stretch and strengthen which, at the very least, must
‘be provided to him in order to miaintain his wellbeing and avoid additional flares
of pain in the back.

All the treatment as ouitlined above is considered medically necessary at
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this time and is well within the providence of acceptable treatment for this type-of
condition,” '

Respondent introduced into evidence utilization review reports. A utilization review
report dated March 31, 2011, denjed physical therapy as not medically necessary per the ODG
gmdelmea

A ufilization review report dated January 21,2013, denied payment for a gym
membership as not medically necessary. The reviewer..an ovcupational medicine. $pecialist,
stated that instead * temporary transitional exercise programs may be appropriate for patients who
need more supervision.”™ A utilization review report dated August 5, 2013, denied paysient for a
gym membership as not supported by the records provided. The reviewer, a family practice
physician, stated that treatment needed 10 be monitored and administered by medical

professionals.

A retrospective utilization review report dated May 2, 2014, denied payment for
furbiprofen (Ansaid) and cyclobenzaprine (F fexeril). The reviewer, a physical medicine and
rebiabilitition specialist, explained that ODG guidelines support only short term use for'either
medication, A prospective utilization review report dated May 12, 20 14, denied. payment for
flurbiprofen (Ansaid) and cyelobenzaprine {Flexeril) as not medically necessary, The reviewer
was an orthopedie surgeon.

A utilization review. Tcpm't'dated April 14, 2015, dented physical therapy. The utilization
review was performed by a family practice physician and denied physical therapy because
“[d]etails regarding previous physical therapy for the lumbar spine wis {sic] not provided, such
as, number of sessions completed to date and objective functional gains made, The
documentation failed o provide current objective functional deficits of the lumbar spine to
warrant the need for therapv and the request as submitted exceeds the guideline
recommendations of 10 visits.”

Respondent asks the Commission to adopt the opinions of the utilization reviewers.
Further, Respondent argues that it is not responsible for the medical services provided by Dr.
Hale because Dr. Hale is Petitioner’s third choice of medical providers.

The Commission notes that even if Dr. Hale is Petitioner’s third choice of medical
providers, Petitionier has been {reating with Dr. Hale for. close to 20 years and Respondent has
not-objected until now. ‘Under these circumstances, the doctritie of laches applies. See; 2.g.,
Marshall v. Metropolitan Water Reclamation District Retirement Fund, 298 11, App. 3d 66, 74.
(1998); Williams 'v. Interstate Cleaning Corp., 14 [WCT 0615, The Commission awards
outstanding medical bills from Dr. Hale, pursuant to sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

With respect to the utilization reviews, the Commission notes that Dr. Hale is an
orthopedic surgeon. Only one utilization review was pcﬁanncd by an orthiopedic surgeon.
Furthermore, the utilization review denials of physical therapy and a gym membf,ramp are
incunsistent, as the denial of & gym membership contemplated a supervised exercise program

! It appears Réspoident ultimately. paid for thie physical therapy Petitioner underwent in 2011
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instead. The Commission notes the short term courses of physical therapy Petitioner underwent
in 2008, 2011 and 2013 proved to be beneficial in keeping his condition stable, The Commission

awards another short term course of physical therapy, but not a gym membershlp

As to the costs of Flexeril and Ansaid, the Commission defers to the opiniens of Dr.
Hale, who has kept Petitioner's condition stahle for many years, and awards the costs of these
medications, Further, the Commission awards the out-of-pocket expenses for medical supplies,

Lastly, the Commission finds that pemlﬁes and attorngy fees are not warranted.

IT 1S THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Petitioner’s §8(a) petition
is granted, except for the gym membership, in accordance with §§8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Petitioner’s petition for
penalties and attorney fees’is denied.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under $19(n) of the Aet, if any.

[T IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury. '

‘Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondant is hereby fixed at’
the sum 0f'$6,560.00. The party commencing the pmceedmgs for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission‘a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circait- Court:

DATED: SEP 2 7 2816
0-08/25/2016

SM/fsk

44

David L, Gore
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Afﬁrm and acio;é! {no cizéngas} [] Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund ($4dy h
) S8, [_—_—_l Affinm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))
COUNTY OF DuPAGE ) D Reéverse: D'Semﬂd Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
[ proFaml denied
D Modify 'I\?t)ne ol the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Rachel Allen,

Petitioner,

Vs, NO. IS WC 39401

Atlas Staffing Agency, 1 6 I W c C 0 70 1

Respondent;

DECISION.AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19b having been filed by the Respondent herein
and notice given to all parties; the'Commission, after considering the issues of accident, medical
expenses, causal connection, prospective medical care, temporary disability, and being adv ised
of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator; which is attached hereto
and made a part hereof. The Commission further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further
proceedings for a deterntination of a further amount of temporary total compensation or of
compensation for permanent disability, if any, pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Commission, 78
111.2d 327, 399 N.E.2d 1322, 35 II.Dec. 794 (1980).

ITis THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed May 11, 2016 is hereby affirmed and adopted

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the timie for filing a. written request for Summons to the Cireuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of campletmn of any judieial
proceedings, if such a writtén request has béer filed.
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(ny of the Act, if any. '

IT1S FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
forall amounts paid, if amy, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the remaval of this cause to the Circuit Court by Res;mudent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $3:000.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Cireuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review: in Circuit Court,

'J%ﬂé%

DATED:  qcT 3 1 2016

SIMsj | Steg gij”Maihis |
0-10/20/16
44 ¥

DavdL

/W.- %/,

Mario Basurto
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NOTICE OF 19(b) ARBITRATOR DECISION
‘CORRECTED

Casef# 15WC039401

161WCCO701

ALLEN, RACHEL
EmiployeaiPatiticnar

ATLAS STAFFING AGENCY

EmployarfRespondent

On.5/11/2016, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the lincis Workers' Compensation Commission fn
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

1f the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.38% shall accrue from the date listed above to'the day before the
date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal resuits in either no shange or a decrease in this award, inferest shall

not acére,

A copy of this"deeision i mailed to the following parties’” T

1752 ASHER, RAYMOND L LTDY
200 W JACKSON BLVD

SUITE 1050
CHICAGO, 1L 60508

7985 KEEFE CAMPBELL BIERY & ASSOC

JOSEPH F DAMATO

118 N CLINTON ST SUITE 300
CHICAGO, IL 60861
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STATE OF ILLIROIS ) E] Injured Workers! Benefit Fund (§4(d))
B [_] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(e))
CcoUNTY OF DuPage ) [ ] Second Injury Fund (§8()18)
Nene of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION
CORRECTED ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b)

Rachel Allen Case# 15 WC 39401
Employee/Peiitioner _ o
Consolidated cases; None

.

Atlag Staffing Agency
Empluyer/Respondent

AncApplication for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each

party, The roatter was heard by the Honorable Robert Falcioni, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
New Lenox, on January 15, 2016, Afer reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby
makes findings on the disputed issués checked below; and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A, B Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Wdrkers" Compensation or Oceupational
~ IDiseases Act? :

B. [:] Was there an employee-employer relatle:anslnp?

C. E Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respendent?

D. D What was the date of the accident?

E. D ‘Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

F, s Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?.

G. @ What were Petitioner's earnings?

H D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

L D What twas Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

I @ Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for 4ll reagonable and necessary medical services?
K. ; fs Petifioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

L. What temporary benefits are in dispute?
TED [ ] Maintenance TTD

M. [l should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. []1s Respondent due any credit?
0. X Other Prospective Medical Care

ICArbDaci Peb). 210 1001 . Randolph Streer #8-200. Chicago, I 60601 11 9:‘314 65” Tollfree 366/352-3033 teh vite: wwwiivee.ilgar
Diownstate offices; Collingvitle 61 8/346-3450 Peovin J0#671-3019 Rockfeed 813/987-7292 Springfield 217/765-7084
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FINDINGS
On the date of accident, November 4, 2015, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of
h ! . g P
the Act,

On this date, an employee-employer relationship #7d exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in é;l:.e cotrse of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-béng is causally related to the accident.

In the yvear preceding the mnjury, Petitioner earned $16, 150.16; the average weekly wage was $310.58.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 33 years ol age, nmrrwd with 4 dependent children.

Respondent kasnm‘ paid all réasonable and necessary charges for all reagonable and necessary medical services.
Respondent shall be given a credit of § 0 for TTD,§ 6 for TPD,$ 0  for maintenance, and $0 for
ather benefits, for a total credit of 50,

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability béﬂ_eﬁfs of $310.58 per vweek for 6 6/7 weeks, from
November 4-6, 2015, November 19-24, 2015, and -December 8, 2015 ta Janyary 15, 2016, as provided in
Section 8(b) of the Act.

Respondent shail pay-the medical bills from Di. Wolin subject to the appropriate fee schedule, as explained
maore fully i the attached findings.

‘Respondent shall authorize care consistent with Dr. Wolin's treatment récommendations as contained herein,

In nio instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE Ifthe Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall acerue from the date fisted below to the day before the dite of payment; however, |
if an employee's appeal resuits in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not acerue.

Siguature of Arbitrator | MAY 1 120‘6 Date
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'BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
RACHEL ALLEN,

Petitiouer,

Case No. 153'WC 39461

ATLAS STAFFING,

Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filéd on this matter and Notice of Hearing was
mailed to each party. The matter was. heard before the Honorable Robert Faleioni, Arbitrator of
the lllinois Workers® Compensation Commission, in the City of New Lenox, on January 15,
2016. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings of fa;:t
and rulings on the disputed issues below,

FINDINGS OF FACT

It is a well-accepted principle in 1ilinois Workers’ Compensation cases that the Arbitrator and
Cﬁmmission sit as the f‘mde;_s of fact. Skinn_ér'-v. hdmtrirﬂ Commission, et al, 72 11.2d 394 111,
1978 at 398. As such, the Arbitrator makes the following findings of fact:

Petitioner testified she worked for Respondent on November 4, 2015; she identified her job fitle
“as “inspecting mold and packing Fiji Waters.” Tx. at 9. As far as actual job duties, Petitioner
{estiffed she was asked to “look inside the doots of containgrs: to make sure there was no mold.”
1d. As for the Fiji water, Petitioner testified she was to “pack them 6 to abox or 12 to a box.” Id.
She noted her job required her to- lift 60 pounds. Id. at 10. Petitioner testified that when it was
time to clock out, she would walk with a group of three different temp agencies to clock out. 1d.

at 11.

Petitioner testified at around 3:25 PM on the alleged date of loss, she.was heading with a group
of around 20 ‘pecple to the break room to clock out. Tx. at 12. She testified at that time,
“someone behind {hf:r) fan up and jumped on the back of (her) neck.” 1d. She testified she was
“shocked™ Id. Petitioner testified she did not see the person who jumped on her coming. Id. She
testified she was not a “willing participant” to the incident. Id. at 14, She testified she fell and

tanded on her left shoulder. Id.

Pelitioner testified the individual who juraped on her was named Rodney Cooper. Tx. at 15, She
testified Rodniey Cooper was a co-worker and she met him approximately in October of 201 5.1d.
Petitioner iestified Rodney Cooper was a-co-warker and not a friend; however, she admitted she

1.
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was Petitioner’s “friend” on Facebook. Id. at 16. She testified she became his “friend” in order to
gather more information -about himtso she would be able to “take him to court.” Id. Petitioner
admitted to “liking” comments Rodney Cooper made on his Facebook. page on the date of loss.
Id. at 49. She also admitted she might have “liked” other things Rodney Cooper posted on his

Facebook pages at other iimes. [d. at 49; 56.

Petitioner testified she went to the Pravidence Hospital ER after the incident following a brief
stop at her home, Tx. at 18-19. Petitioner’s Exhibit One contains a chart note from: the ER. The
chart reads “patient presents with complaints of neck paid after a coworker playfully jumped on
her back {emphasis added).” Pet. Ex. 1. Petitioner testified it was not her intention to engage in

playful behavior with Rodney Cooper. Tx.at 19,

Petitioner testified ﬂj:l_e providers at Providence sent her home on November 4, 2015, with an
instruction o return to full duty work as of November 6, 2016. Tx. at 21. Petitioner {estified she
attempted to refurn to work on November 6, 2015, however, she stated she needed to go back to
the ER. Id. She further testified she did not seek treatment again until November 19, 2015. Id.

On November 19, 2015, Petitioner testified she seught treatment again at Providence ER. Tx. at
22: Pet. Fx. 1. She gave a consistent history of the onset and accident and further reported that
she had been lifting heavy weights at her job that caused pain to continue at the left shoulder.
She was prescribed pain and anti inflammatory medicines. At that time, she was told she could
return to- work on November 24, 2015. 1d. Petitioner testified she could not work because Atlas
told her they did not have work for her. Id. at 22, She testified she next sought and obtained
treatment with Dr. Wolin on December 8, 2015. Id. She ‘gave D. Wolin a consistent history.
Petitioner testified Dr. Wolin recommended both: a cervical MRI and an MR arthrogram of the
left shoulder. 1d. at 23-24. Petitioner testified the recommended diagnostics were not authorized
by Respondent. Id. Petitioner testified Dr. Wolin took her off work. for an indefinite period. Id. at
24. She testified she was not receiving benefits. Id. at 25, She festified she was waiting to follow
up with Dr. Wolin until after completing of her diagnostic studies. Id. at 27.

On cross examination Petitioner was: shown a statement written and si igned by her on November
5, 2015, or the day following the date of loss. Tx. at 36.! The staterent reads as follows:

“T was walking to the break room to-clock out and one of the works [sic] jump over my
neck. [ did not see this person coming and when he jumped on me [ fell cansing my
pulled muscle. I do not personally know him other than co-worker at Lineage. He wanted
1o play around and caused me to fall and hurt lefi side of body: He was trying to play
around. This was not work related (empflasis added)” Res, Ex. 1,

* This staternent is alsc'contained with Respondent’s Exhibit t.

2

4___4




Q-Dex On-Line
www.gdex.com

Petitioner testified the statement was not accurate. TX. at 41 She tcsufi?&he Dnngy Wwrofe a
different statement that was not acceptable to Atlas Staffing. Tx. at 41-46. She contends Atlas
Staffing' made ber re-write the statement as noted above and stated she would not receive a
paychz:ék‘ if she did not do so. Id. Petitioner was not in possession of this statement Id. at 46.
Petitioner testified she had not filed any employment related claims against Aflas Staffing,
except for the case at bar, [d. at 48.

Petitioner testified she attempted to work briefly on November 6, 2015, but other than that brief
attempt to return, she has not worked since the November 4, 2015, date of loss. Tx. at 6. The
Arbitrator notes Respondent’s Exhibit One shows claimant actually worked for the following:
petiods after the date of loss:

o 2425 hp_urs for the period of November 8, 2015, through November 11, 2015, which
were paid through check #0000003982;

& 2425 hours for the period of November 15, 2015, through November 18, 2015, which
were paid through check #0000004059 and

¢ 20.75'bours for the period of ‘November 22, 2015, through November 25, 2015, which
were paid through check #0000004122. Res: Ex. 1.

In all, the’ Arbitrator notes Respondent’s Exhibit 1 shows Petitioner worked a total of 69,25 hours
and checks were issued to her for that period despite her assertions to the confrary.

Reéspondent’s Exhibit 1 also contains logs of conversations between Petitioner and Respondent,
The records show on November 12, 2015, Petitioner called into Atlas Staffing and stated she
could not come to work because there was a power cord downed in the street of her residence,
Res. Ex. 1. There is a similar exchunge between Petitioner and Atias on November 13, 2015, and
on December 4, 2015, there is an exchange between Petitioner and Atlas whereby Petitioner
states she could nat come into work because she did not have gas for her vehicle. Id.

Included in RX1 is a written statement from orie Bryan Jurgovan, a co worker of Petitioner,
which states that h¢ saw an individual jump on Petitioner’s fiom behind and cause her to fall to
the ground on her left' side and that Petitioner complained of her neck hurting her immediately.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

WITH REGARD TO ISSUE C, DID AN ACCIDENT OCCURR THAT AROSE QUT OF
ANB IN THE COUR&E OF PETITIONER'S EMPLOYMENT, THE ARBITRATOR

It is the burden of every Petitioner before the Workers” Compensation Commission to establish
with evidence every disputed issue litigated at trial, including the issues establishing

3
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Respondent’s Hability for bepefits, Board of Trustees of the University of lllinois v, Industrial
Commigsion (1969), 44 f11.2d 207 at 214, 254 N.E.2d 522, Edward Don v Industrial Commission
(2003) 344 1L App.3d 643, 801 N.E.2d 18, A claimant must establish her current condition of ill-
being is causally-related to her asserted accident. Sisbro, Inc. v. Industrial Comm‘n 207°1iL.2d
193, 203 (2003); Land and Lakes Co. v. Industrial Comm’n, 359 IlLApp.3d 582, 59192 (2™

Dist. 2005).

A compensable injury must “arise out of” and oceur “in the course of” employment. An frjury
arises out of employment when a causal connection exists between the employment and the
injury such that the injury has its origins in some risk Incidental to the employment. Curtis v.
Industrial Comm'n (1987), 158 Il App.3d 344, 110 UL.Dec. 689, ::11 N.E.2d 866. An injury
oceurs during the course of employment when the employee is mjured within the time period .of
employment, ata place where the employee can reasonably be expected to be in the performance
of his duties and while he is performing those duties or doing something incidental thereto. Eagle
Discount Supermarket v, Industrial Comm'n (1980), 82 Ill:2d 331, 45 l.Dec. 141, 412 N.E2d
492,

The credible evidence in this case demonstrates Petitioner met her burden proving she suffered
an industrial accident that arose during the course of her employment and the Arbitrator so finds.
The record confirms work had ended for the day and Petitioner was heading to-the break room to
clock out. She was not off the clock at that point and ‘was within the confines of the factory at
which she worked on behai{’ of Respondent,

Petitioner testified she had not been involved in an argument or had a fight with Rodney Cooper
on the date of los. Tx. at 35. She did siot call the police or file a report after he jumped on her,
without her consent. Tx. 68, She did not/has ot filed a law suit against hita for a tort, Id. at. 67.
She testified she was Rodney Cooper’s Fac:ebnok “friends™ and she liked one if not more of hxs
posts. Id. at 16, 49, 56. She wrote a statement confirming Rodney Cooper was “playing around™
when he jumped on her back. Id. at 42-43; Res. Ex. 1. Petitioner also advised the ER personnel at
Providence Hospital Rodney Cooper “playfully” jumped on her back. Pet. Ex. 1.

Petitionet, denied this was consensual horseplay, and the written statement of B.l:'iﬂn Jurgovan,
admiited as Respondent’s exhibit, supports Fetitioger"s testimony-that the incident occurred
without warning. No evidence was introduged 1o contradict Petitioner’s testimony as to what
occurred. Her testimony is further supported by the various histories contained in the medical
records, The Arbitrator notes that Hlinois permits the nonparticipating victim of horseplay to'recover
worker’s compensation benefits if the horseplay occurs within the course of employment.. Murray v,
Industrial Commission, 163 1il. App. 3d 841 (3rd Dist. 1987),Anercan ErakoShoe Co. v. Industnal
Com. 201 111..2d 132. 169 N-E 2d 256; Intenational Harvester Co. v. Industrial Conm.{1933) 354
{11. 151, 187 N. E..9161. The evidence n this case clearly supports the finding that ?etiﬁgn&:i’ was

Q-Dex On-Line
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injured by an act of uninvited horseplay while in the course of her employment and that therefore
the injury or accident also arose out of her employment and the Arbitrator so finds.

WITH RESPECT TO ISSUE F, IS ?ETITIONER’S CURRENT CON"DITION (}F ILL-

FOLLOWS::

Petitioner testified that she did not have any prior injuries to either her neck or left shoulder prior
1o the November 4, 2015 accident. (T.25) Petitioner did not sustain any new injuries to her lefi
shoulder or neck since the November 4, 2015 accident. (T.26) The medical records écnsis’tﬁnﬁy
document petitioner’s work injury without alternative histories. With respect to both her left
shoulder and her neck, Petitioner stated that she was nble to perform the duties of her job pain
free prior to the work accident. (T.26) Respondent did not present any evidence to the contrary.

A claimant fust prove causal connection by evidence from which inferences can be {airly and
reasonably drawn. See Caterpillar Tractor Co, v, Industrial Commm’n, 83 11l 2d 213; 414N E. 2d
740 (1980) Also, causal conngetion can be inferred.. Proof of an amployee s state of good health
prior to the time of injury and change immediately following the injury is competent as tending
to establish that the impaired condition was due to the injury. See ‘Westinghouse Electric Co. v,
Industrial Comm’n, 64 111 2d 244 (1976).

The Arbitrator finds that prior to November 4, 2015, the petitioner enjoyed good health regarding
her neéck and left shoulder. Petitioner testified that she was asymptomatic, fully finctional and
treatment frée in her left shoulder and neck prior to the work aceident.

There is no evidence fo suggest that- Respondent exercised its right under §12 of the lllinois
Worker’s Compensation Act, or pursed utilization review services.

Having found in Petitioner™s favor on the issue of accident, and in the absence ‘of any preexisting
conditions or intervening accidents, and noting the chronological order of the onset and treatment
of Petitioner’s injury as well as the ongoing and consistent pature of her complamts and
treatment, the Arbitrator finds that a causal connection exists between Petitioner’s current

condition of ill being and her accident as alleged herein,

In suppert of the Arbitrator’s decision relating to (G) Petitioner’s Earnings, the Achitrator
finds the following facts:

Respondent’s Exhibit One includes a wage statement. Based on the wage statement, Respcndent

caleulated an average weekly wage of $310.58. On direct examination, Petitioner was
5




Q-Dex On-Line

o ESIWCCOVWT

confrontﬁd with the wage statement, and agreed that thé wage statement cavere:d all of )
Petitioner’s employment with Atlas in the year preceding the accident. (T.3 0) The Arbitrator
concludes that petitioner’s average weekly wage was $310.58 in the year preceding the accident.
WITH RESPECT TO ISSUE J, WERE THE MEDICAL,_SERVICES THAT WERE
PROVIDED TO PETITIONER REASONABLE AND NECESSARY/ HAS

RESPONDENT PAID ALL APPROPRIATE CHARGES FOR REASONABLE AND
NECESSARY MEDICAL EXPENSES, THE ARBITRATOR FINBS AS FOLL()W‘S‘.

Petitioner’s Exhibit Two includes bills from Dr. Preston Wolin, for services rendered on
December 8, 2013, Arbitrator’s Exhibit One reflects that the fée schedule amount for those bills
totals $739. 15. Havmg found in favor of Petitioner o the jssuc of accident and causation, the

Arbitrator orders Respondent to pay said amount to Petitioner.

IN SUPPORT OF THE ARBITRATOR’S DECISION RELATING TO (
PROSPECTIVE MEDICAL,. THE ARBITRATOR FINDS THE FOLLOWING FACTS:

Having found in favor of Petitioner on the issue of accident and causation, the Arbitrator orders
Respondent to authorize medieal care consistent with Dr. Wolin’s recommendations for @ ané
MRI and MRA.

WITH RESPECT TO ISSUE L, WHAT TEMPORARY BENEFITS ARE IN DISPUTE
(I'TD), THE ARBITRATOR FINDS AS FOLLOWS:

Petitioner was instructed to remain off work by & physician in the following timeframes:

November 4 to November 6, 2015-(Provident Hospital)
November 19, 2015 to November 24, 2013 and {Provident Hospital)
December 8, 2015 to the next follow up appointment (Dr. Wolin).

Petitioner testified that Dr. Wolin instructed her 1o schedule a follow up visit after mmpicimn of
the cervical MR and left shoulder MRA, which have not occurred yet. Dr. Wolin's chart note is
consistent with petitioner’s testimony.

Having found for petitioner on the issues of accident and causation, the Arbitrator awards TTD
from November 4-6, 2015, November 19 — 24, 2015, and December 8, 2015 ta the date of
hearing, January 13, 2016.. The Arbitrator notes that while Respondent presented evidence that
Petitioner was working during the period, it is clear from that evidence that she was not working
full time and it is impossible to determine which days she did and did not work. Relying on the |
doctor’s off work statements, the Arbitrator finds as-above and orders Respondent to pay same.

WITH RESPECT TO ISSUE O, THE ARBITRATOR FINDS AS FOLLOWS:
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» Statug of Lineage Logistics as a Respondent; Petitioner amnended her App}icaﬁon for
Adjustment of Claim 16 remove Lingage Logistics, so this issbe is moot. See, Tx. at 6-7:

= Doctor choices: The Arbitrator makes no finding regarding this issue, as no-evidence was
introduced,
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS } Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers™ Benefit Fund (§4(d)).
)88, D Affirm with changes l:] Rate Adjustment Fund {t“eg(ﬂ.)}
COUNTY OF ) [T Reverse [ Sccond Injury Fand (§8(e11%)
SANGAMON [ PTD/Patal denied
[ IModify None of the above

BEFQRE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Lori Crowder;

Petitioner,

VE. NO: 14W 15569

City of Springfield, 1 6 I w C C 0 65 6
Respondent,

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Petitioner herein and notice given to
all parties; the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, temporary total disability,
medical, permanent partial disability and being advised of the facts and Taw, affirms and adopts
the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof,

'IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed September 8, 2015, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT'1S FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to
Petitioner interest under § 19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have
credit for-all amounts paid, ifany, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on-account of said accidental
njury. ' '

The party commencing the proceedings for review in- the Circuit Court shall file with the
Ce ommission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Ci

pATED:  OCT 1 4 7016
010516 J'oshua D. Luskin

CIDijre
K 4! ithets

Ruth' W, White
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DISSENT

I must respectfully dissent from the Decision of the majority. The majority- ag,reed with
the Arbiirator who. found that the Petitioner failed to prove she sustained an accidental injury that
arose out of and in the course of her employment by respondent on 2/14/14,

There is no question that Petitioner was on Respondent's premises when she fell, or that
despite the walk having previously been plowed, snow and ice had accumulated when Petitioner
was walking. {Rx1) Theevidence s also ¢leir that Petitioner sustained a broken ankle requiring
surgery as-a result of her fall, (Px2 and Px4)

Accidental i mjunes sustained on an employer’s premises within a reasonable. time before
and after work are generally deemed to be in the course of the employment: However, the fact
that an injury is:in the course of the emp}ﬁyment is not sufficient to 1mpose liability; to be
compensable, the injury must also "arise out of'" the employment. For an injury to arise out of the
eniployment its origin must be in some risk connected with, or incidental to, the employment so
as to-create a causal connection between the employment and the accidental injury. Sishro, Inc.
v Industrial Comm'n, 207 11.2d 193, 203 (2003); Caterpillar Tractor Co, v. Industrial Comm’a,

129 111:2d 52, 62 (1989).

If an employee is cxpoaed to a risk common to the general public to a greater degree than
other persons, the. accidental injury is also said to arise out of her employiment. However, if the
injury results from a hazard to which the employes would have been ¢qually exposed apart from
the employment, or a risk personal to the employee. it is not compensable. Caterplllar Tractor
Co, v. Industrial Comm'n,.129 111.2d 32, 58 (1989).

Petitioner was ‘exposed to. 4 greater risk than, the general public because she regularly
used the entry and walkway where she fell while on break Petitioner was on her break when she
fell while walking to get coffee at a Starbucks. Petﬂmner exited through the west entrance, which
was- the same -entrance -used for ingress and . egress by members of the public, Although
Petitioner testified she could have walked out the east exit to get to the Starbucks, it would have
taken her longer and she might not have made it back to the premises before the end of her break.
(Tr. p. 18, 40) When an injury 16 in employee takes place in'an area. which is the usual rotte to
the empioyers premises. and the route is attendarnit with -a special risk or hazard,. the hazard
becomies part of the employment. Pentmnc:r could have gone out the back door, but she was sure
it would have been snowy too. (Tr. p. 18) Petitioner takes two breaks per'day-and will usually go
outside, walk around and get a snack or go to the'coffee shop. She typically exits the.front door.
It’s rare she uses the back. (Tr, p. 13-14) Speci‘al hazards of risks encountered as a result of
using a usual access route satisfy the "arising out of" requirement of the Act. See Bomarito v.
Industriai Comm’n, 82 111.2d. 191, 195 (1980); see also Mores-Harvey v. Industrial Comm’n, 343
Ell.-Apde- 1034, 1040 (2004).

Petitiorier’s injuries also arose out of her employment tunder the personal comfort
doctrine. The personal comfort doctrine is relevant to the determination of whether an




Q-Dex On-Line
www.gdex.com

rages 16IWCC0656

employee's injury occurred "in the course of" her employment, Cireuit City Stores, Inc. v. IHinois
‘Workers' Compensation Comm’n, 391 Il App.3d 913, 921 (2009), According to the personal
comfort doctrine, an employee, while engaged in the work of his or her émployer, may do those
things that are necessary to his or her health and comfort, even though personal to him or herself;
and such acts will be considered incidental to the employment. Ilinois Consolidated Telephone
Co. v. Industrial Comm’n, 314 1IL. App. 3d 347, 350 (2000). The Supreme Court has noted,
however; that in lunch hour cases, "the most: critical factor in determining whether the accident
arose out-of and in the course of employment is the location of the occurrence.” Eagle Discount
Supermarket, 82 Ill. 2d 331, 412 {1980). In the instant case, the accident clearly occwred on
Respondent’s premises.

Based on the above, [ would find that Petitioner sustained a comipensable accident that
arose out of and in the course of her emploment and that she. is entited to medical expenses,
temporary total disability, and permanency benefits:

1hd) Al

Charies ¥ DeVriendt
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- ~ ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ~ www.gdex.com
NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

CROWDER, LORI Case# 14WC015568

Employee/Petitioner-

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD 16IWCC 0656
Employer/Resgpondent

On 9/8/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Hlinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Ch:cago a copy. of which is ericlosed.

ni

If the Cornmission reviews th;s award, mterest of 0.27% shall acerue from the date listed above to the day.
before the date of payment; howevet, if an employee’s appeai results in either no change or a decrease in this

award, interest shall not accrue.

A. copy of this decision. is mailed o the following parties:

1909 ACKERMAN LAW OFFICE.
JAMES W ACKERMAN

1201 S6TH ST

SPRINGFIELD, I 62703

0732 LIVINGSTONE MUELLER ET AL
DENNIS O'BRIEN

PO-BOX 335,

SPRINGFIELD, IL. 52705
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) | Drl'njured Warkﬁrs"éémﬁt Fund (§4(dD
1SS, |1 Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g)
COUNTY OF SANGAMON ) [ ] second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
. @ None of the abave
L > b o L ‘ o
ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION
LORI CROWDER, ‘ Case # 14 WC 15569
Employes/Petitioner
V. Consolidated cases:

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, | ~ T
Employer/Respondent ,_. 1 6 I w C C 0 6 5 6
An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and & Nofice of Hearing was mailéd to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Maureen Pulia, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Springfield, on 7/30/15. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings
on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document. '

DISPUTED ISSUES
A. [] Was Respondent opsrating under dnd subject to the [linois Workers' Compensation or Qccupational
Diseases Act?
[j Was there an employee-employer reiat.ions;.hip?‘
Did an accident oceur that arose vut of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
. [ ] What was the date of the-actident? '
[ ] Was timely notice of the ac¢ident given to Respondent?
l: fs Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
¢ [ ] What weré Petitioner's earnings?
. | ] What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accidenit?
[ ] What-was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?
IX] Were the miedical sérvices ihiat were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all- appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
K. [X] What temporary benefits are in dispite?
1 1eD [ ] Maintenance K] TTD
L. What isthe nature-and extent of the injury?
M. [j Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. [ Is Respondent due any credit?

0. D Other

—~mmommyom

WirbDaz 2710 100 . Randalph Streer $8-200 Chicag, {1 60601 3128146611 Tollfres 866/332-3033  Wek we www, e iLgov
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FINDIENGS
On 2/14/14, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act,

On this date, an employee-employer relationship. did exist between Petitioner and Respondent,

On this date, Petitioner did not sustain an accident that arose out of and in the coirse of employment,
Timely notice of this accident was given fo Respondent.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner eamed $36,291.84; the average weekly wage was $697.92.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 43 years of age, single with 1 dependent children.

Petitioner has received all reasonable and nece’ssa;y medical services.

Respondent fas paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given 4 credit of $00.00 for TTD, $00.00 for TPD, $00.00 for maintenance, and $00.00
for other benefits, for a total credit of $00.00.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $00.00 under Section 8(j) of the Act..

ORDER.
Petitioner has failed to prove by a preponderance of the eredible evidence that she sustained an accidental injury
‘that arose out of and in the course of her employment by réspondent on 2/] 14/14. Petitioner's claim for

compensation is denied.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after réceipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Nofice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall acerue from the date listed beléw to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue,

%&Mum& 8121115

Signature of Arbitrator

ICAbDes p 2

SEP 8- 201

Pape 2
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THE ARBITRATOR HEREBY MAKES THE FOLLOWING FINDINGS OF FACT:

Petitioner, a 43 year old administrative zoning secretary, alleges she sustained an accidental injury that

arose out of and in the course of her employment by respondent on 2/ 14/14, when she stipped and fell,

Petitioner works for respondent in the Municipal Center West, a building at 7th and Morros. There are
two entrances and exits.. The front exit is considered the main entrance. This door faces 7th Sireet, and faces
towards downtown. Also outside the building on this side is a fountain. This door is not locked during regular
business hours and is the door in which the public mostly eriter and exit the building. The second entrance/exit
is out the back of the building and towards the respondent owned parking lot, that is restricted to employee-only
parking during business hours, One can only get in this entrance if they use an employee badge. The public ¢can
only get in if they go in with an.employee or are let in by someone inside the building. Anyone can exit the

building from that door.

The Municipal Center West is a City owned building where some of the City's departments are located.
CWLP has an office in that building where the public can pay bills. The zoning department is in the building,
and people get building permits in the building. The City Clerk's Office is also.in the building, as well as the
City Couneil Chamberg and the Springfield Hall of Pame., The public has decess to the building and mostly uses
the front door for.entéring and exiting the building,

There is a sidewalk that runs around the block. There is also a walkway that goés from the sidewalk on 7th
Stiwet to the west doort of the Municipal Center West: That same walkway goes around the fountain in front of
the building on the 7th Sireet side. This. walkway is used by both employees and the general public to-enter and
exit the building, The walkway.is owned and maintained by responﬁem;

Pe{_iﬁcnefts'stiﬁéd that she would usually use the east entrance to enter the building each day as she parked
in the employee parking lot. Petitioner used her employee hadge to gain access through the east door. Without
it, the door would be locked. Petitioner testified that whenever she wanted to go to Starbucks or downtown she

would exit the west door, and walk down the walkway from the building to 7ih Sireet,

Petitioner gets two 15 minutes per day, as well as.an hour lunch. Often petitioner used her moming break
to go and get coffee from Starbucks. She would leave the Municipal Center West through the west door to walk
down the walkway to the sidewalk on 7th Street and then north orie block to the Hilton where she would get a
coffee from Starbucks. Petitioner agreed that whether she went out the east-door or'the west door the distance to

Starbucks was essentially the same.

Page 3




181WCCOBSB

On 2/14/14 at appmximateiy 9:11 am, petitioner and a friend, Barb Jones, headed out of the west door of
Municipal Center West, and started walking down the walkway towards 7th Street enroute to Starbucks to get a
coffee. Snow started falling at approximately 7:27am. The snow was accumulating and at 8:56 am the
walkway was shoveled. As petitioner and Jones exited the door and started walking down the walkway
petitioner slipped and fell injuring her left foot/ankle. Petitioner was taken to 8t. John's Hospital via ambulance,

At the emergency room petitioner gave a consistent history of the accident, She had pain and was unable

to bear weight.. Petitioner was cxamined and x-rays were taken, She was diagnosed with'a left bimalleolar ankle

fracture, and displaced ankle fracture, Petitioner underwent a closed reduetion of the left ankle.

On 2/20/14 petitioner presented to Dr, Stevens at Springfield Clinic regarding her left ankle. Petitioner
reported that she was nonweightbearing and off work. Dr. Stevens examined pf:-riﬁcﬁer_ and assessed an ankle
fracture. He recommended surgical intervention.

On 2/27/14 petitioner underwent an open reduction and internal fixation of the left malleolus, open
reduction-and internal fixation of the left medial malleolus, and open reduction with manipulation without
internal fixation of the postefior malleolus. Petitioner's post upérative diagnosis was left trimalleolar ankle
fracture subluxation, This procedure was performed by Dr. Benjamin Stevens. Petitioner followed-up post-
operatively with Dr. Stevens. This treatment included physical therapy.

Petitioner followed-up with Dr. Stevens on 3/13/14, 4/10/14, 5/22/14, 7/21/15, 10/23/14, and 1/22/15. On
5/22/14 Dr. Stevens released petitionsr to light duty desk work. When petitioner last followed-up with Dr.
Stevens on 1/22/15 she was doing well, She had occasional stiffness and pain; and quite a bit of swelling with
strenuous activity, A physical examination reveéaled left lower extremity neurovascularly intact, mild edema,
tibiotalar motion without crepitus, nontender palpation, and nonantalgic gait. Dr. Steven's assessment was
stable approximately 1 year postop course status post left ankle open reddction internal fixation, Dr. Stevens

recommended that petitioner continue activity as tolerated, and to follow-up as needed.

Petitioner underwent a physical therapy initial evaluation on4/16/14 at St. John's Hospital, On 6/2/14
petitioner was discharged from physical th.efapy after 12 visits for her left ankle rehabilitation. Therdpist
Wombles noted that petitioner progressed very well with her left ankle rehabilitation program with reports that
‘she had transitioned into her athletic shoes "full time" with no significant difficulty or complaiats,

Petitioner testified that currently still experiences problems with her left foot. She testified that it hurts
every day. She stated ihat-she does not have full mobility due to the hardware in ber ankle. When going up and

down steps, petitioner takes one step at a time. Petitioner testified that her foot swells almost every day, -and

Page 4
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walking great distances aggravates it. Petitioner limits her walking and no longer takes morning break walks to
Starbucks becatise of the pain. Petitioner is still wearing tennis shoes because she feels that she needs it for
stability. Petitioner testified that sandals do niot give her the support-she needs. Petitioner takes OTC
medication for pain in the morning and night, if needed. She stated that her left foot/ankle is sensitive to

weather changes and it hurts more when the weather is bad. Petitioner also wéars compression socks at time.

. DID AN ACCIDENT OCCUR THAT AROSE.DUT'QFANB [N THE COURSE OF PETITIONER'S EMPLOYMENT BY
RESPONDENT?

The risk of injury must be inherent in, incidental to or reasonably related to the work of the petitioner. If '
the accident is the result of a hazard or activity to which the general public is equally exposed, then the injury
does not arise out of the employment. There are three types of risks which an employee might be exposed to,
namely: 1) risks distinctly associated with the employment; 2) risks which-are personal to the employee; and 3)
"newutral risks which have no particular employmtent or personal characteristics." [inois Institute of Technology:
Resezarch Institute v. [ndustrial Commission, 314 (1L App.3rd 149, 162, 247 1l Dec. 22, 731 N.E. 2d 795

(20003, Generally, accidents arising from inherent risks are usually compensable while injuries arising from

personal risks more than likely are not compensable.

Inherent risks are distinctly associated with the'employment and are risks to which the general public is
not equally exposed. Since both'petitioner.and the general public can exit and entet the west entrance to the
Municipal Center West at any time the door is open, and petitioner's.decision to exit the west entrance to go'to
Starbucks for a latte during her morning break does not benefit the respondent economically, the arbitrator finds

the petitioner was not exposed to an inherent risk. The arbitrator bases this on the fact that petitioner testified
that she was not required to go.to Starbucks for coffee on her break, and there was coffee available in the
Municipal Center West. ﬁddit’ionaﬂy.,;t_he petitioner admitted that whether shie went out the east exit or the west
exit of Municipal Center West the distance to Starbucks was essentially the same, The pefitioner also admitted
that she always entered and exited the east entrance of the building each-day to go to and from her car and this
exit was only accessible if she used her employee badg__e. Whereas, the west entrance was where the general
public enters and exits the building for City business:

Personal risks are chances of injury brought into the workplace by the employee. Accidents resulting from
personal risks are usually not compensable because the risk of injury is placed into the workplace by the
employee, is particular to the-emiployee, and is of nobenefit to the employer. Although petitioner had access to

Page 3
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equally by the general public and slipped on asnow covered walkway that had been shoveled just 15 minutes
prior. Due to the snow on the ground and petitioner's decision to go to Starbucks for her coffee and nse. the west
exit, when coffee was readily available within the building, the arbitrator finds the petitioner’s risk was not
reasonably related to her work duties. The arbitrator further finds petitioner unreasonably increased her risk by
leaving the building fo go get coffee within one hour of arriving at work when it was clear that the weather
conditions outside were less than desirable. The arbitrator finds the petitioner voluntarily exposed herself to an
unnecessary danger entirely separate from the activities and respensibilities of her job, and was performing an
act of a personal nature solely for her own conventence, an act outside any risk connected with her employment,
when she decided 10 go to Starbucks when it was clearly snowing heavily outside. The arbitrator finds the
petitioner's injury resulted from this personal risk.

Neutral risks dre those rsks of injury which are neither peculiar to the employment nor personal fo the
employee; Given the fact that going for a Jaite at Starbucks within one hour of begioning her work-day was
personal to the petitioner since coffee was available in the Municipal Center West, the arbitrator finds the
petitioner’s risk of injury was not a neutral risk.

Based on the above, as well as the credible evidence the arbitrator finds the petitioner has failed to prove
by a preponderance of the credible evidence that she sustained an accidental injury that arose out of and in the
course of her employment by respondent on 2/ 14/14, The arbitrator finds the peﬁtiﬁner‘s injury resulted ffom a
personal risk; and that the general public was exposed to the identical risk.

J. WERE THE MEDICAL SERVICES THAT WERE PROVIDED TO PETITIONER REASONABLE AND NECESSARY? HAS
RESPONDENT PAID ALL APPROPRIATE CHARGES FOR ALL REASONABLE AND NECESSARY MEDICAL SERVICES?

K. WHAT TEMPORARY BENEFITS ARE IN DISPUTE?
L. WHAT IS THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF THE INJURY?

Having fornd petitioner has failed to prove by a preponderance of the credible evidence that she sustained
arvaccidental injury that arose out.of and in the course of her employment by respondent on 2/ 14714, the

arbitrator finds these rémaining isstes are'moot.

Page 6
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STATE OF ILLINQIS Y Affirm and adopt (so changes} D Tnjured Workers' Benefit Fund (8§4(d))
188, | ] Atfion with changés [ Rate Adjustmeit Pund (§8(e))
COUNTY OF ) _ [:] Reverse D Second Injury Fund (§8(2)18)
CHAMPAIGN [ ] prosFaa denied
] Modity . DX None of the abave
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Lisa Eller,
Petitioner,
V. NO: 14 WC 33344

Board of Trustees' of Community
College Districts No. 503 (Parkland

College) , 1 6 I W(C C 0 6 5 4

Respondent,

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timtely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and niotice given to all partics,
the Commission, afier considering the issues of accident and being advised of the facts and law, affirms and’
adopts the Degision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the Arbitrator filed
March 29, 2016, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to Petitioner interest
under §19(n) of the Act, if afy.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have credit for all
amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with the Commission a

Notice of Intent to File for Review in Cireuit Court. :

DATED:  OCT 12206 P
0100616 David L, Gor

Ay

‘Stephen Mathis
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o ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
- NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

ELLER. LISA Case# 14WC033344
Employes/Petitionar

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF COMMUNITY
COLLEGE DISTRICT NO. 505 (PARKLAND
COLLEGE

Employer/Respondent

161WCC0654

On 3/29/2016, an atbitration decision on this case was filed with the Ilinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0,47% shall acorue froni the date listed above to the day
before the date of paymerit; however, if an empioyee’s appeal resulis-in eifher no change or a decrease in this
award, interest shall not accrue. :

A copy of this décision is mailed ta the following parties:

2847 TAPELLA & EBERSPACHERILC.
DANIEL C JONES

20 BOX 827

MATTOON, IL 61938

0522 THOMAS MAMER & HAUGHEY LLP
JOHN MSURIMANIS.

PO BOX 560

CHAMPAIGN, Il 618240560
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STATEOF ILLINOES et
i } r faired Workers™ Banelit de {FHdn
MK, [

COUNTY OF CHAMPAIGN 3

PR Adjustisient Fumd {3800
L_I Second bajis dund (80 TR)

\mau. orithe whas e

TLLINOTS WORKERS CONMPENSATION COMAISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

{asa Eller Case & 14 W 033344

I pphn e Hetibiono

i\, Constlidatsd cuses:

Bontd of Trostees of Commuanity Collese Thstrict Ng, 03 (Parklsnd Collese)
Eraplue Hesponden '

Andppdication for Adiustment of Claln was: fled in this mater, and s Nozfee.of Hoaring was mailed 1o cach
party, The mutier was heurd by the Honorable Tdward Lec. Arbitraiorof the Commission: i the ¢ity ol
Urbana. on Janugry I8, 2016, Adter reviewing all of the evidenve prosestod. the Ar Bitrator hereby makes
findings oo the disputed issucy chiccket beiow, and sttackes those findings w this document.
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AL Was R«Wﬁmxdc ar pperting under dtid subjoct o Ui [Hhieds Workiens® Compeasation of Oeeapational
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[ ] What was Petitioner's age ol the tine ol the gecident?
I D What wits Petitioness murital satus at thetime of the aceident?
b E U Were the medical services Uit wers pmxl ded to Vetidioner reagonuble and necessary? Has R espondent
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FINDINGS

O January 25, 2003, Respondent was opuevating andir arid ssibjecl 1o te provis iions of the Act.

O this date: ah emploves-omplover relitionship did exia between Petitiones and Respondent.

Or thisalates Petitioner oid susiofn an gecident thutarose ot of and in the e yursg-of enyplovinent,
Timely notice ol this secident was given o Roespondmt,

Pelitioner's current condition of TH-being v cousally relied to themeeident,

I the vewr preceding the injusy, Petitivner carndd $61.734.33: the averipe weehly wige was S1LISTAS,
e dite of secident, Patitfonir was S0y o npes magvied with ) dependent ehitidren,

by 3

Detitiomer Fax received all reasonable.and pecensapy medic] series
Respandent has stipulated it il pay gl appropriate charges for all reisonable nnd sevessary madien] services,

R esponidient shadl b U'iwn' g erodil af SO Ter TS e TEHL S0 for nuintensnec, and $8 for angdvancentent
U PR for o totalcredit ol SHE

Respondent is entitled 10w eredif ol S0 under Section Rrulihe Act

FACTS

On January 25, 2013 Petitioner, LISY RO I'}R Wi € emprloyed 2%  Seterinariun ¥t the Sehool of
‘\ umm ry Technelogy of i{ummw {. BOL \I Ty o TRUSTEES OF COMMY MI\ COLLEGE DISTRICT NO,
RREA -,\iiing\i\-_J (._Ui,.i FGL (T M1 A 13‘;;1; thme shewas 3 classronm instraetor, and was also
rc-g;pgﬂ«;il‘nl'c for overseeing (he care of an infals that were: kepst at Purkland Cotlege. i a»ltidmu p\.:i{smzmg surgery:
(e p. 122130 Somncone {rofythe Velerinay Izmimu oy Prograr was alse required o cometo the school on
W ec%l;md\ and care Jor these aniinals. and Petitivner would perform this duty onw cekends \%]}m il was herturn
{17, . 263 She also ovned the Avthur Veterinary © inic, where she workied s i pragticing physi sian, providing
cure Tor dogs, cats. ind horses { i____p} P Petitfoner g, heen o Velerinarian since 1987, and the work with
hersey was i special aren ol passion foF Réspundent, tor which she speciatized her practice. especially in the
areas of ugmm,1e§>1mi&mmﬁ Ol pp: 14- E*\} Suchwork ollenreg ;uudicuum to work internully within the
e repradiction gvsien: wd requited Petitioner 1o tepeatedly feaphor wm clevaied and reaching (T, 157,

Petitioner was injured w hife \'i;w Parkizad Ciillege-on-dimuury 25, 20 m I’{t:s-;n_mcic'm
provided aad matutaingd parking. io%\ o LS PrOpeTiy W Bich su mundui the i*mldmg i Tropp. 18191, There were
v special parling ot designated Tor Raeulty: and students: sty T and el all parked in L%xa, ﬂmc in sony

firsl come, Brétserved beists €. b 180, On the dav o her igjury. Petitioner parked ina fol destonuedas Mo~
Creop. B e bl 3y Pt monsx w%!m; 1% m ihgf‘i,“\\mn of Respondent"shuilding i Room Number L33
Vel pp 19200 Pet. Uxh, & Pet, V41 Petitioner it worked Tn hir office ot L1335 on the dfn af her injury
and wag leaving that ofhice v hcn dlsd was injured (T, e 193

Potitioner ahwviys pdiixh i Lot Mb: as ieds e one closest o her office. and is mml convenicnt (v, pp
U2, I getling to the =L wing from Let MA. Potitioner takog The Ul i’p cteckin Petitioner’s \inbllx >
trroughe® (Pet. Exhis. 3-0), At the end of the slduwalk depicted ih Petidoner’s FExhibit 9 s o serviee entranee
that separites “L7 wing from e gyranasivm (Ve po 220 Pet, Exhs. 0.1 1) The service entrance leads to asmall




Q-Dex On-Line
Lot : www.gdex.com

b 1:'5;@ ;55 187wCCOG54

parking areis which is south and costol the gymnasiune and Petiioner ell in this parkingarea, which is mitirked
witlan A7 en Petitioner’s Rxhibits 3 and 4 O pps 232240 Pos Inhs 3040 1110,

peritioner had been told thiit ghe wakpat alfowed to park in this parking lot foralengthy perfod of time
(Trop, 2423, She was e park inone of the omlying. pm}\n:g s depicted on Petitioner's £ \iubal (Trop 25
e Tghe 3 There e B parium spaces hiy this m;%mg fot — thiree are for luiiwha sufery pr paliey cars, and tvo
ei'then are vesepved for short leen parking £ Tr. 23, There are tao differenl kinds o signs inhose 3 parking
spaces {Tr ppe 20-271 Une dvpe of sigh sivs "o parking, reserved for pofice ve hicles onty.” and Pmizanu
krwnvs she s not ablosved fo purk i those spaces, uxdhose are for P arkland security police vehives TJ [ m?)
The ather twa parking spots Bave wdifforent sign, wnd say T wo-our parking | fmil, ofleial use only™ (T
275 Petitfoner and diler Feuity members will gk in these parking spols vehen they nued W drop sumet hmﬂ
ol ond fn samething [t the building: and on weekends when the uiHL o iselosed dnd they o 1LuL o the
anirmals (. ppi 33383, There i also a publicsalet CHRINCS U o this parking ot pe 287 Py, Exha 3y
She js regquired 1o go through dwe public safely entrnte when she i there o weekends, as the vther oiitrances
arobmd the parking 1ot are locked on weekends, andne faculty meniber she knows of has u key o these doors
(Teopp 28-29. 41,

Patitioner exited the “17 wing on Jantars 23,2013, arcurd 640 or 6: 85 pan. from a door marked “D7
an Patitioner’s Exhibit- (Tr, pp, 210400 Pet Lixhs, 4. T Foy Petidoner’s Exhibits 3216 Lk[“m.l the route
Petitivner would take § ;nm Lot A6 tosier affice i the L7 Wing, amd Petitioners” Exh thie 17-21 depict the rout
Petitioner sould teke from 1 door she exited that might back toward Let MoCFr p. 400 Pet, Exlis. 3-210.
Petitioners” Fahibit 13 showsthe spot where Petitioner fell, andd the concrete dll\mﬁ barrier that way in plics
an thé night shie (el 7T pp. 27-28 Dot Tixk 130

Res pnndmi has never restricted Pefitioner’s use of the doors from which she exited o thepight ol her
fail {Te.pp. 41-42y No vepresealative of Respondent has ever told her she-cannol use these doovs. and other
Faeuity mermbetrs and strdents use these doors alt tie tme(Tr, po 20 lus;mm]tm & Manager of bulidinues and
rounds-testified that he, aswelt acthe 30, emplovess hie aversees, all ol whom are i\u;mmimt unplx\\ccs.
svetlk throngly thie parking Loy where Pet ismm fell 1o et around Parklind College (Trp. 791 e further
fostified that Respondentmaintaing this par Emw fot amid puts sall wround the: walk \m\athm Plamtlu wilked
aver on her way to this pmi fng Toiz and that foeuby aad sudents coming from the =L wing haveto waik
through thig ;m;i\mg_ Tot tieet wthe publicsality affice (Tr. pp. 80-823,

On that hight. P ctitioner exited the dovr and swentdown (he stairs dcpnml i Petitioner’s Bxhibit 17
(e, 4344 Pt Bxh, 179, She madea vight turm, and the view she had s depieted in Petitioner’s Exhibit 18,
Cmiinus the veliicle, ax there was no vehiele i the ]wku‘w spaceon that night Clr. pp, =453 Petitioner stepped
aver the concrele barrier and fell on black jvee ¢, p, 471 Petitioner fell on berright side wit th ber arm exiended
(Tr.p. 48). Petitioner pied w et ip, bt could sor beeatse of the ce, and was foi cedl 1o seont over into dh.
rocks i order 1 be able to starid (T po 480 Pelitioner then wirlked (o lier vehicle in Lot MO apened the
dosor, and telephoned ber hushand {1 p: ST was then she realized she iad ¢ther distovated her shoule iu or
broke hor right-ar, a3 she conld not miove SEETE p 30 Axshe gould not get into the carl she walked baek
throuzh the ;mekmo fo. mu% entered the sehool through tie public salety entranee so she gould callan
ambulanee (Tr pp. 31523

Shewas ransporied- by Ambulance 1o the Carke Clinie Bmeruency Room, where X-tay s revealed thal her
cight shoulder was dislocaed €Tr, fr. 32: Pet, Exiv 22 pp. 231 A elosed reduction procedure Was perfarmed to
pul the shoulder back in alignment (Ve. p, 520 Per. Bxir 220 p. 31 She a]so had an MRI performed that date. and
began seeing Dr. Rabert Gurtler the follesving sweek (Tt p. 332 Pel. o ‘?_ 3op by D Guoetier advised her fo
koep the arm inee sHg. wndover the next 3 months, l’wlmnu did some i g_,ht physical th.mp\ bt fermained in &
shaulider impabilizer o those 3 nronihs (e p. 341

d
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Pétitiarior did not uct any better daring those 3anoenths and this afféeied ber ubility o practice veterinary
mecdichine (T pp. S4=5510 Rhie coudd not sow clients al her utq tnary clinic, and she could nat opu@h. on animals

at I:"_u.lxiand (e p 5500 She could continue w teaeh (Trp 35 Three e Tour weeks atter the aceident,
Pedtioner told her medical {reaters that she did nat feel uwl'ﬂ and requested o smizca MM hul shorepld not have
ane cutib Apat 9, 2013 some 3 months a ferthe njury (17 pp. 35360 Pet fixh 230 p. 51 This MRErevdalata
severe rotator cuflenr (16 pp. 36-57: et Bixh, w3.’;. - e Gurtker perfored surgeny m repair the rotatar

cuft tear on Apeil 220 U3 O p 370 Pet Bah, T2 p \; Petitioner missed 7 davs ol work following her surgery
(e 5?!;

Fouwing her surgery, Pelitioner had u slow revovery (11 poS8E She slept in A recliner for § months
die Tt paineand she could not eise her arm dlm,;‘ hmﬂ tor lovel Forat Jeust §months (e, 38y Petitioner
ars tmable (1 her arm that hinh dstil Nevember, 20013 (Tr, o 390 Pet Fxh, 23, pp 9= 100 Patilioner swas
tzhle o powr waier info qeolies ny ﬁxL‘E with her tidht arm or iU her right arm feh enoogh 1o peess the buian
ot her &4r' s sunead ! untl Noventber, 2003 ¢ Frop. 38 She was ot released v herdaetor Lo performustrgery
duriig the Fallk 2013 semesterat Parkland Coflege. and'so shic wasnit allowed W Ledeh hersurgery Siass h, %
725 Pet Bsh, 23050 7 (o order fo mainiain ber § uli-time faculiy gén' s, she u’;iﬂ:mquiw&in-m-;;};;e'_ug"r-{hcase
surgical hours iy the Spring. 2014 somester, which afteoted herpay (7 po 200 Although Pedtioner Histsaw D,
Crrter e November 30 26 30 Patitfoner did not receive ot full misasr from Hm umim untl Mav 3,201 which
wis ener une veor following the sdrgiey (. ppa olk 61, 697 ren Foxhl 24

Tuday, Petitioners arnystit] uches ot thmes Fomethe injury (T p 620, Thedrjured e restricts e
work activities as o practicing vererinarian, us sheistotalli una w]a, o perform the cquine reproductive oct ivities
she penmmm i the pust (Tr pa 623, D Guster Bas infarmed her . 1f fihe uses er shoulder 1 perforny such
activitics. sherungthe vish of re-tearing the rotntor ST and theti Tt wodld notdwe able w repaiv itagain (T p.
63y, PeliGoner is alse limited in her lefsure netivities. ag she cannot parfarm activ ithes such ns. gan Eumm( Peopp.
fa64). She alse bas wrouble pldting on e,initmm andd perfomming sther dadly activities, aned she las had o use 1w
tearm.rer felt hund more than she had hc!nwmu njury CEF L 64 She a}w sulfers from stifThess und
detredred rande olination in hei *\%um}d

DISPUTED ISSUES

3. Did an aceileut oceur that aveseout of and in the course of Petitioner’s am ployment by Respondent?

Vhe Tacts dogioustinle thal Petitivier sultored an injury that hoiliwrose ovtof” and ywas i the course
of her employment. Pefitianerwag injured While she was'siepping over s pngrety parking bayreronla g
patideing Lottt was under the direct contral of “enponident, u risk connivied with, or incidenal 10: the
ernploviment. She feil onan accundlation of ive. o Tumardots tondition which created o risk contiected with the
emplovment, and sl lich Wiivolved @ cansal connection betwoen he rployment 2 the injtn.

T obain comperisation inder the Workers” Compentsation Avt s elaimant must ghow, by a

;>fgpomludnu of the evidence, that ht or L.%;L sutfered wdisabling injury that arese dit ofand in thie course of
the clatmant’s eniployment. 824 VILCS 30320 Aainjury ~arfées out of T one’s.employment i ilorisinates from a
rish umnukd with, ovincidental o the tmpimmmt arnd involves o eatsal connection-hetween the emplovment
and e aeeidental injury: Mores-Hargy v, Indugtrial Comm' i, 345 HLApp.3d 1034 MU3T. 804 NLEL2d 1R80,
HIOG (3d s 20040, ~n the coarse.of” refers wr the tne. p%éu. and circumstances wnder wi m,h the accident
vecurred. Suter v, Hinots Workers” Compensation Comp . 2003 1 App (= (0] TR0040WC, L 18,998 NLE2d
976, 971, Accidental injurics sustained on an emplovers premises within s u,dthhia, e hdaru and after
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\m;i\ arcgendrily deemed W arise in the cousse of the employment. MorgsHarvey, 343 B ADp AL ae 1037,
SO N LG 10 s Suter g ER 998 N, (5,24 al 971

While the nijuries of an ployeée who sl wd fidls ot a point oit the omp slover’s promises while

s eling foyor rom work are generally not iuumi w be compensable. Hinots Courts have tound two exceptions
i his rofe. Mosts-Tlaeves. 343 HEApp3d ap T037804 ML 2d o O Nuter, al® 1920, 998 N2 al 970,
The {irst exéeption Is ;wuwmd when 1he cmpimu, s prosence o the accident site was reguired in e
performance of his dutics and the ermplovee is exposed to a risk common fo the general public 1o o greater
dogree than mhu persong Mopes=Haney. 343 11l Xp;'; Ad ar LO37, 804 "xI 2d _i(ﬁ‘tl Suiler, o & ”’[1 gu8
NG at 976, The seeond B the “pagking ol exeeption” where an employee isinjured i a parking lotproy ided
by and under the dontrol of the employer. Mores-Harvey, 3451 HAppddat 1 BT, 804 N0 s T0902 Sinter. at
0998 NEDd st 9760 This exception apy plics In cirontnstanccs where the employee™s injury i uused by
soie Tupzrdous condition in the parking lot Sufer.al® 21 B98 NoEE2d at 976,

Hhnois Courts have Tound dhit slips.and s ay employer-providsg
are present are generdly compensabie. Moros-Tarvey, M3 HEApp 3d-at 16
71998 N2 ol 976 Wheiler a parking lof is dsed ptém{;ul& by Lﬂ‘f}“‘ikmm or
proper guiry s whiether the cmplmu nnnmcnns arid proyigcs the fot oy s omplovees” usi, Mores-Harvey.
3350 AppAdan 104 SOENE2d at 1002, Pihis s the case. tenthe Jotconstituies part of the employer's
promises. Jd. Fhe presence ol e hazardous mndafmn an lhe empluyer’s premises that cinses @ claimant’s injury
supporls the | Hnding of @ compensable claim. fd,

tst ﬁ\':l"um' husardous conditions
7. BU4 N2t 1000 Suter, atf
by zhc general public: the

-

{1 Mores-Haryev, Petitfoner drove i swork ond parked her car bihind the Respondent’s restatrant in the
putking fot that surrounded tie building, us employees were divected 1 park on cither the side orback of the
parking 1ot so/that uixmmerx could parkiin frong, As she exitéd her cur, eldiniaat putong foot down wied shipped
and Telt en fee. juring her headand hack. In £ ndmz,. 111:. clajin compensable. the .-_'\pp"lmlc Court found that,
by restricting where elutimuat conld park for vehicie. the.employer exertised control syt its employed’s detions,
and in this way the cmploves fyeed fisks greater thapthat of hu generl pulblie, fdoat 1042 804 NE2d a0 1093

A simiisr yesolt w:za; P ;du.d reeenthy by e Fourds Distefer Appeliate Court i i Suter v, Utinois Workers®
Compensation Commn. 2001 3 CApp T x(}{H W, 998 N2 9T L Petitioner was 4 lemporary employee
whi had been gssigned jo a S m: apeney. and who Tl an e fiv e purking el of ber way toowork. The parking
nven was reserved. [or State workers bul the peitking spot Had buxn assigned (o Petitionet by a building nuasage sy
who was ol empluyed by the State o the fending umuiu\e and Petitioner had heen direcied by o State official
o uik to the builiding manuger about i parking space.

In Unding the elaim compensable. the Courl x;ﬂaaml that the ratiotade for thie "parking Jorexe cplmn
is that the conditions of an employee-provided parking fotis it such a lotis considerad part oFthe emplm RS !
premises, Idooof €23, 998 Nk D2d 01976, Onee the parking ot is-considered mﬂ of the wnplover's promises,
any tnjusy on'the pd] Lmu fol i 5. compensabléd 171w mﬁ e compensable on the cmployer™s main ;nuuhw. k.
AT T 908 NE.2d ar 977 The Court, in finding the case mmpm«uﬁle s;uicd iing_ the uflugm» nguiny was
whether the emploved naintained and prov Sded the ot for s employees” tse, wnd that 7 this s dhe gise. then ihs:
Jil constitutes part of the cmp%mu o premises. and the presence ol 4 luzardous condition on the emplaver’
premises that couses o clainuni s njury sepporis. thie § mdmv ol compenss able claim. Idi a0 $.23 998 N.E2d dl
478,

Hiinols has continued to récognize that slips and falls on an cmpimtzwpmmiod lot when hazardous
canditions are present are generally c(‘u_ﬁpiﬂ_h}hi Sew Archer Daniels Midland Co. v, Industrial Comm'n. 91
I3 210, 217, 437 NLE2d 609, 612 (19821 (injury arose out of wod dn the course of unp!mt:‘;em whaorg
cmplovee slipped on fee while walking from eniployer’s parking 1ot through gate o plant yroynds as oy

Es:

M
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resubtod fom acish makdent W employienty: i \& alker & Sons v Industelad Copap’n 41 WL 4294510
2NN 179,181 CT9ANT Grjur drose obr ol and i the coarse of emplovoent where the clafmant injired his
hand wlfier e slippad snd Teit nosnows and. ey wm; ans parking !m atier Te had parked his car in the Tot
hecgitse This presence incthe lol was duc endirely o !m ;,mpim ment”y De ovos v Industrin] Commn, 26
WU P P14 583 WOE T 885, 887 (196 (Petitionter’s injury afler mU On St de e was compensable
buinise an coploves whe falls o w parking for provided by Bix emiployer while nrocceding o wirk, swe
!
i

o
il s

swliove, ix subicenad o hazards @ which-the general pubifie is potexposed ™3 L u.h :Li 1 Healtheare Center v,

whastrial Cumpyn. 349 T App X 485, 494 1812 N6 2d 40T 30506 Y Dis 2004) (Patitioner’s  witkle
ity sustained gfter pipping oo an uneven sidewalk comecting parking fol i n.u;‘k_)i;za;u drose uul of hey
employ ment where '*\'iﬂcnce shoveed that the sidevall was defective. and the clalimant swas exposed 0 the
ditbetive sidewalk wnd the ssk of iripping th ’mis mofe Trequentdy thah mombak of the :.:Ln*'m! §“rllh3lu
Chmelik v, Yona, 37 UL2D 272, 27879, 208 N.B2d L34, 4538-39 (196 Ar injury accidentally received on the
preptises ol the z:_nm‘um.z By wor ey soind o or from his suuu‘a CIY p;u_\ Attt By a clsiomary or a permitied
vente. withiny 1 reasonate time Belare or afier worle is reeeived. in the course of and arisey oot ol the
wriprlovient

The eages on which Respondent may ety Citerpillag Teetr Co, v, Ingdust rigf Comm'n. 129 N1.2d 52,
341N RANIRIREYS angd Wal-Mart Stares, Inc. v, Engluam il Compi .“(s LA, xd 418 760 NE2d ?(;a_é
{4 DL 2(){ Ly, are distingaishable Trom the presenl case, T Caterpiflar Trpetir. the elaimant wis injured an
Bis way o e employes pnai\mn ol aller his shif,  Tmmediaely i front ol the employe™s building wasy
<3d-¢\;v:ﬁ-n; with a curb rusning wloii (s edoe. A Blagkion diivenay ext 1o 1 e curh was partof e conpany
premises, and was used: by emplodies and the genesul pubiic t pich p-employees, Clamant stepped off ol the
ciirh and onto the s,iai\ eway. and maslc_d his ankle, Unlike (e case ot bue, the Claimant in Caterpitlas Fracios
Jid o mrf. skip. or & all. dmi the Conart conciuded 1im' Claimam's injury did not result from the condition of the
ety ﬂm er's premises boenuse there was nivevidenee [hat (he eurh was either hazardous or defective. £ terpillar
I E”“»’ H2d a0 61, 541 NI of 668, Moreover, thar Court Found that curbs and the risks it are
inherent in traversing them confront all; menthers ol the public. whic b owas a tillerent sitmation thinn one in
which a hazardous condition: sueli asjee tnd snos. was present and cansed the Claimants injuries __}__1_@9-
Harvey, 345 HLApPD. S al M3 10390, SOOI w19 I Wal-Mar s The Claimant slipped gn oe
} v the parfing Tob shich was used by ok enyn livees and custonions,

o

Fmplesces were reguesied. bul nut
juired o park 0 o certain areg-of the ot Clann stified that, et the time of e flk she was waking
Lot wels hercar which had beat parked by o friend waiifng w pick hee ap in thie arsa i whidhremployeeswere
epcovrsged o opark,  Unlike the §milwﬁ“ fot T guestion in the present cose which was only available o
i\m}mzdmi § employees af eefain Gme, the Wal-Mart Stedres cise mxulx a lot thiy was axmi Ble 1o hoth.
cmplovees and customers at-all times, In addition. o one had- asked or instucled Climant's frichd 10 park
whore she div, and therélore the Clilmant was not ander the i.mp'mu s vontrol witen she left the store, and
therefore, conld not have faced any risks 10 a grefler extent than the general Cpubliv. Mareg-Harvey, 345
HEApp.3d at é}-H -17 K04 N1t 1095, Naseover, mmu ner inthis case, who-sas pumliiui 1o park i iy the
o 1t guestion 6n cerlyin peeasions, encouniered therisk ol slippii o foe more i e general puthlic hivause
of the number of times $he sised the ot w come inand out oftthe bu ilding, Cassandra i!u\.cs v, Catholie
Charities, 10 1L.W.C, 18732, 15 LWL.C.C 0027..2015 W1 RO884A. '

ty the preaent case, Petitfoner was permitied fo park in oy ofihe cutlving prking areds surronnding
Parklund College, fneluding the M6 paking Tot which was closestio b offfce. One foule to-and from this
parking aret used by Kes mi);hflt & employees went thyough the purking lo i wlhich stie foll. Pelitioner was
puml%lé& ey pairk jnethis iot il cerGeia times for short dirwions and on Neckends, Tioth Tols wore owned and
maimtgined by Respondent. Ay e h\ fhe Court in Mores- Hdmj the kevgustion s whether the parkisg lot
is mamniained- by the !{upmuim and- provides hy ot [ its emiployees” wsg, 1o this case, Respondent Iy
responsible Tor maintaming both paiking Jots i guestion for s c*nkz;c . ad Ros gmmiuu mmmilci whid

Petitioner was allowed to park in the lon inwhich she fell. AL that point. the pmi\mw lot s treated the same as if
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itwere i the Respendent’s prentses amd o hazardous condition, sueh os the jee encoantered by Petitioner,
supports the finding ol a covipensable clain. iy addition. Petisoner s requurad 1o wavel tirough this lot o get
e the door closest o her olfiee: and 1$ required o go throogh (his fol Lo get (o the door lendinz o the Secusin
Offiee. the door sherwas reguired 1o go throageh o weehends when sl {ml o Take care of aninmds that were
Ezum (ot Parklang College, Petitioner slipped and el an fee whike Teaving Parkband College on fier way 1o her

r o pe heme for the evening. w gd the dcy condition of the parking fot further donstiuied a hazard oy conditon
in zh-- sarkine lol, Petierer's injury hatvarese ol ol and was fn the course of heremployment. and her claim

e

I mm’;’weﬁsabic.

g Were the medical sevvices that were provided to Pefitivner reasonable and necessary? H‘ls
RRespondent paid all appropriote charges for alt reasonable and necessary medical services|

|
i
1
|
|
i

The purticshave siipulatod that, should Respundept t b Tound Tiable. Ks"\;puﬂd *r‘i shall be responsible oy
pasment of oll rc:hunacris: and related wedical Bl associaed with such medival cofe. dnd R(::ip(md%.‘ﬁi shuil
reimbiurse Petitfoner for am deduetible smount Petifoser wus reguireg o pay o 31 p; {astte healdt insurer in
arder 0 sedure such: riedical eare (T, p.61), %xwpm‘;dcni s found o be Hable Tor such mwdical expenses. and

shull be solely responsible Tor all reasonabde and rehued medical Bills ussociaed with Petitioner’s medieal care.
subject to the Hlinois G schedule. and shall reimburse Petitioner Tor any deduetible amounts she has p:mi

privaie heallh dnsurer i order W secure such miedical gare,

What is the natuie and extent of the injury?

Potitioner has proven i she sustained A purmanen mmal digabitity vonsisling of a dislocation of her
right shoukder, and atear of her right rotator el The rotgior el requtired surgeny o) repitlr, as wells asa
lengthy eourse af vefrabilifation,

The medical evidence reveals that Pedtioner did nol have a "normitl” course g treakinent dnd
retabiliiation. Pentioner om_m;t}i\ reported to Dy, Brdley Peterson oy C Carle Clinie Emergency Room. who
moted that Petitoner slippéd v e, failing forward otto ber chest wilh her HTTHRS xpmsi;d oLt with wmpi‘nma
of right shoulder pain which radiated dovww her fngertips. witly associated numbiess an Jtingling (Peb sl
22, p. 7). There was abso radiation of pain o lhc Jeht side ol Bt upper bk, aid the puin was made worse
with miyy movement of the ar (Pet. Txh. 22 p. ). The original diagnosiswas ol a shoulder dislecation:
l‘gi‘iuwinn a J”aH and the doctor perfonmed acl w:d shobiler reduetion: :amd puta shovlder immaebitizer in ;ﬂ&

Pet Exh. 22, p3lL

Petitioner then bésan treating with Dr. Robert Gurtler on Januacy 31, 2013 (Pew Exhe 23 p. 1), '-*\M 1wl
timre. i Glurtler noted o lot ol sdoma anter foriy, but Jid not reconymend: Burgery at that time H’ei,l xh, 23
1), The doctor recarmmended thal Petilionersiay away Trom treating cows and Horses (Pet. b, 2390 1) ‘\ha,

contbed enly raise hor shoulder to about BU degraes, und the docter reeommended wenring her shng in public (Pel

xh. 230p Tk

Pefitioner lad wother M eximi of kp. 119, 2013, and saw Dr, Guriléy agabiv on Apiit 1. 2003 {Pet,
Fal 23 p. 33 Dr. Gurtder noted this new M Um\wd a4 supraspinglus lear %a,ugx, fuli-1 11;,5\11@351 ar, and a
patial w sd th lex al ol the supraspinatus tendon at the e '}.’_r.‘i: {Vet, Exh. 23, p. 34 D Gueter noted . wShe justUhas
ot deine well, She hag not heen able to restore dny motion Whatsoever. She i extremelyweak so the tendency
for dislocation is not there but het function becouse of thie rofafor culltear has never recovered and 1 thinkdve
are it situation whicre tve have ao chaice but (0 go ahead with surgers for her right shoulder. | Ftold her Tdo 1

1

e ————
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ot Bty e we e make het showlder sormal but conseryaive card simplhy has nal belped. Sheas yotenine
hetier, Tum godig te reeonmend @ rioht shibulder open rolisor cwf repaie 7 ePel B 2300 3L

i

Dr. Curtler perioemed the right shosldér open ratator culf rephie surgen. m" ’\J,ﬂEi 20,2613 (Pe Exh, 22

PR

pe Ry s fmu -opérative dmumm*\ was “iight Targe sotsior cuffear” (fel fish, 220, 31 The doctor noted that
the ~“Indicazion Yor Sargery™ wis “Severe paiinand noar ¢omplete ing st o raise het righi shoulder™ (Pet. Exh,
Y I

JRaaty s 2 )

Potitioner nest sov D Gartleran May w_,“{ 2. when h;e' noted thut her agiivitivs, “sticking hs:;r aFi
sl de aninmals B o long reaching. hewvy suirke hard om roaior call tpe ol ietiviey ™ (Pe Bxho 230 pe 3y The
{‘mcu'v" further noied. 7l dhink \wmn o0f her shoulder back to-duiig niisy nf the thinus she lhes w clo h i just
1y Lo potdo as mueh” el Lxdn 230 p, 1) She was @ begin work 4 ucwk gy ol iotion exerdises, and st
a Emma; program Avith g puliey 4 felv weeks after the surgeey (Pt Exb, 23, 34 Thedosiot further stated. “She
andersiands we cannel give ha;; sy shoulder b we con Ceri 1%— hm, fera sholder that i better ghan G
fas hoen, Shie reminds me ugain how extensively frau matic s faliwas, i was black feees JL. wenl down in g
mitrosecond. a very kard fall. imm% we are weeing e conseguendcs of th et Bad, 230 30

D, Giuetler next sy Petitiener on Mav 16, 201 3 owhich wes almost one month atler the surgeny v PeL
Exh, 23 p6) e ndted. “Certaindy we do notwant her (o do-an Tilting with this tight shoulder, she 15 st
gty wnac sl xmsm bt patn celiel is good” {Pet. Ish ,#,.p 1. Shewas pulen v nere zatz\c'huﬂp‘;
prograi (Pet T, 23, ps 6k ()g;. dy 2302013, D Gurtes saw Py ilfmms sgiin, wid nofed she was mdking
DIOYICSS (i i_*'\lh 23.p. T lhe Lisu.t('} stated; W tafked sbont the fae im! evervthing appears that the
rotater cul T repair on that right shoubderis intact ;umnu»h g very i'vw tear, She b very-donterned Dhegatise
el [rogress iy so clow. Tikink that the home putler iz fver most imporlant exuereise dnd she con et the :\zwukdu
muhﬁud She just ¢ canuot T T on her own ™ Pel Exh. 23 T \mrLi er MR wasd ordered {Pet Exhe 23, p.
75 The doctor further stated, 1t Is surprizing how show her progress 18 insomeavays., buton e elher hard, it is
Just d very diffieudt fear. Lioldhey Idu SR huﬂ\ shie. Be sible W do veterinary surgery Ui fall, butwe will shioot
fore Jurpuary, 2013 (sicy (1’@1 Paho 23,0070 O duly 29.2 2013 D Guitler spoke svith Petitioner on‘the-
tefephone tu diseussthe readings of ﬂ:tc minst m,a,m MR and udvised her o keep dolng the heme puiley
everchses (Dot Bxh. 2300 8

Petitioner nest suw Dy, Giurther on Septentber §, 2013 und ke poted that she had “decent passive range ol
miction belping with ber other Band or her home p‘iﬂa\ (o ohott 140 devrees, but aetivelvshe s still cannol
Luile got it up, but she fs edttimgclose™ (et ixdy 23, p.9). Fis.plan svas toeantinue with ths. home therapy.
WOTR on 1 e of rotion. use (he shoulder carelutiy, m&d aiticipate improvement overa © vear period of tme.
iPer Bxhbe 230 p: 93

Dor, Chuy Uu ;,, hn‘a\hwuh Pefilionor was on November 5, 2043, some s months niter the redatorenlt
Shirgary | (et Bxh, 23 p 101 Ve dogtor noted that Petitioner had “linalivgoiten the strength to put heraim
aver et head, iuLl e 1t itk as big s Her tear was: ag young as she is, anel as much difficolty as she) has
bl T want o stil be m!tiih vaufioys.. E‘w just vannot do the physiesl stalT, Shomonths frond new., we will
relegse har completely™ Pt Iixh, 23 '{s, i . D (unilu (et pave Pelittoner ler (nal feledse, awitlwint
restrietinns. on Moy 3, 01 {Pei, ¥ xh "4} over sne voar alter the surgery. and over E3 months afler the date of
e initisl injun

Petitioner nemover twer inonths before D Gurtter even dingaosed her votator cull injury, Onee 1L wog
dingnosed. Dr. Gurtler continuousiy referred o the i fjury s & hig lam ~and itTieulr retmor utt’m
Within 2 weelks ol the surverv. D Gurtler noted that P;islmnu \\muigl ~pever have a normal shoulder,”™ Towas
ottt Novemiber 3. 2013, over @ months alier the injury that Petiionerveuld put berarm over her head, pour
waler intoacoltee pol. or press the over umE button i lersunrool in hercar: Tyven then, Dr. CGurtler nested she
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“fepst camnol do-the phy s ST She was na eleared to porferm surpery again andil Januaey. 2014,
approsimafely 1 year afier the ol Petitioner’s fall s e mwj severe, Jopg-ter permanent injuryto Petifioned’s

ratator cutls nJ shoukler,

Rased upon the rovvnds exhibiis, apd zmiimum aied considering ulf the factors | Hsted I Seetion $.1¢0)
of e Workers Campensation Act, Petitioner has sufferéd peemanen! partial disabiiny cyuating b lfeen
pereent (1% ) of the doss o s persen as o whele

CONCLUSION

Flve Arbitrator has carelulls reviewed she medical reconds il of e Exhihits submined By the Pelitioner
s the }\wwui{:nh and o carelully obs us\,d e demeanar apd eredibitit of e Po iinmu The Arbilrator

fids tha i etitioner hag et her burden of prool thatawork- rotited fecident vectrred on January 25 2003,
ce_m':&.i'n!: ury to Patitioner’s right shoulder, The Arbitrator finds th P unms.‘ia:i b proven her surgery

d secumence,

[
mubseguent it midl%(!ih are il cuusally related 1o the Januaey 25, SR wirkerels

ORDER
Pursuant e the parties’ sp ulmwn Respondentshatl pay all oiedical serviees, pursuant w the HHinas
medicnl fed schedule. assueiated with treatment ol ikuiumu 3 w'i choulder since Junuary 28, 2003 us
provided Tip Sectfons 8ea) and 8.2 of ﬁu. Act, and shall reifsbutse Petitioner foraliy dedui ihle ambunis'she has

paid her private health insurer in nidu*"o SCCHIY \uch msedical vare,
As provided in Section £(d) 2ol the Act, Potiiomer is eiitted to amaward of {ileen poereent {15%6)
Pormanent Partial DigBiliny fbr e toss of o person.ay @ while. consisting al” 75 weeky ol compensation alher

i
Permanent Partal Disability mie of $712 55,

iion of an additonal

£
v i oy

3
H

I o instance shali this oward bo o bar o subseguent hearing and deterry
15

1
amuunt o medical benefits or compensation for o iemporary or permanest disabil

:
RULES REGARIING ApPEALs Unless u party files o Putitien for Review witkin 36 d:;m: alter receipt oi this
decizion, amd perfects o review in secordanee with the Actand Rufes. then this decision shall be enfered asthe
decision of Eha.. Commission

STATEMENT. Qr INPEREST RATE 11 e Conunission reviews this sward. Interest al the rate set Tyt on the Nefice
of Decision of Arhiprator shall acerue %mm ﬁk fate Jisted helow o the day before the daie o puyiment: howsver

iFun employee's sppeal results in either no change ora dsercuse i this anand, interst shalinot acerue:

Alarch 19; 2016

I hstae

Wietrbine p 2
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STATE OF ILLINOCIS } D Affirm and adopt (no cﬁanges) | D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d})
_ _ . 188, [:] Affirm with'¢hanges m Rate Adjustrent Fund (§8(g)
COUNTY OF COOK } D Reverse D Second Injury Fund (§8(2318)
_ D PTD/Fatal denied
[XI Modify {E Nt}ne of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Maricruz Lopez,
Petitioner,
vs. NO: 12 WC11027

Debbie’s Customized Staffing, 1 6 I Ev C C 0 6 4 7
Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b} having been filed by the Respondent

herein and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of causation,
cutrent and prospective medical benefits and temporary total disability.and being advised of the
facts and law, modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise affirms and
adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, The
Commission further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedings fora
‘determination of a further arrount of temporary total compensatioti or of compensation for
permanent disability; if any, pursuant fo Thomas v. Industrial Commission, 78 11.2d 327, 399
N.E.2d 1322, 35 [ILDec: 794 (1980).

The:Commission found two clerical errors in the Arbitrator’s decision: One, the-
Arbitrator erronepusly awarded temporary total disability commencing on March 12, 2012,
which was two days prior to the March 14, 2012 date of accident. The parties stipulated and the
evidence supports the fact that Petitioner’s. temporary total disability should have begun on
March 15, 2012. Two, the Arbitrator identified Dr. Levin as the independent medical ¢valuator
when this doctor was, actually Dr, Vender:

Having reviewed the evidence submitted at arbitration, the Commission finds the
evidence supports the fact that Petitioner is entitled to temporary total disability benefits from
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March 15, 2012 through March 20, 2013. Upon reviewing the evidence in the record the
Commission finds that there is clear evidence that Petitioner was not complying with the
treatment plan set forth by Dr. Femnandez: She voluntarily removed herself from Respondent’s
employment and she did not look for work on her own. More specifically, on January 8, 2013,
Dr. Fernandez indicated that he would see Petitioner again ini four weeks and at that timehe
would lkely reledse Petitioner to full duty work. On February 20, 2013, Petitioner was
discharged from physical therapy due to poor attendance and a complete iapse in attenddnce
from mid November to mid December, On March 19, 2013, Dr. Femandez sent a note indicating
that Petitioner has missed her last appointment and indicating that she should set 2 new
appointment; Op the June 25, 2013, Petitioner was asked on the patient form approximately
when last she visited Dr. Fernandez’s office and Pefitioner indicated it was February 1, 2013,
The medical bill and records indicates. that Petitioner’s last visit was on January 8, 2013.
Additionally, Petitioner told Dr. Fernandez that she left her employer’s employment on her own
on March 20, 2013. When Petitioner asked about leaving work on/around March of 2013, she
said her impression was that she did not have any more work. During this time period, Petitioner
tiad a restriction of limited force less than 5-10 pounds, limit repetitive use/use of tools to less
than 5-10 pounds for her right hand. When Petitioner was asked if she looked for work on her
own she said she had looked for work, but she has not kept a list/log of the jobs she applied for.
Whei asked specifically at the August 11, 2015 arbitration hearing when she last looked for
work, Petitioner testified she could not recall the last time that she applicd fora job, but it was
over a year ago. Based on the above, the Commission finds that Petitioner failed to prove she
was entitled to temporary fotal disability benefits after March 20, 2013.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay to
the: Petitioner the sum of $220.00 per week for a'period of 52.6/7 weeks, that being the period of
temporary total incapacity for work under §8(b), and that as provided in § 19(b) of the Act, this
award in no instance shall be 4 bar to a further hearing and determination of'a further amount of
temparary total compensation or of coinpensation for permanent disability, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall authorize,
approve and pay for the MR arthrogram as ordered by Dr. Fernandez and any such related
medical care under §8(a) and §8.2 of the Act.

IT'IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to-the Circuit Court has éxpired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial
proceedings, if such a written request has been filed. ' '

[T [S FURTHER ORDERED BY "THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.
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No bond is due and owing, The party commencing the proceedings for review in the
Circuit Court shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit

Cort.
DATED: OCT 6 - 2016 //
MB/jm ﬁBilj

0:9/22/16

David L. Gore

-Stephen Mathis
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| ILLINOIS. WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION . gdex.com
‘ NOTICE OF 18(b) ARBITRATOR DECISION

LOPEZ, MARICRUZ  Case# 12WC011027
Employee/Pefitioner '

16IWCC064%7

DEBBIES CUSTOMIZED STAFFING ET AL

Employer/Respondent’

On 10/19/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the lllinois Workers' Compensation Comumnission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Comunission reviews this-award, interest of 0.08% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the
date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in ¢ither no change or a decrease in this award, interest shail

not accrue.,

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

0222 GOLDBERG WEISMAN & CAIRO
RAUL RODRIGUEZ

ONE E WACKER BR 38TH FL
CHICAGD, IL 606874

1739 STONE & JOHNSON CHARTERED'
BRIAN KAPLAN

111 W WASHINGTON ST SUITE 1800
CHICAGO, IL'60602
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STATE OF ILLINOIS 4 [ injured Workers” Benefit Fund {§4(d))
S8, || Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))
COUNTY OF Cogk ) [ ] Second tnjury Fund (§8(e)18)
@ None of the above

ILLINGIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b)
Maricruz Lopez Case # 12 WC 11027
Employee/Petitioner
v. Consolidated cases:
Debbies Customized Staffing et al
Emplover/Respandent )

An Applicition for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Heuring was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Bocanegra, Arbitrator of the Commission, inthe city of
Chicago, on August 11, 2015, After reviewing all of the evideuce presented, the Arbifrator heréby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.
"DISPUTED ISSUES
A. [ ] 'Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workerd' Compensation.or Occupationat
Diseases Act? .
. 1 was there an employee-employer relationship?
~, [] Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
. [] What was the date of the accident?
. ] was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

. [ ] What were Petitioner's earnings?
4. ] What way Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?
D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time-of the accident?

[ Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary?  Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
K. ﬁ] Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

B

C

D

E

F. @ Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
G

H

I

J

| @ What temporary benefits are in dispute?’

11ep [} Maintenance X TID
M. D Should penalticsor fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. DX] Is Respondent due any credit?

0. [_]Other
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BACKGROUND

Maricruz Lopez (“Petitioner™) and Debbie’s Customized Staffing (“Respondent™ proceeded to
arbitration on 8/11/15 on ail disputed issues in case number 12 WC 11027 for which Petitioner alleged a
3/14/12 accident arising out of and i the course of her employment with Respondent. At issue were the
following: causal connection, ternporary total disability benefits and future medical under Section 8(a). Axl,
Ax2,

FINDINGS OF FACT

On direct examination, Maricruz Lopez (“Petitioner”) testified, via Spanish translator/interpreter Paul
Krompier, that she sustained an undisputed work accident to her ri ght hand on 3/14/12 during the course of her
employment with Debbie’s Customized Staffing (“Respondent), a temporary work office that loaned her to
Gold Eagle Company (“Borrowing Employer”), Axl, On said date of accident, Petitioner was a 34 year-old
machine operator for the Borrowing Employer.

According to Petitioner’s testimony; a plastic molding machine caught her right wrist and then pressed
on the radial portion of her wrist, just below the thumb. The machine also applied pressure to the ulnar side of
the wrist. Petitionier said she was stuck like this in the machine for approximately 20 minutes. A co-worker
released her from the machine and Petitioner reported the accident to Martha Hinojosa.

‘On the same date of the acéident, She then sought medical attention at Clearing Clinic on the date of
accident. Clearing Clinic documented a crushing type injury to both the right hand and wrist after 4 machine
caught her hand. ‘Physical exam showed gross effusion of the right second digit, contusion over the second
MCP joint, deformity and éffusion of the distal radius, bony tendemess over distal radius and overlying.
deformity over the second metacarpal and phalanges. There was no snuff box tenderness, She was diagnosed
with right hand and wrist contusion, Petitioner was given restrictions of no use of the right hand. Respondent
was unable to accommodate this restriction. Clearing Clinic continued these restrictions thra March. On
3/23/12, Petitioner followed up with Clearing Clinic who noted that Petitioner continued fo complain of pain
and tinpling in the fght hand made worse with movement.. She also noted tingling in the fingers and the palin,
Exam noted pain on the right dorsolateral wrist and throughout the second finger
Petitioner’s unrebutted testimony was that at some point in the weeks following the accident, Petitioner had a
conversation with the Borrowing Employer and Responident whére Petitioner camie away with the impression
she was no longer employed. '

~ On 6/5/12, Petitioner sought medical treatment with Dr. Jobn Fernandez, a hand specialist at Midwest
Orthopedics at Rush. Px2a. the doctor noted Petitioner’s work accident and weatment history, He noted pain
along the dorsoradial wrist, numbrness and tingling in the index and middle fingers, worse at night, and some
dorsal greater than volar wrist complaints. Neurologic testing showed irritability of the median nerve with
positive Tinel’s, positive Phalen’s and positive median nerve compression. Dr. Fernandez diagnosed right wrist
dorsoradial sensory neuritis, carpal tunnel syndrome and forearm intersection-syndrome. He ordered an EMG,
MRI and issued medications and light duty work restrictions, On 7/13/ 12, MRIof the right wrist was
inremarkable. Px2a:65. EMG of the tight arm confirmed the diagnosis of right carpel tannel and also
diagnosed right cubital tunnel. Id. at 63,

On 8/16/12, Dr. Fernandez administered & right wrist carpal funnel inj gction, Id. at 19. Petitioner’s
follow up form noted symptoms in the first three digits and along both sides of the wrist. Id. at 21. The doctor
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Dr. Vender subsequently testified via evidence deposition on 1 1/7/14; Rx1. Dr. Vender testified to
dingnosing Petitioner with post carpel tunnel release, extensor carpi ulnaris tendonitis and flexor stenosing
tenosynovitis of the right middle and ring fingers.. He was not certain of the latter two diagnoses, stating: “The
fess certain diagnoses related to flexor stenosing tenosynovitis of the right ring and middle finger and also the
possibility of extensor carpi ulnaris tendonitis.” He opined that these were not diagnosed at anytime prior and
appeared to have developed separate and after Petitioner’s initial injury. He did not find causal connection
between the two new possible diagnoses and the original work accident. Dr. Vender believed Petitioner was at
maximum medical improvement and that further treatment was both unnecessary and unrelated.

On 3/20/15, Dr. Fernandez testified regarding his ‘medical bpinions and conclusions related to
Petitioner’s injuries via evidence deposition. Px3. He noted that at her initial visit with him there was pain to
palpation along the inner section of the forearm. He noted that in August 2012 she continued to have pains
along the wrist dorsally and ulnarly without instability. He testified that her pain diagram was consistent with
his clinical findings. When Petitioner followed up with the doctor in June 2013, he noted she was having loss
of motion and pain along the ulnar aspect of the wrist with rotation, pronation and supination. Tlie doctor
opined that a causel relationship existed between the work accident and the ulnar-sided wrist complaints. He
explained that if thers appeared to be a delay in symptom reporting, although he stated she iminediately
complained of wrist pain consistent with her current diagnosis, then, it may be from splinting and restrictions.
On cross, he acknowledged he had not seen Petitioner for some time. He did not believe:she exhibited pain
behaviors but rather myofascial pain. He also testified that without the MRI arthrogram he previously
recommended, Dr. Fernandez was unable to articulate a working diagnosis.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

ISSUE (F)  Is Petitionér's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

The Arbitrator adopts and incorporates the findings of fact as though fully set forth herein. After careful
review of the available medical evidenice as well as Pétitioner’s credible and unrebutted testimony, the:
Arbitrator concludes that Petitioner’s.current condition of ill-being is casually related to her undisputed work
accident, including her conditions of right wrist carpal tunnel syndrome, right ulnar wrist pain and her
asymptomatic right cubital tunmel syndrome. In so finding, the Arbitrator relies on the testimoity of Petitioner
and on the treating records and opinions of Dr. Fernandez over those of Dr. Vender for the réasons that follow,

As an initial matter, the Arbitrator notes that it does not appear from the record there is any genuine.
dispute that Petitioner’s right carpal tunnel syndrome and related care:is causally related based upon the:
opinions of both Drs. Femnandez and Vender stating as much. Axl. Nevertheless, the Arbitrator formally
concludes the carpal tunnel syndrome to be causally related based on those opinions. The primary dispute on.
this issue centers on Petitionier’s right ulnar-sided wrist complaints.

In reviewing the medical record, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner’s mechanism of injury is consistent
with Dr. Fernandez’s diagnosis of right ulnar-sided wrist complaints, Initial treatment records document that
Pefitioner’s right hand and wrist became stuck in a machine after the machine pulled her arm into it. PxL.
Clearing Clinic did not differentiate between the ulnar or fadial side-of the wrist in terms of what was caught or
crushied in the machine, The Clinic did not do so either with the hand. Dr. Fernandez found this mechanism of
injury the type of which could cause damage to structures in and around the wrist and hand. Petitioner’s trial
testimony was also consistent in stating that both the ulnar and radial sides of her wrist became trapped or
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ISSUE (L)  What temporary bentfits are in dispute?

The. Arbitrator adopts the findings of fact and conclusions of law as though fully set forth herein.
Having found in favor of Petitioner on the issues of causation and prospective medical, the Arbifrator finds and
concludes that Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being has not yet stabilized or otherwise reached a state of
permanency and that remains temporarily and totally disabled per the medical opinions of Dr: Fernandez.
Freeman United Coal Mining Co. v. Indus. Comm m, 318 L App.3d 170, 175-176, 741 N.E.2d 1144, 1148-1149
(Sth Dist. 2000).

The medical evidence at hearing established that Petitioner was on light duty from the date of the
accident until her final visit with Dr. Fernandez on 6/25/13. At her last visit, she remained on light duty of a 5-.
10 pound lifting restriction pending additional treatment and evaluation. Dr. F ernandez has not placed
Petitioner at maximurn medical improvement or otlierwise opiried that her condition has stahilized, At Dr.
Femnandez’s evidence deposition in March 2015, he did not indicate any change from his last work restriction
that last time heé saw Petitioner, At hearing, Respondent did not present evidence thatit offered light duty to
Petitioner and Petitioner’s unrebutted testimony at trial was that she was not offered light duty or an epportunity
to return to work.

Therefore, Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $220/week for 177-6/7"

weeks, commencing March 12, 2012 through August 11, 2015, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.
Respondent is entitled to a credit in the amount of $15,840.00 for any and all TTD benefits paid to date. AxlI.

_ 10495
ARBITRATOR SIGNATURE. DATE
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STATE OF ILLINOIS 2 ' D Injured Workers” Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)S8. [ 7] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))

COUNTY OF Jefferson ) [ 1 Second Injury Fund (§8(<)18)

gfr&me of the above
ILLINOIS WORKERS®' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

Creed Bevolo Case # 15 WC 02506

Employes/Petitioner

v, Consolidited cases: N/A

Continental General Tire

Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim-was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party, The matter was:heard by the Honorable Nancy Lindsay, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of

Mt. Vernon, on August 7, 2015, After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this doctiment.

DISPUTED ISSUES.
A. D:'Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Tilinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
_ Diseases Act?
Was thére an employee-employer relationship?
Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
What was the daté-of the accident?
Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?
Is Petitionet's current condition of’ ]l-being causally related to the injury?
What were Petitioner's earnings?
What was Pétitioner's age at the time of the accident?
‘What was Pétitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?
‘Were the miedical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
K. [ ] What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[] TPD [] Maintenarice ]TID
L. [X] What s the nature and extent of the tnjury?
M. [_] Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. [ ]1s Respondent due atiy credit?
0. X Other Mileage/Travel Expense

1
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On October 20, 2014, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the-Act.

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist betweent Petitioner and Respondent,

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being & causally related to the accident.

_ Inthe year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $52,599.04; the average weekly wage was $1,011.52.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 29 years of age, single with 1-dependent child.

Petitioner has received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent /tas paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $96.34 for TTD, $» for TPD, $- for maintenance, and $9,703.65 for
PPD payments, for a total credit of $9,198.99,

Respondent is entitléd to a credit of $0 under Section 8(j) of the Act.
ORDER.
= Respondent shall pay Petitioner Permanent Partial Disability benefits in the amount 0f $606.91 a week
for 50.6 weeks as Petitioner suffered 10.12% loss of use of the man as a whole under §8(d)2.

e Petitioner’s request for travel expenses is allowed and Petitioner shall be reimbursed for mileage
gxpenses at the current IRS mileage reimbursement rate of 57.5 cents per mile for a total of 1060 miles
(5 round trips to Dr. Paletta) for a total 0f $609.5C.

» Respondent shall pay Petitioner compensation that has acerued between October 20, 2014 and Auvgust 7,
2015 and shall pay the remainder of the award, if any, in weekly installments. ~

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth.on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall dcerue frorn the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

v SN September 21, 2015
Sggnatare_af!\rbiﬁmor Dite ,

ICAbDee 9.2 ocT ~ 22015
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CREED BEVOLO VS, CONTINENTAL GENERAL TIRE, 15 WC 0250

findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law

Petitioner alleges an injury to the left shoulder as a result of a traumatic injury while in the
employment of Respondent. The disputed issues are nature and extent and travel expense, The.only
witnéss was Petitioner, Respondenttendered no exhibits.

The Arbitrator Finds:

On October 20, 2014, Petitioner was employed asa passenger tire cure set-up technician for the
Respondent, Atthattime he was using a torque wrench to adjust a press when he felt o pop anda
burning sensation in his left shaulder. He initially sought treatment with the company physician. - Those
records wers not submitted into evidence. Pefitioner came under the care of Dr. George Paletta:
heginning on December 3, 2014, Petitioner testified that this was on referral from the plant physician
and he admitted that following the first visit he continued to treat voluntarily with Dr. Paletta,

On Januaw 20, 2015, Petitioner underwent a-diagnostic arthrosccpy of the left shoulder with
debridement of the subacramial bursa, subacromial space, and debridement ‘of a partial thickness
bursal-sided rotator cuff tear, This was performed by Dr. Paletta. The post-operative diagnosis was feft
shoulder. pain, left shoulder subacromial bursitis, and a partial thickness rotator cuff tear, Surgery
consisted of an arthroscopy with extensive debridement of the subacromial bursa and: subacromial
space afong with debridement of the partlai thickness rotator cuff tear,

Petitioner followed-up post-operatively with Dr. Paletta on january 28, 2015, March 4, 2015,
and April 22, 2015. Dr. Paletta nated on April 22, 2015, that Petitioner was doing much better although
he had minimal discomfort at the extreme forward flexion and extreme external rotation with the:arm
at the side. Petitioner had completed physical therapy and requested & release to return to. full duty.
There was no tenderness in-the AC joint and no pain on cross body. abduction testing. Petitionet had
normal rotator cuff strength.. The consensus was that Petitioner was doing well and had only-mirimal
residual subjective. symptoms with minimal rotational motion loss. Dr, Paletta felt that Petitioner had
excellent strength and recommended a return to full duty work as tolerated without restrictions ar
fimitations. It was recommended that Petitioner’ undergo @ short course of prescription anti-
inflammatories, and then once that was concluded, over-the-caunter anti-inflammatories could be used
as needed. Petitioner was placed at maximum medical improvement and told to returnas needed.

At trial Petitioner testified that he has returned to his regular job for Respcndent making the
samie rate of pay as before and-he has not missed any time from work as a result of the: shoulder injury.
He-did complain of a popping and grinding sensation occasionally when He is operating a fork truck'and
turning the steering wheel.. He also experiences some symptoms when working on certain machines at
shoutder height or above and away from his body. Petitioner admitted that his job rotated and he was

1
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not working on those machines every day. Petitioner aiso testified that he has some reduced range of
motion with his arms extended stralght above his head and indicated that he would have some difficulty
if he were to attempt to pitch a baseball with his left arm, Petitioner testified that he has pain when
working with. anythmg heavy with his arm out away from his body or across his body particularly at or
above shoulder/chest level. He demonistrated this to the Arbitrator. He described that this causes him
to have some difficulty in.doing his job as a "curing set up technician” because changing out parts on
machines requires him to §ift parts with his arms extended and in confi ned. spaces. Sometimes his Job
requires him to operate a truck lift. Petitioner stated he was ambidextrous, but wrote right-handed.
Petitioner stated he occasionally had some problems sleeping, but had no complaints that this injury
had impeded or-affected any outside activities. He also stated he occasionally uses over-the-counter
pain relievers.

Petitioner testified that on six occasions he traveled 212 milesto Dr. Paletta’s office from his homie in
luka, Ulinois. Petitioner did testify that his home was 35.6 miles away from the Respondent’s location in
Mt Vernan, Hlidois.

Petitioner admitted that he agreed to treat with Dr. Paletta and that it was his choice to continue to
treat with Dr. Paletta after the initial evaluation.. Petitioner stated that while treatmg with Dr. Paletta he
had retained legal counsel and had made no demands for travel expense prior to the date of trial.
petitioner further testifiad that he was familiar with the fact that there were hospitals in the Mt. Vernon
area where shoulder surgeries were performed and that e was comfortable using the internet to
research items such as medical treatment and where it would be available;

The Arbitrator Concludes:

lssue k:  What is the nature and extent of the injury?

Pursuant to §8.1b (b) the arbitrator bases the determination of permanent partial disability on
the following factorst ‘ '

i} No AMA rating was submitted by Petitioner or Respondent. The Arbitrator gives no
weight to this factor.
i) The occupation of the injured employee. Petitioner is a passenger tire cure set-up

technician. He described his job as replacing parts on passenger tire building machires
within the plant and also occasionally dleaning conveyor belts of tires: This was the
same job he was doing priorto.the injury. Petitioner credibly explained that he works on
different machines, some of which create more symptoms for him than athers. While
Petitioner's Injury was to his non-dominant-arm, his job does require the use of both
arms. The Arbitrator gives some w_eig.ht to this factor.
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ifi) The age of employee at the time of the injury was 29, GivenPetitioners young age, the
Arbitrator reasonably infers that Petitioner will have to live and work with the effects of
his injury longer than a much older worker, Tije Arbitrator gives weight to this factor

iv} ‘The employee’s future-earnings capacity is the same as it was priar to the injury.
Petitianer stated that he had returned to work makmg the same rate of pay as prior to
the injury and has physical restrictions or limitations. The Arbitrator gives weight to this
factor.

v} Evidence of Disability as corroborated by the treating medical records. Petitioner wius
diagnosed with a partial rotator cuff tear and ynderwent surgery that consisted of
significant debridement of the tear arid of the bursa. The last note of Dr. Pal etta indicates a
foss of internal and external range of motion on the left compared to the right. Petitioner’s
demonstration-6f work activities and motions that affect his level of pain were ¢onsistent
with the range of motion issues noted by Dr. Paletta. Dr. Paletta expected him to need
anti-inflammatory medication for a couple of weeks after his release. Petitioner’s
complainits at trial with reduced range 6f motion aret consistent with the last reports of
Dr. Paletta indicating a reduced range of motioi at the ends of some planes. Petitioner
made no complaints of any loss of strength and that is also'consistent with the reports
of Dr. Paletta. The Arbitrator gives weight to this-factor.

Based upon the foregoing factors, the Arbitrator awards Petitioner 10.12% loss of use of the body as a
whole under §8(d)2.

issue O Travel expense - Mileage.

Petitioner is awarded reimbursemient for his mileage to and from his home to the office of Dr.
Paletta. Petitioner testified that on six pccasions he traveled 212 miles 10 Dr. Paletta’s office from his
hame in fuka; Hinois.

While the records of the Respondent’s on-site physician were not put into evidence it is credible
that Petitioner was referred to Dr. Paletta by that physician. The Petitioner was paid for his first visit to
Dr. Paletta, but was not paid thereafter.

Petitioner admitted that he agreed to treat with Dr. Paletta and that i was his choice to
continue to treat with Dr, Paletta after the initial evaluation. Petitioner: stated that while treating with
Dr Paletta he had retained legal counsel and had made na demands for travel expense prior to the date
of trial. Petitioner further testified that he was famitiar with the fact that there were hospitals in the Mt.
Vernan area where shouldér surgeries were performed and that he was comfortable using the internet
to research items such-as medical treatment and where it would be available.

Respondent deemed it reasonable to send Petitioner to Dr. Paletta in tbe-ﬁrst.piace,_.rather'than
sanding Petitioner to sumeone closer. Respondent has also agreed to pay all of Petitioner's medicat bills
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and by doing so has inherently agreed that the services rendered by Dr. Paletta were reasonable and
‘necessary. In awarding mileage, the issue is one of reasonableness. In this instance the Arbitrator finds it
appropriate to award the mileage for the. additional visits with Dr. Paletta. In reachmg this decision the
Arbitrator refies heavily on Dr. Paletta’s office note of December 3, 2014 in which he set forth. a
treatment plan for Petitionar, including a follow-up visit with the doctor in four weeks. This was not an
isolated examination. There fs no evidence in the record indicating Petitioner was advised: by
Respondent or Dr. Paletta regarding an election to treat. and/or that mileage would be an issue. From
Petitioner’s perspective he was being guided by Respendent in the medical management of his case and
his employer was telling him where to go for treatment.

While Respondent has cited the recent decision of Lozano vs. Coolersmart, 15 1WCC 0007, 12
WC.31176 .{2015) In'support of its comention that mileage should not be awarded, the Arbitrator notes
that just the opposite result was reached in the Wayne Bruce'v. Black Beauty Coal Co., 2007 IWCC 1123

ant Petitioner was awarded his mileage.

**##****’##****#*#i#*****#{r#*##**m_*&#*#*t#*#**#**:i#****###**#**i#*?#t*t*#i##*_&#
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (né chariges) D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund-{§4_{d}%
- ) SS. Affirm with changes [ Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(z)
COUNTY OF COOK y. [ ] Reverse [ ] second Injury Fund (§8(e318)
[ ]proiaenl denied
D Modify None of the above
BEFORE TH_E ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ANTHONY BULVAN,
Petitioner,
VS, NO: 12 WC 28080
e o, 161WCCO665
Respondent,

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice. given
to. all parties, .the Commission, after considering the issue of “Petition to Rescind Settlement
Agreement; and aftachments™ and being advised of the facts atid law, denies Respondent’s
Petition to Rescind Settlement Agreement.

On July 28, 2015, a settlement contract was approved by Arbitrator Thompson-Smith.
On August 13,.2015, Respondent filed a Petition to Rescind Settlement alleging that a condition
precedent of the settlement was that Petitioner execute a Confidential Settlement Agreement and
General Release of Employment, but that Petitioner failed to do so. As such, Respondent argues
that the settlement does not accurately reflect the terms and conditions of the negotiated
disposition between the parties.

Aceording to Respondent’s brief, a hearing was held before Arbitrator Thomipson-Smith
on September 30, 2015, but the:Arbitrator declined to rule on the petition based on junsdicﬁonal-
gmurids The Commmon notes thit no dociment or order reflecting the Arbitrator’s decision is
in-the Commission file. On Ottober 19; 2015, Respondent filed a Petition for Review.

Respondent asks that the settlement agreement be rescinded based on an additional
document or agreement that is not' in. evidence. Respondent does not ¢ite any Commission
precedent or case law that weuld allow it to rescind a contract under these circumstances, Tt is
oot alleging that there was a clerical or typegraphical error. Nor is Respondent arguing that there
‘was a mutual mistake. Rather, Respondent argues that the contract, which it prepared, is
incompléte and missing some terms. However, this is due to Respondent’s choice.to write the
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contract without referencing this other side agreement and remaining silent about that issue. The
Comrmssmn has discretion over the approval of settlement agreements and this presumes that all
of the terms of the settlement are included in the contract. Whether it is appropriate for a
respondent to include such ancillary agreements in a workers’ compensation settlement doés not
need to be decided here. However, we find that it is inappropriate for Respondent to now claim
that it really didn’t agree to what it agreed to, as evidenced by the contract, because of terms and
conditions that it chose not to include in the contract..

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent’s Petition to
Rescind Settlement Agreement is bereby denied.

Band for the removal of this causé to-the Circuit Court by Rcspgﬁdent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $44,800,00. The party commencin thc proceedings fer review in the Circuit Court

shall file with the Commission a Notice of In F1 7(6&’ 1rcu’ﬁ ourt
DATED: OCT 2 0 2016

hZes I DeVr:endt
SE/

O 9/13/16 Ruth W. Whlte_ ‘
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Tehua D, Luskin o




